UiO **Context** Det juridiske fakultet

Towards an effective global plastics treaty

A legal analysis of treaty design elements to promote participation and effectiveness

Kandidatnummer: 218 Leveringsfrist: 1. juni, 2023 Antall ord: 39 636



Innholdsfortegnelse

| ABBREVIATIONS | | | | | |
|---------------|---|--|-------------|--|--|
| 1 | INTR | ODUCTION | 2 | | |
| 1.1 | Plastic pollution – scientific, legal and political status | | | | |
| 1.2 | The objective and research question5 | | | | |
| 1.3 | Scope and limitations | | | | |
| 1.4 | Methodology | | | | |
| 1.5 | Outline9 | | | | |
| 2 | CON | ГЕХТ | | | |
| 2.1 | Set de | Set design principles vs. tailored treaties | | | |
| | 2.1.1 | Design principles for managing local common pool resources applied | d on global | | |
| | | plastic pollution | 11 | | |
| | 2.1.2 | Institutional diagnosis | | | |
| 2.2 | A comparative perspective on the issue of plastic pollution | | | | |
| | 2.2.1 | Mercury pollution and the Minamata Convention on Mercury | | | |
| | 2.2.2 | Climate change and the Paris Agreement | | | |
| | 2.2.3 | Depletion of the ozone layer and the Montreal Protocol | | | |
| | 2.2.4 | Persistent organic pollutants and the Stockholm Convention | | | |
| | 2.2.5 | Marine pollution from ships and MARPOL | | | |
| 2.3 | Outlin | e of the key elements of plastic pollution | | | |
| 3 | THE | CURRENT REGULATION | | | |
| 3.1 | Quest | ions and method | | | |
| 3.2 | Regulation of plastic pollution in international law | | | | |
| | 3.2.1 | Introduction | | | |
| | 3.2.2 | Global instruments | | | |
| | 3.2.3 | Customary law | | | |
| | 3.2.4 | General principles of international environmental law | 59 | | |
| | 3.2.5 | Voluntary international agreements and standards | 61 | | |
| | 3.2.6 | Regional agreements | | | |
| 3.3 | Conclusion | | | | |
| 4 | ARCI | HITECTURE AND DESIGN ELEMENTS | | | |
| 4.1 | Introduction | | | | |
| 4.2 | Exploring the UNEA mandate | | | | |

| | 4.2.1 | Architecture and design | | |
|-----|--|--|----|--|
| | 4.2.2 | Objective of the treaty | 72 | |
| | 4.2.3 | National action plans | 74 | |
| | 4.2.4 | Principles | 77 | |
| | 4.2.5 | Life cycle approach | | |
| 4.3 | Free riding and participation incentives | | | |
| | 4.3.1 | Deep and narrow vs. shallow and broad treaties | | |
| | 4.3.2 | Free-riding as a challenge for the plastics treaty | | |
| | 4.3.3 | Participation incentives | | |
| 4.4 | Current status of the plastics treaty | | | |
| 5 | CON | CLUSION | | |
| 6 | SOUF | RCES AND LITERATURE | | |
| 6.1 | Laws, | treaties, agreements, resolutions etc | | |
| 6.2 | Court | Court decisions, opinions etc | | |
| 6.3 | Literat | Literature | | |

Abbreviations

| CBD | Convention of Biological Diversity |
|------------|---|
| CBDR | Common but Differentiated Responsibilities |
| СОР | Conference of the Parties |
| COSIS | Commission of Small Island States on Climate Change and International |
| | Law |
| CPR | Common pool resource |
| EU | European Union |
| FOA | Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations |
| GEF | Global Environmental Fund |
| GESAMP | The Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Environ- |
| | mental Protection |
| GPA | The Global Programme of Action for the Protection of the Marine Envi- |
| | ronment from Land-based Activities |
| ICJ | International Court of Justice |
| IMO | International Maritime Organisation |
| INC | Intergovernmental Negotiations Committee |
| IPCC | Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change |
| ITLOS | International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea |
| MARPOL | International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships |
| NAP | National action plan |
| NDC | Nationally determined contribution |
| NOAA | National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration |
| OECD | Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development |
| UN | United Nations |
| UNCLOS | United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea |
| UNEA | United Nations Environmental Assembly |
| UNEP | United Nations Environmental Programme |
| UNESCO-IOC | United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization-Inter- |
| | governmental Oceanographic Commission |
| UNFCCC | United National Framework Convention on Climate Change |
| VCLT | 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties |

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Plastic pollution – scientific, legal and political status

Plastic pollution is one of the greatest environmental challenges of our time. Much like anthropogenic emissions of greenhouse gasses have skyrocketed since humans discovered how to optimize and streamline our industrial processes, plastic pollution has been on the rise ever since humans started producing this diverse and useful material on a large scale in the 1950s.¹ Since then, annual production of plastics increased nearly 230-fold to 460 tonnes in 2019.² The reason behind this massive growth in production and consumption is that plastics are cheap to produce and have a wide range of desirable qualities, making it useful for the creation of household items, building materials, healthcare equipment, electronics, and many other products. Humans have in the last few decades become increasingly dependent on plastic polymers³, and going one day, or even one hour without utilizing an item that is wholly or partially made of plastics seems virtually impossible. Out of the sixteen items currently on my desk, only three of them do not contain any kind of plastic polymer. The qualities of plastics make it a formidable material to use in food preservation, that in turn may minimize food waste and the light weight of plastic packaging saves energy in transportation. However, the various qualities of plastics that have made it so beneficial for humans have also contributed to creating a major pollution crisis.

Plastics make up over three quarters of total quantities of marine debris.⁴ It is estimated that up to 23 million tonnes of plastic leaks into waterways and oceans annually.⁵ Especially wasteful is the production of plastic items that are made to be discarded only after a single use, e.g., packaging, single use cutlery, straws and other items. Over the last couple of decades, studies have shown that plastics are found in every environment on earth, including ones that we have until recently considered largely untouched by impacts of human activity, such

¹ Gayer et al. (2017)

² Ritchie and Roser (2018)

³ «Plastic forms a large part of the category of materials called polymers, or long-chain molecules, which includes plastics, textiles, adhesives, explosives and rubbers. (...) Most of the commercial polymers are synthetically produced from ethylene and propylene gas, which are both product streams of the refining process of fossil fuels such as crude oil, natural gas or coal in the petrochemical industry», Sadan and De Kock (2020) p. 10 All plastics are thus polymers, but not all polymers are plastics.

⁴ Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2016) p. 11

⁵ UNEP (2016-b) p. 6

as Antarctica.⁶ Plastic litter finds its way into food chains, and a total of 557 species are observed with entanglement in, and/or ingestion of marine plastic debris.⁷ Plastics have also been found in a variety of food items, water and soil.⁸ Recently, scientist found plastics in human breast milk, placentas, and blood stream.⁹ The accumulation of plastic pollution in the environment happens because plastics do not easily biodegrade, instead they gradually break down into smaller pieces, creating micro- and nano-plastics.¹⁰

Plastic pollution causes deaths of marine animals through entanglement and may impact their health as well as our own in ways we are still unaware of. Plastic poses risks to human health both through exposure to plastic particles, as well as through the added chemicals.¹¹ Micro-plastics and nano-plastics are a special challenge as they break down to particles small enough to enter food chains.¹² Because plastics are not biodegradable, accumulation of plastic waste in foods chains and the environment is a real concern. Further, plastic pollution causes economic loss in areas where the economy is dependent on tourism by being a visible polluter on beaches.¹³ It can also cause harm to infrastructure. In 2015 in Ghana, plastic waste blocked drains and caused flooding that tragically resulted in approximately 150 human deaths.¹⁴

Plastic pollution is a complex environmental challenge for several reasons. Firstly, it is a transboundary issue at core. One of the reasons being that plastic products, as well as plastic waste, is being traded across state boundaries all across the world. But even if the trade in plastics would stop this second, plastic pollution would still be transboundary. This is rooted in the basic natural processes and geographic features like waterways flowing through several countries, as well as ocean currents and wind transporting matter.¹⁵ When a country produces

⁶ Aves et al. (2022)

⁷ Kuhn et al., (2015)

⁸ Sewwandi et al. (2023)

⁹ Regusa et al. (2022), Regusa et al. (2021) and Leslie et al. (2022)

¹⁰ «Plastics may oxidize when exposed to UVB radiation, but such a process can take decades to centuries in natural soils. This process takes even longer in the marine environment, and may be interrupted by the fact that plastics get ingested or that bacteria, algae and other organisms or substances, making the surface area reachable to the UVB radiation smaller.» (Worm (2017))

¹¹ Azoulay et al. (2019) p. 1

¹² Cheng et al. (2023)

¹³ Deloitte (2019) p. 8

¹⁴ Hinshaw (2015)

¹⁵ UNEP (2021) p. 18

and consumes plastics within its territory that end up in the waterways and find their way either to other countries territory or the ocean, it creates a transnational externality.¹⁶ While the polluting country will surely be harmed by the pollution itself, a substantial part of the pollution will travel outside its borders and become a problem for another nation. The same is true for microplastics that are shown to travel great distances.¹⁷ If consumers in one country use products that release microplastics into the sewage, without filtering them out before they find their way into the environment, at least a partial transnational externality will likely occur. A complicating factor is that plastic pollution travels not only to other countries than where it is produced or consumed, it also affects areas of the ocean beyond national jurisdiction.

Further, because of the great diversity of plastic products and their utilization areas, plastics enter the environment through many different routes, making it crucial to apply a diverse set of control measures to tackle the issue. It is for instance important to acknowledge that plastic pollution travelling across the oceans affects both in-land and marine environment, but the sources of pollution are mainly land-based.¹⁸ As chapter 3 of this thesis will show, there is only one global instrument that addresses pollution from land-based sources.

A report from 2020 titled "Breaking the Plastic Wave" estimates that if no meaningful action is taken, the annual flow of plastics into the ocean will triple by 2040 to 29 million metric tons per year, equivalent to 50kg of plastics per metre of coastline worldwide.¹⁹ As a consequence of this, as well as the aforementioned risks associated with widespread plastic pollution, marine plastic debris, including microplastics, have been emphasized to be amongst issues of global importance by the United Nations Environmental Assembly (UNEA). The need for urgent action has been highlighted in several UNEA resolutions since its first session in 2014.²⁰ However, as with many other issues that call for systematic change and financial resources, while everyone agrees that we need to minimize plastic pollution, it is difficult to agree upon solutions. Currently, plastic regulation is fragmented on most levels. There is an array of

¹⁶ UNEP (2021) p. 29 and Meijer et al. (2021)

¹⁷ Fazey et al. (2016)

¹⁸ UNEP (2021) p. 15

¹⁹ PEW Charitable Trusts and SystemIQ (2020) p. 11

²⁰ See UNEA resolutions on marine plastic litter and microplastics, among others UNEP (2014-a), UNEP (2016a) and UNEP (2017) as well as UNEP (2019-a) on environmentally sound management of waste

measures being implemented on both national and regional bases, and several global agreements touch upon plastics, with a few having direct obligations towards plastic pollution as well (see chapter 3). The current governance model is however not able to sufficiently manage this issue.²¹ Dealing with an externality that impacts all of the world's countries is certainly not an easy task. There is now momentum in the international community to try to manage this pollution crisis. However, the way in which plastic pollution should be controlled is a highly contested matter.

1.2 The objective and research question

This thesis is mainly concerned with the general lessons that the international community should consider when seeking to manage plastic pollution on a global scale. The goal is not to produce an outline or a blueprint of how a new plastic management regime should look like. Instead, this thesis seeks to draw from knowledge and experience of other environmental issues that have been addressed on a global level, in order to find useful guidance for managing plastic pollution globally. Looking at the current status of environmental governance on the global scale, it is clear that the global community has not "cracked the code" on effectively managing environmental challenges, including pollution. Many international environmental agreements have not managed to reach wide participation, many struggle with compliance and many do not have the necessary elements to address their objective sufficiently. It is thus valuable to further explore how agreements addressing environmental challenges, especially the ones with a global dimension, should be structured and designed.

The main research question of this thesis is the following: What are the necessary legal design elements of a new plastics treaty that promote both participation and effectiveness?

The objective of this thesis is thus finding elements within the new treaty that will get as many states as possible to join the treaty, without sacrificing its effectiveness. In this thesis special attention will be given to the issue of participation – whether wide participation in the new treaty is needed, whether it is possible to gain wide participation and at the same time implement stringent control measures, in addition to the concrete design elements within the treaty that may encourage states to join the treaty (see chapter 4). To be able to address these

²¹ UNEP (2021) p. 14

issues, it is necessary to examine the challenge in front of us as well as the context. Plastic pollution has certain elements that are alike other environmental challenges, as well as factors that make it unique. One possible method to map the elements of this specific issue, as used in chapter 2 of this thesis, is exploring the similarities and differences between plastic pollution and other environmental issues, with the respective global agreements to govern them. This will both provide inspiration to management methods and styles possible to implement in the plastics treaty, as well as examples of concrete control measures. In order to provide context and map the efforts the global community has engaged in so far, an overview of how plastic pollution is regulated on the global scale currently will be provided (see chapter 3). Additional to the main research question above, a partial research question will be provided in the beginning of every chapter in order ease the navigation within the thesis.

1.3 Scope and limitations

This thesis is mainly concerned with the global dimension of plastic pollution. When exploring the current management regime in chapter 3, national and regional regulations will not be closely examined, but only briefly referred to. This is because the primary object of interest in this thesis is the issue on the global scale and addressing the inner workings of international environmental law. As will be shown later in the thesis however, the regional dimension of plastic pollution may be important to address and utilize as well.

Further, the thesis is concerned with finding guidance towards effective management of the plastic pollution crisis. There is, however, many ways in which one can measure the success of an instrument – whether an international agreement is "successful" or "effective" is not a self-explanatory concept, as there are several definitions of success or effectiveness.²² An international agreement can be regarded as successful if it attracts a desired participation level. Alternatively, it can be considered successful if the parties reach certain targets as set out in the agreement (but perhaps not sufficiently influencing the underlying issue). An alternative definition of success may demand a change in states' behaviour, one that would not have been there if not for the agreement although this is a success criteria which is difficult to measure and evaluate. In his discussion of successful treaties, Barrett (2005-a) points to the Helsinki Protocol as a treaty that likely made little difference, as states did what they would have done

²² Young (1999) p. 3

unilaterally regardless of the treaty.²³ Another measure for success or effectiveness of international agreements, and the one that this thesis recognizes as the ultimate, final goal of an international plastic pollution agreement, is the achievement of its objective that targets the underlying issue. While this thesis focuses on how an international agreement can be structured and designed to ensure its success, both in terms of achieving participation and reaching the objective, it is worth noting that the success of an international agreement does not exclusively depend on the treaty itself. Sometimes, as Barrett (2005-a) illustrates by pointing to the negotiations of the Montreal Protocol, luck, timing as well as other factors may come into play to some degree.²⁴ This being the case, it is even more important to be aware of the pitfalls and possibilities regarding architecture and design of an international agreement. Effectiveness of a treaty may also be affected by the institutional structure around it. While this thesis mainly focuses on the single legally binding agreement to be negotiated between states, a treaty, it is possible that states will choose to establish a whole treaty regime. A regime in this context refers to the treaty, as well as the institutional bodies constructed within and around it, a potential financial structure, such as funds etc., decision-making procedures and other elements. A regime structure may promote effectiveness, although it may come with the implication of a higher degree of bureaucracy. A definition of an international regime as described by Krasner is a «set of implicit or explicit principles, norms, rules, and decision-making procedures around which actors' expectations converge in a given area».²⁵

A state choosing to participate in an international agreement is the first step in contributing to a collective action that the global community has agreed upon as necessary. However, cooperation in the form of participation is not enough – states must also comply with the agreement and its provisions. Compliance and enforcement are difficult issues for global agreements, simply because of how our global society is organised – it consists of sovereign states that cannot be forced into compliance by a higher authority. States can of course be persuaded to act a certain way by other members of the global society, using more or less morally sound measures, depending on their political and financial status in the global society. But there is no higher entity, like a world government, that can enforce behaviour and implement sanc-

²³ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 1.4

²⁴ Before the adaption of the Montreal Protocol, the EC presidency was switched from UK to Belgium, the latter being in favour of stricter controls that likely impacted the success of the protocol.

²⁵ Krasner (1982) p. 186

tions on a state. "Though much energy is expended in negotiating allocations—that is, in dividing up the pie—this aspect of negotiation should not be of prime importance. It is more important that a treaty be able to promote participation, enforce compliance, and stop leakage. Unless a treaty can do these things, there will be no pie for the parties to divide."²⁶ This thesis is thus mainly concerned with participation in the plastics treaty.

1.4 Methodology

The main theme of this thesis is international environmental law. Legal methodology will be used to interpret legal texts such as treaties, which will be explained in broader detail in chapter 3.1.

In order to be able to freely explore the vast material on crafting international environmental agreements, this thesis will not be limited to drawing from literature and perspectives from the field of law only. Ideas and insights by scholars from fields of political science, international relations and economics will be utilized and referenced, simply because crafting an international agreement is not only a matter of law. Knowing the dynamics of global politics as well as acknowledging that economic and social considerations often steer the will and vigour of state leaders to cooperate is crucial. Management of environmental resources have for many decades captured the interest of scholars, both in the discipline of law, political science and economics. The findings and lessons learned can be utilized across the different disciplines. Valuable knowledge on how states behave in different situations shared by professors in political economy and resource economy can be drawn upon when designing legal instruments to manage environmental challenges.

A methodological challenge faced in the research and writing of this thesis has largely been associated with the fact that the subject of this thesis is very much so under development. The global plastics treaty is being negotiated at the very moment this thesis is being delivered, and apart from the UNEA Mandate as well as some informational documents produced by the UNEP's working group, there are no legitimate legal sources to draw from. There is a mass of general literature on international treaties and regimes, as well as a fair amount of literature on international environmental law and environmental challenges that have been addressed for

²⁶ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 4.2

several decades already, such as climate change. The literature on legal management of pollution, and specifically plastic pollution, is however rather scarce. In the past decade, the issue of plastic pollution has certainly captured more attention and evidence articles and reports on the scientific dimension have been produced on a much broader scale than before. Some legal literature has emerged as well but is still very much lacking. This thesis thus seeks to contribute to the growing body of literature and research concerned with managing plastic pollution on a global scale.

1.5 Outline

In chapter 2, context will be provided for the further discussion of managing plastic pollution as an international environmental issue. Chapter 2 will begin with a brief general discussion of whether there are set design principles to be found for agreements managing environmental challenges, whether tailored agreements are the only solution or if there is a middle-ground approach that may be helpful in designing international environmental agreements. As a natural extension of this discussion, chapter 2.2 will take a closer look at the issue of plastic pollution through a comparative lens. In order to distinguish some key elements of the issue of plastic pollution, other environmental challenges with their respective international agreements to address them will be examined. Similarities and differences will be highlighted, and inspiration will be drawn from the wide array of design elements within the environmental treaties. Chapter 3 will largely be dedicated to an overview of how plastic pollution is currently regulated within international environmental law. The chapter will provide some concluding notes on the current management regime, and briefly comment the need for a new international treaty to address plastic pollution. Chapter 4 will dive deeper into the concrete subject of architecture and design elements of a new plastics treaty. Chapter 4.2 will explore a selection of elements from the UNEA Mandate and discuss the options available for architecture and objective of the treaty, the possible ways of implementing national action plans within the treaty, how the principles of the Rio Declaration, especially the principle on common but differentiated possibilities may be relevant for plastic pollution, as well as briefly explore the concept of life cycle approach in dealing with plastic pollution. Chapter 4.3 will briefly discuss the generally accepted trade-off of depth vs. participation in international cooperation as well as the issue of free-riding and how plastic pollution may distinguish itself from other environmental challenges when it comes to free-riding. Finally, chapter 4 will discuss a selection of participation incentives that would not compromise on the depth of the plastics treaty.

2 CONTEXT

This chapter will aim to set the scene for the management of an environmental challenge such as plastic pollution. Firstly, the notion of set design principles for solving environmental challenges will be explored briefly. Ultimately concluding that there is no one-size-fits-all approach to international agreements seeking to address environmental issues, an alternative approach in the form of "institutional diagnosis" will be explored. As a natural continuation of this discussion, the second part of this chapter will seek to map some key elements of plastic pollution by comparing it to other global environmental challenges. The international treaties in place to deal with these challenges will serve as an inspiration for future management of plastic pollution. The questions this chapter will seek to answer are the following:

- i. Are there set design principles for addressing environmental challenges that will guarantee an effective management of the issues?
- ii. What are the key elements of the issue of plastic pollution?

2.1 Set design principles vs. tailored treaties

When it comes to design of treaties and treaty regimes dealing with environmental problems, two main perspectives emerge. One of them is the notion that it is possible to conclude certain specific design principles that an agreement governing environmental challenges should apply for the agreement to be "successful". Such generalization is attractive for several reasons. If one is able to identify universal design principles to implement in agreements dealing with different environmental challenges and managing different common resources, a great deal of resources would be saved both in terms of time, money and energy spent on constructing, negotiating and concluding environmental agreements. An alternative perspective is to view every environmental challenge and common pool resource as perfectly unique, demanding of a special analysis and design of the agreement dedicated to managing it. It is an approach that applies a "one-size does not fit all" perspective to designing treaties. While it may produce treaties that are more in line with the challenges they are meant to solve, this approach is not as attractive in the terms of effectiveness, as it would naturally be more resource consuming than a cookiecutter approach. A middle ground between these, introduced by Young (2002) as "institutional diagnosis" is however possible, and will be explored briefly.

These perspectives are examined in this thesis because they may offer useful insights to the current shaping of the plastic pollution agreement. Plastic pollution is a critical issue that needs a solid governance regime. By diving into the literature of environmental governance, one can hope to find guidance of how the new agreement should be shaped. The international environmental treaties that have been concluded by the global community thus far are highly variable in their effectiveness of reaching their objective and solving the underlying issue. It is clear that we have not solved the challenge of creating robust global institutions and treaties to effectively deal with environmental challenges. A brand-new treaty offers great challenges, but also great possibilities to experiment with different approaches, implement design elements from different regimes and possibly along the way find fruitful approaches that may be used to deal with other environmental challenges.

2.1.1 Design principles for managing local common pool resources applied on global plastic pollution

The natural departure point for looking at set design principles is the one suggested by political scientist and economist Elinor Ostrom. Ostrom's studies of common pool resources (CPRs) on a local scale led her to the conclusion that these resources were best regulated locally. Ostrom proposed eight design principles that were meant to be applied to regimes managing the commons, a sort of a "one size fits all" solution: (1) clearly defined boundaries, (2) congruence between the appropriation rules and the regulated environment, (3) decisions are made collectively by participation in modifying the operational rules, (4) regular monitoring of users and resource conditions, (5) graduated sanctions to deter participants, (6) conflict resolution mechanisms that are accessible and low-cost, (7) minimal recognition of rights by external authorities, (8) nested enterprises/multilevel governance.²⁷

Ostrom's research universe encompassed small-scale CPRs, and as a political economist she was concerned about the economic governance of resources. Applying economic considerations

²⁷ Ostrom (1990) p. 90

and insights when looking to manage resources or environmental challenges is often a key component, also when states are looking to create international agreements. An illustrative example is the Montreal Protocol that likely was able to secure such broad participation and quick cooperation because of an economic analysis conducted by the United States that predicted great economic benefits if the issue of ozone depletion was managed as opposed to not.²⁸

Common pool resources can be defined as "natural or man-made resource systems that are large enough to make the exclusion of potential users from obtaining benefits prohibitively costly, and the benefits obtained from its consumption by one individual user are sub-tractable from those available to other potential users".²⁹ One could look at the issue of plastic pollution through an ecosystem-focused lens. A clean marine environment could be viewed as a public good, a resource. Although discharge of plastic waste into the environment, including the marine environment, is not an action of "obtaining benefits" in the traditional sense of a common pool resource, one could apply an analogic perspective to it. As with extraction of resources from a common pool, there will be less of the benefit – less of the clean environment – the more other actors engage in the activity that is discharge of plastic waste. Further, it is virtually impossible to exclude others from the activity of discharging plastic waste into the marine environment. However, this perspective addresses single common pools at a time – here the marine environment – but the marine environment is only one of the environments/ecosystems affected by plastic pollution. As we have already seen, a more holistic perspective on the issue is needed. As Young (2002) points out, some environmental challenges are more accurately viewed as externalities – a situation where the appropriators are not a homogenous group affected by the disintegration of the environment, but can avoid the impacts either by moving or implementing adaption measures.³⁰ Plastic pollution could thus be regarded as an externality of a common pool resource that is a clean marine environment, or the capacity of the ocean to absorb plastic waste. It is practically impossible to prevent or exclude actors, states, companies and consumers from disregarding or otherwise releasing plastic waste into the ocean, thus making the resource non-excludable. Regarding rivalry/subtractability as a trait of common pool resources, it is true that the more plastic pollution one actor releases, the more of the oceans capacity of receiving

²⁸ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 8.5

²⁹ Ostrom (1990) p. 2

³⁰ Young (2002) p. 143

pollution decreases. Ocean's capacity of receiving the pollution could thus be described as subtractable. Clean oceans and air are however usually defined as public goods – in contrast to common pool resources, public goods are non-rival/non-subtractable, meaning that there is not less of the good for one actor if another one uses it. In practical terms, this is also the case for plastic pollution. While we can, as illustrated above, look at the ocean's capacity to receive pollution as limited, it is not limited in the terms that an actor can release a corresponding amount less waste/pollution because another member of the group released a certain amount. Even if the ocean's capacity to function in a balanced way or recover is overloaded, members of the world's society are not prevented from polluting more. A clean marine environment or clean air would thus be more of a public good, than a common pool resource. Because of the non-subtractable nature of these goods, the impacts the pollution is causing them could be regarded as negative externalities.

The economic concept of externality is used to explain impacts of behaviours that give rise to certain environmental challenges. A negative externality occurs when the behaviour of one actor impacts another in a negative manner. The cost or loss stemming from the behaviour is external to the actor causing the loss when no measures are implemented to make the actor internalize these costs or loss. The deaths of seabirds as a consequence of entanglement from fishing gear disregarded by a fishery is an externality. The same goes for runoff water from a textile factory containing microplastics that are released into the nearby river. While states, consumers and companies create negative externalities on the global scale by polluting the global public goods like the marine environment and air with plastics, the issue of plastic pollution also has another dimension to it that separates it from issues like climate change that truly directly affect a public good like the atmosphere. As mentioned above, plastic pollution also impacts the environment on the local and regional scale, thus not quite fully fitting to be described purely as an externality. Further, because environmental problems are heterogeneous, it may be counterproductive to strictly categorize them in a specific problem structure. As Young (2002) points out, "no characterization may be objectively correct", but underscores that the choice of perspective will have significant consequences.³¹ He explains that CPR problems call for self-regulation and trust building among actors, while externalities require establishment of external regulatory mechanisms and sanctions. It is interesting to consider the implications on issues that have elements from different categories like plastic pollution.

³¹ Young (2002) p. 16

The implication of universal design principles is that the environmental problems in question are homogeneous, at least to a certain degree, relating to factors or elements that are relevant to the designing of a governance regime. It is thus appropriate to investigate whether factors in local and global commons are somewhat homogenous. Young describes it in terms of "problem of scale", explaining that the question is whether the principles can be scaled up from small to large, and ultimately global scale.³² Stern (2011) offers some valuable insights regarding local versus global scale.³³ While local commons concern a delimited number of appropriators within a regional scope, ranging from tens to a few thousands, the global commons concern billions of people all over the world. And while depletion of local resources is a consequence of intentional action to extract a resource with visible direct depletion, the degradation on the global level is often perceived much less direct and more distant. This is a result of the fact that on the global scale, the appropriators of a resource are not usually the same group of people that suffer from the degradation, as opposite to the local level where negative externalities remain within the community of users. Further, users on the local scale usually have common cultural context, while the global resources are shared and used by people from all cultures, political- and economic systems and political ideologies which may make it hard to arrive to common understandings of solutions or even the issue itself. Stern (2011) also notes that because the scale of local resources are considerably smaller, they tend to be able to regenerate in a short enough time to enable learning and knowledge building from experiences. This is much harder with global scale resources as they may be non-renewable on the human time scale.³⁴

While some have argued that several of Ostrom's principles may be applied on a larger scale, potentially applying different combinations of design principles to facilitate successful management of various common poor resources,³⁵ others have emphasized the significant differences between local and global commons, and the need to adjust Ostrom's principles to fit the global scale better. Stern (2011) examines the applicability of Ostrom's principles on global commons in his article, as summarized below.

³² Young (2002) p. 139

³³ Stern (2011)

³⁴ Stern (2011)

³⁵ Shin (2021) sought to examine the possibility to apply Ostrom's design principles to larger commons, specifically studying cooperation regarding international river basins.

First and foremost, Stern (2011) sees it as a redundant exercise to apply the principle of defining boundaries for resources and appropriators for global commons. Commons like the earth's climate or the marine environment, the latter especially outside national jurisdiction, do not render themselves to division and definition. Moving forward, devising rules congruent with the regulated environment or ecosystem may be more applicable to global commons. While the ecological conditions for global commons may be extremely complex to specify, or even have adequate scientific knowledge of, it is possible and important to use the information one has about a resource to shape the rules accordingly. This is highly complicated, but just as important to do for practices that degrade ecosystems and the environment, like plastic pollution. Young (2002) points to mismatches between ecosystem properties and treaty regime attributes as a key issue in international governance.³⁶ Any knowledge we do have about the relevant ecosystem's processes and properties is crucial to have in mind when designing governance rules. The properties of the relevant pollutant are imperative to have in mind as well. For certain environmental issues, including plastic pollution, the ways and scale in which the pollutant is produced and utilized as well as its role in the global market is essential to consider to effectively regulate production, consumption, and the final treatment. Further, to allow users to participate in developing the rules may be a lot more complex on the global scale as one is dealing with potentially billions of users. This would be difficult on a logistical level, as well as a principle - the fact that the degradation may be far removed from the actual major appropriators, might make it difficult to engage them in designing rules to protect the commons. On the local / regional scale for managing plastic pollution however, this principle may lend itself somewhat better to be implemented. Stern (2011) argues further that while it is important to ensure monitoring on the global scale, it is much more difficult to implement. Monitors should be independent from the appropriators because of the conflict of interest between appropriators and the affected parties to whom the monitors would be responsible to. Appropriators are in the best positions to monitor, but also has interest to underreport. Difficulty arises here because any monitoring system would be dependent on the appropriators themselves to provide information, and potentially funds to monitor. Monitoring would further need to be global to avoid leakage. Difficulties assessing which activities should be monitored as well as technical struggles are also among the challenges related to this design principle. Furthermore, Stern (2011) argues that accessible and low-cost conflict mechanisms and accessibility to impose graduated sanctions are important, but difficult to achieve on the global scale as the parties may live in different countries

³⁶ Young (2002) p. 65

with different legal systems and regimes. This is just as relevant for the issue of plastic pollution as it is for other global challenges. The fact that the pollution also affects areas beyond national jurisdiction makes it even more challenging. Lawsuits before national courts for environmental damage done across state boundaries are on the rise, but it is important to note that this is hardly an accessible or low-cost mechanism. Stern (2011) further points out that implementing the principle of having a minimal recognition of rights by external authorities permitting the users to devise their own rules and operating with nested layers of organization may not only be difficult on the global scale, but potentially counterproductive. Stern (2011) explains that lowerlevel governments, companies, and other users, having the opportunity to externalize the cost of the degradation they cause, make it necessary to restrict local autonomy in certain ways. He further argues that lower-level actors may not possess the knowledge and resources to take sufficient action without help. Because of the nature of the issue of plastic pollution, it is relevant to take a closer look at this argument. It is certainly relevant for the global dimension of plastic pollution to acknowledge that the major appropriators operating in the industry pollute rivers, the ocean and soil, and view plastic pollution an externality that they do not have to integrate in their cost-and-benefit analysis. As mentioned before however, the regional and local dimension of plastic pollution may make some design principles that typically seem irrelevant for global environmental challenges applicable after all. The fact that lower-lever actors on their own may not have the capacity, knowledge or resources to take sufficient action is not an argument against these design principles, but as Stern himself argues, a reason to adjust the principle. Higher-lever authorities should enable lower-level actors to be able to take the actions to remedy the issue. States should provide resources for research on how to better manage waste so that municipalities may implement the measures. Municipalities should provide residents with the tools to act in the correct manner, for instance by providing waste collection services and/pick-up points for textiles that are composed of plastics to be managed in a sound manner. On a larger scale, the global community of states should cooperate to share technological knowhow so that each state has the knowledge to implement measures suited for their circumstances. A nested layer organisation is further likely a fruitful approach for a challenge like plastic pollution also because it enables actors to make use of a variety of measures on the scale that is most suitable. The two latter principles will be especially relevant in a two-level management structure proposed in chapter 4.3.

The review of Ostrom's design principles in light of the different challenges on the global scale shows that the principles need significant adjustments to apply to global issues. Young (2002)

points out that "the level of heterogeneity on the larger class of environmental problems is high enough to cast grave doubts on an assumption to the effect that what holds for small-scale CPRs will hold for other classes of problems involving environmental changes".³⁷

Another set of design principles are found in environmental governance literature talking about transformational approach, comprising of four design principles: (1) high inclusivity/broad participation, (2) little to no stringent obligations, (3) management instead of enforcement and (4) decision making rules requiring near unanimity. These design principles will not be discussed in detail in this thesis, other than refer to discussion by Downs et al. (2000) which concludes that the transformational approach design principles, while theoretically able to deliver on at least some of the promises in certain cases of environmental challenges, may prove ineffective or even counterproductive in others.³⁸

As such, it may be concluded that the local and global scale of environmental problems offers great differences, currently making it unfruitful to look for design principles that are transferable across the scale. Downs et al. (2000) argues that there is "no reliable technology for telling us what design strategy is best for a given set of circumstances".³⁹ Along the same lines, Barrett (2005-a) in his analysis of the Montreal Protocol and the lessons to be learned from it, emphasizes the sentiment that merely copying the design of an international treaty dealing with one issue and applying it to another, is not a fruitful path.⁴⁰ He illustrates this by showing that the Kyoto Protocol, in great degree designed after the Montreal Protocol, did not inherit the success of its predecessor.⁴¹ This is simply because of the differences between the challenge of managing ozone depleting substances, and the challenge of managing greenhouse gasses, as well as important factors surrounding the issues differing greatly. Young (2002) concludes that "One size does not fit all when it comes to the creation of effective environmental regimes; design principles derived from a study of some member of the larger universe of problems run the risk of failing to produce the desired outcomes or leading to highly insufficient results when applied to others."⁴²

³⁷ Young (2002) p. 171

³⁸ Downs et al. (2000) p. 508

³⁹ Downs et al. (2000) p. 468

⁴⁰ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 1.1

⁴¹ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 15.1

⁴² Young (2002) p. 175

2.1.2 Institutional diagnosis

In line with the conclusion above, Young (2002) argues that "Variance among environmental problems at all levels of social organization is sufficient to cast serious doubt on any effort to apply a single set of design principles without intimate knowledge of the character of specific problems and a concerted effort to construct arrangements well adapted to individual cases."43 As an alternative, he discusses the need to take into account the special characteristics of an environmental challenge. Young explores the notion of each problem being perfectly unique, needing a tailored solution to be able to produce positive results in dealing with the issue at hand.⁴⁴ Compatibility between the ecosystem or issue at hand and the governance arrangements created to manage these ecosystems or issues is the main focus in this kind of an approach.⁴⁵ However, the bio-geophysical and socioeconomic elements of an ecosystem or environmental issue that are essential to take into account, and the institutional approaches necessary to reach a satisfactory compatibility may not be easy to define. While best practices of dealing with homogeneous cases may be possible to develop over time, the problem of fit truly becomes a challenge the more heterogeneous cases are. Classifying whether a case is homogeneous or heterogeneous may present great difficulties in itself.⁴⁶ Knowledge of the structures, processes and linkages of an ecosystem need to be acquired and mapped and the implications of these need to be interpreted.⁴⁷ Ozone depleting substances and greenhouse gasses all affect atmospheric contents and are closely tied to industrial production. However, it is crucial to acknowledge that ozone depleting substances only consists of a relatively small economic sector and alternatives are cheap to produce, while other greenhouse gasses have a far broader reach across whole economic sectors and alternative energy production is not yet developed enough or involves costly investments. Similarly, while both oil spills and plastic discharge affects the marine environment, plastic pollution will not be sufficiently managed by an equivalent governance regime to MARPOL. Although the two types of pollutions have some things in common, as noted in chapter 2, plastics flows into the marine environment are more varied and spread out.

⁴³ Young (2002) p. 162

⁴⁴ Young (2002) p. 59

⁴⁵ Young (2002) p. 59

⁴⁶ Young (2002) p. 21

⁴⁷ Young (2002) p. 61

As Young (2002) further argues, there is a lack of systematic procedures to identify and map the different elements of environmental challenges with the aim of pairing them with suitable institutional design elements.⁴⁸ Young (2002) does not take it upon himself to propose an exhaustive method of mapping ecosystem properties, but illustrates the idea by presenting three sections of ecosystem properties that should be interpreted with the aim of matching the institutional design elements – structures, processes and linkages.⁴⁹ Structures refers to the complexity within the ecosystem and its elements, homogeneity and interdependence among individual elements. Processes refers to factors like productivity, growth, stabilization, change and linkages include boundary conditions and transboundary interaction. He further argues that mismatches between environmental problems and the institutional arrangements created to manage them generally stem from lack of knowledge, institutional constraints and rent-seeking behaviour.⁵⁰

Furthermore, as if the identifying and mapping properties of a single ecosystem was not intricate enough, the exercise would be even more complex when the goal was to deal with an environmental issue that affects several ecosystems, such as plastic pollution. Because pollution may enter different ecosystems in different ways and affect the ecosystems differently, mapping of properties to match with institutional regime attributes would soon prove to be a rather complex task. The alternative would be simplifying the issue and reducing it to only managing pollution in one ecosystem. While this might make the creation of a new governance regime less complicated by not addressing the practicalities of the challenge, such an approach would not be satisfactory as it would ignore the need for a holistic perspective. This alternative seems additionally unsatisfactory if one was to dive deeper into the philosophy of modern ecology and its views of the concept of ecosystems. It nurtures the idea that ecosystems are social constructs and in nature everything is related to everything, meaning that any approach based on strictly dividing the wholeness of the earth's natural environment is inherently dismissive of the complexities of the issue.⁵¹ Furthermore, it is not only the ecosystem properties that need mapping. The mechanisms and ways in which human behaviour and systems interact with the environment and creates the issue are essential to map - socioeconomic elements and properties of the

⁴⁸ Young (2002) p. 21

⁴⁹ Young (2002) p. 61

⁵⁰ Young (2002) p. 56

⁵¹ Young (2002) p. 59

challenge are just as important as the environmental properties in creating successful arrangements. The reasons for why plastics are being discarded into rivers and dumpsites are crucial to identify if we ever hope to solve the issue of plastic pollution. So is the technological status of possible alternatives for plastics, as well as the challenges regarding recycling. This further illustrates that addressing a challenge like plastic pollution through an ecosystem-lens might provide more difficulties than benefits.

Young (2002) argues that neither the perspective of design principles, nor the perspective that each environmental issue is perfectly unique is fruitful.⁵² Instead he recommends an intermediate approach, namely institutional diagnosis. This approach seeks to identify features of an environmental challenge that can be understood as "diagnostic conditions", with the goal of pairing them with a suitable design implication. As a middle ground of the two approaches examined above, institutional diagnosis seeks to essentially break down environmental issues with the goal of identifying elements that need to be afforded special consideration in a systematic manner. But instead of trying to find a unique design element for every significant element of every environmental issue, institutional diagnostic condition of functional interplay call for the design implication coordination mechanism, and diagnostic condition of political and socioeconomic systems call for design implication flexibility.⁵³ While Young (2002) himself explains that the approach is not meant to apply as a generalized prescription across the whole universe of environmental issues, the approach provides a somewhat systematic procedure that can be used as a starting point.

2.2 A comparative perspective on the issue of plastic pollution

As has already illustrated in this thesis thus far, the issue of plastic pollution is complex. There are many uncertain variables that come from a lack of empirical data. Thus far it is not clear how plastics impact living organisms in the long term or if these substances ever completely disappear in the environment or simply continue to break down into gradually smaller pieces. Further research is thus required in this field. Enhancing the complexity of the issue further are

⁵² Young (2002) p. 175

⁵³ Young (2002) p. 178

uncertainties regarding management of plastics on a political scale, as well as the judicial dimension.

As concluded in the section above, there is no one-size fits all approach readily available for managing environmental challenges through international agreements. This means that we need to analyse and map the environmental challenge before us to be able to address it. Identifying some key elements of the issue at hand is thus valuable. Looking to other environmental challenges with their corresponding governance regimes is a useful exercise in that context as it provides a starting point through a comparative lens. Comparing the issue of plastic pollution to other environmental challenges will serve as an illustrative tool to map the key elements of plastic pollution. For the purpose of this thesis, a comparative approach will further serve as a point of inspiration for a new plastics treaty. The method used in this chapter is established to identify some key elements of an environmental issue, and briefly explore how these elements are regulated within international law. The specific challenges included in this analysis are selected to illustrate certain elements of plastic pollution.

2.2.1 Mercury pollution and the Minamata Convention on Mercury⁵⁴

Mercury is in the top ten chemicals of major public health concern according to the World Health Organization, and mercury poisoning has caused tens of thousands of people to suffer from what is now known as the Minamata disease.⁵⁵ Mercury is used in products like thermometers, barometers, fluorescent lamps as well as a catalyst in chemical industry, for instance in gold mining.

The objective of the Minamata Convention on Mercury, having entered into force in 2017, is "to protect human health and the environment from anthropogenic emissions and releases of mercury and mercury compounds".⁵⁶ The Convention is thus aimed at regulating one specific substance. It includes provisions that address the entire life cycle of mercury, from the direct mining of mercury,⁵⁷ to controls and reduction of the use of mercury in products,⁵⁸ as well as

⁵⁴ Minamata Convention

⁵⁵ WHO (2017)

⁵⁶ Minamata Convention art. 1

⁵⁷ Minamata Convention art. 3 para 3 and 4, art.

⁵⁸ Minamata Convention art. 3

use, release and emissions of mercury in various processes and industries.⁵⁹ Its provisions also address the export, import,⁶⁰ safe storage and sound disposal of mercury in the waste stage.⁶¹ The Convention also includes a deadline for a complete phase-out of certain products containing mercury by the year 2020, with a possible exemption for countries that request it.⁶² The manufacture, import and export of a wide array of products containing mercury was to be prohibited by the Parties, but there is to date no overview of how many Parties have complied with the phase-out timeline.⁶³ The Convention implements an evaluation mechanism to keep track of its progress in reaching its objective, and provides for the possibility of amending the agreement with additional mercury compounds to control.⁶⁴ Further, the Convention provides a mechanism for financial assistance on implementation through the Global Environmental Facility Trust Fund.⁶⁵ An implementation and compliance Committee is established and tasked with examining individual and systematic issues regarding implementation and compliance, as well as making recommendations as appropriate to the Conference of the Parties.⁶⁶

Just like plastics, mercury is a material that was used in a variety of different products, but its use in everyday consumer goods and industry was nowhere as wide as for plastics. Regulating a material that we depend on so strongly may be more challenging than regulating a material that is used in relatively limited degree. Further, the negative effects on human health connected to mercury pollution were well known and documented when the Convention was negotiated, especially in the light of the tragic fates so many humans and animals suffered from mercury poisoning leading to the Minamata disease in the previous decades. The situation is different for plastic pollution as the effects on human health are currently still highly uncertain. It is however worth noting that the risks associated with mercury poisoning were unknown for many decades as well, all while the substance was used in various products and processes.⁶⁷ It is

⁵⁹ Minamata Convention art. 5 para 2 and 3, 6, art. 8

⁶⁰ Minamata Convention art. 3 para 6 and8

⁶¹ Minamata Convention art. 10 and 11

⁶² Minamata Convention art. 6

⁶³ Minamata Convention art. 4 para 1. and Annex A

⁶⁴ Minamata Convention art. 22

⁶⁵ Minamata Convention art. 13 para 5,6 and 7

⁶⁶ Minamata Convention art. 15

⁶⁷ Barrett (2010)

therefore worth considering – as in line with the precautionary principle,⁶⁸ and considering the damage done by plastics to animals and ecosystems already – implementing more stringent measures than the current state of evidence might give reason to. The idea of regulating the full life cycle is further something that is emphasized in the mandate of the new global plastic treaty, as will be discussed more in chapter 4.2. Using examples from the Minamata Convention for potential control measures within the plastics treaty may be useful, including reduction on production, use and disposal at its final stage. An element that may complicate the matter of regulating plastics similarly to mercury is that a complete ban on plastics is likely not feasible or even desirable – plastics are a useful material that contributes to minimizing food spoilage as well as provides for many other benefits. This means that a more nuanced approach for plastic regulation will be needed. While a complete ban may not be suited for plastics, a ban on use of plastics in certain products or certain compositions of polymers may still be desirable.

2.2.2 Climate change and the Paris Agreement

Greenhouse gasses are emitted through different processes, both natural and as a consequence of human activities such as industrial activities, release of different chemicals into the atmosphere, farming, cultivating, and most importantly burning of fossil fuels.⁶⁹ Carbon dioxide and methane are the two most widely emitted greenhouse gasses. They contribute to the concentration of these gasses in the atmosphere that in turn cause the overall temperature on earth to rise.⁷⁰ Scientists predict that the consequences of this development include more extreme weather, droughts, ocean acidification, as well as other changes in the climate and different ecosystems that may have adverse effects on humans and animals.⁷¹

The UN Climate Change Convention with its Kyoto Protocol, as well as the Paris Agreement regulate anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions, meaning several substances that can be categorized as greenhouse gases. While the UNFCCC is a framework Convention and has a general, inclusive definition of greenhouse gasses,⁷² the Kyoto protocol provided an exhaustive list

⁶⁸ The precautionary principle, as reflected in Principle 15 of the Rio Declaration provides that "Where there are threats of serious or irreversible damage, lack of full scientific certainty shall not be used as a reason for postponing cost-effective measures to prevent environmental damage."

⁶⁹ IPCC (2014) p. 6

⁷⁰ IPCC (2021) p. 4

⁷¹ IPCC (2022) p. 13

⁷² UNFCCC art. 1 nr. 4

of controlled gasses in its Annex A. The Paris Agreement aims for the Parties to "reach global peaking of greenhouse gas emissions" without specifying which ones. The Agreement is to be interpreted in light of the UNFCCC, so the same wide definition likely applies. The climate regime has over the past couples of decades been through a few rounds of trial and error regarding the style of management. The UNFCCC, as a framework Convention aims to "stabilize greenhouse gas concentrations" without providing any concrete obligations for the Parties.⁷³ The Kyoto Protocol applied stringent obligations of emission reductions,⁷⁴ but only for some of the Parties.⁷⁵ The Kyoto Protocol has been generally regarded as a failed effort in regard to reducing greenhouse gas emissions.⁷⁶ The Paris Agreement applies a new management style. The Agreement itself obligates Parties to communicate their goals for emission cuts through Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) but does not actually legally obligate the Parties to reach them.⁷⁷ Instead, the Agreement leans on transparency and assistance mechanisms to incentivise states to comply and fulfil their ambitions.⁷⁸ It is thus a sort of a hybrid style of management between no concrete obligations and stringent control measures.

Plastic pollution and climate change are both environmental issues that have emerged as a consequence of collective human action. An important way in which plastic pollution differs from climate change is that for climate change, the quantity of the public good – the public good being an unpolluted atmosphere – is equal to the sum of the levels supplied by all countries. Greenhouse gasses accumulate in the atmosphere, a common space shared by every nation in the world. This means that no matter where a greenhouse gas is emitted, it all goes into a joint global pot. Thus, it does not matter if two or twenty-two countries emit a certain amount of greenhouse gases, and it does not matter where in the world these countries are. The atmosphere is affected in the same way. Plastic pollution however, while undoubtedly transnational, is influenced by how much pollution is released where. Places that are hotspots for plastic waste

⁷³ UNFCCC art. 2

⁷⁴ Kyoto Protocol art. 2 and 3

⁷⁵ Only Annex I parties under the UNFCCC were subject to obligations under the Kyoto Protocol. Annex I consisted of developed country Parties that were member of the OECD in 1992, as well as countries with economies in transition.

⁷⁶ Napoli (2012)

 $^{^{\}rm 77}$ Paris Agreement art. 3 and art. 4 para 2

⁷⁸ E.g. Paris Agreement art. 4 para 8 and art. 13

discharge into the nature often find themselves to suffer most from the plastic pollution.⁷⁹ Rivers and other waterways, as well as the ocean, have certain flows that affect where the plastic pollution travels to. Winds that may carry plastic particles flow certain ways as well. Thus, for a country sharing a waterway with a neighbouring country, it does in fact matter whether the plastic enters the environment in the neighbouring country rather than a country on the other side of the planet. It follows that the regional and local dimensions are more prominent for an issue like plastic pollution than climate change. It may thus be easier for countries to commit to managing and halting plastic pollution, as it will benefit themselves considerably and noticeably. Managing one's plastic waste discharges will likely benefit oneself regardless of what the rest of the countries do. This is contrary to cutting down on greenhouse emissions. If one country cuts down on its emissions considerably, but another country increases its emissions accordingly, the result evens out, and no overall benefit regarding the emissions will be created. In cases like these, countries' behaviour will likely depend on what others do, a situation that may be prone to a gridlock.

Further, it was until relatively recently highly contested whether the temperature rise and climate changes taking place were results of human activities, as it is known that fluctuations in average temperatures across the earth have occurred previously as a natural part of the earth's climate cycles. This is contrary to plastic pollution as there is no doubt that it is the consequence of human action. Plastics do not occur organically in nature – they are a human made substance that, when disregarded, accumulates in the environment. This, combined with the fact that there are no natural processes that may absorb plastic waste, as it is not bio-degradable, puts more pressure on the global community to manage the issue. Apart from breaking down to smaller particles, we know that the plastic waste is not going anywhere within . For greenhouse gas emissions, the same is not true.⁸⁰ There are many natural processes that contribute to absorbing such gasses, like trees and the oceans absorbing carbon dioxide and storing it.

⁷⁹ Philippines, India and Malaysia are the top three countries who's mismanaged plastic waste finds its way into the ocean, see Meijer et al. (2021). Research has found that rather than the level of plastic consumption and production being the decisive factors of likeliness for a state to discharge plastics into the sea, it is countries with smaller geographical area, longer coastlines, high rainfall and poor waste management systems that are more likely to discharge plastic waste into the environment. These countries' economies largely depend on both fisheries and tourism. Littered up beaches for instance may have negative impacts on the tourism industry.

⁸⁰ A bacteria that consumes and is able to break down and metabolize plastics has been discovered by a team of Japanese researchers in 2016, see Yoshida et al. (2016)

Plastic pollution, and many of its effects, are also more visible than many effects of climate change. Emission of greenhouse gasses causing climate change becomes visible through extreme weather, droughts that contribute to wildlife fires, among others, but it is never clear how much and which emissions of greenhouse gasses caused such an occurrence, or if the occurrence would have happened regardless of the emissions. When large chunks of waste consisting of fishing gear, plastic bottles and other items end up on a beach, we know that it is a direct result from human activity. All this may thus contribute to putting direct pressure on the world's nations, potentially making it easier to push states to manage plastic pollution, do their part and cooperate. There might be a better chance of getting countries to agree to more stringent control measures.

A common trait that climate change and plastic pollution share is the layered temporal dimensions. –They have both accumulated over time, and will likely generate effects for decades, if not centuries to come. Further, both plastics and activities that contribute to emissions of greenhouse gasses like fossil fuel burning are deeply ingrained in our everyday life. There are big, powerful industries standing behind both issues, and they are even functionally intertwined as virgin plastics are indeed produced using fossil materials. Plastics generate 3.4% of global greenhouse gas emissions, 90% of them coming from the production and conversion from fossil fuels.⁸¹

While the two issues are functionally intertwined, they do, as shown above, differ considerably in many ways. Blindly following the Paris Agreement's management style and design, for instance, would likely not benefit the plastic pollution treaty. Utilizing the regional dimension of plastic pollution, as well as the strong incentive for states to cooperate and do their part should be at the forefront of the negotiators' minds.

2.2.3 Depletion of the ozone layer and the Montreal Protocol

The concentration of ozone molecules in the earth's stratosphere, widely referred to as the ozone layer, absorbs the sun's harmful ultraviolet radiation, thus having an essential function for the human health.⁸² A thinning of the ozone layer would cause more of the sun's UV radiation to

⁸¹ OECD (2022) p. 134

⁸² Ritchie (2023)

reach the earth, potentially leading to more cases of skin cancer, eye cataracts and impaired immune systems as well as impacting agricultural yields and fish-stocks by interrupting the marine food chain.⁸³ In the 1970s, scientists discovered that certain substances, known as chlor-ofluorocarbons (CFCs), could cause the breakdown of ozone molecules in the stratosphere.⁸⁴ CFCs were at the time widely used substances in aerosol sprays, as insulators in refrigerators, coolant in air conditioners, foams, asthma strays, fire extinguishers, styrofoam coffee cups and in solvents.

The Vienna Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer was signed in 1985 and entered into force in 1988.⁸⁵ It is a framework Convention laying out certain objectives and principles, but it does not require countries to take any actions to protect the ozone layer. This may have contributed to the fact that it was the first ever treaty signed by every country involved, even if there was considerable uncertainty regarding the scientific facts of the issue. Measurements did not in fact record any thinning of the ozone layer (except over Antarctica, a seasonal occurrence which scientists at the time considered a special case, and for which there were numerous theories). Moreover, there was no evidence that CFCs were responsible. Finally, there was no sign of increased ultraviolet radiation actually reaching the Earth.⁸⁶ However, the potential for harm was certainly there - the production and use of CFC's had increased considerably, and if the theory developed by the scientists was correct, the depletion of the ozone layer would be substantial enough to cause serious harm.⁸⁷ In 1987, the world's leaders signed the Montreal Protocol that entered into force in 1989. The Protocol limited production and consumption of CFCs, requiring a cut down by half for a number of them by 1999. The Vienna Convention with its Montreal Protocol is deemed one of the most successful international environmental regimes to date.88

Ozone depleting substances have several things in common with plastics. Both are chemical compounds that are inexpensive to produce and widely used. The approach of the Montreal Protocol was to focus the control on production and consumption, as opposed to the use of

⁸³ Bais et al. (2017)

⁸⁴ It is not CFCs that are the problem per se, it is the fact that these substances would break down and release chorine, that would in turn break down ozone, see Salawitch et al. (2019) p. 19

⁸⁵ Vienna Convention

⁸⁶ Benedick (1997) in Barrett (2005-a) chapter 8

⁸⁷ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 8.2

⁸⁸ UNEP (2019-b)

CFCs (consumption being defined as production plus imports minus exports). Barrett (2005a) explains that this created a scarcity value for the existing CFCs and provided incentives for their collection for the purpose of reuse.⁸⁹ This also made it unnecessary to substitute CFCs prematurely. This approach may be valuable for plastics as well. Firstly, there are enormous amounts of plastics that are already produced.⁹⁰ As noted by the OECD, boosting the plastic markets are important to promote collection, recycling, and re-use.⁹¹ Aiming the control measures at production and consumption may be an important component in achieving this. Secondly, it is emphasized by many actors that merely finding a substitute material for plastics should not be the sole solution to the issue.⁹² Incentivizing collection of already produced plastics may thus lower the need for substitutes, encouraging actors to alter the way in which they produce and consume plastics instead of merely transitioning to another polluter. It would also encourage actors to contribute to the clean-up of the plastic waste in the environment, as well as provide incentive to make sure that no more plastics enter the environment.

Further, scientific uncertainty of some sorts regarding the issue is common for both ozone depletion and plastic pollution. While the scientific uncertainty concerns different sides of the two issues, the Montreal Protocol shows that stringent control measures are not unreachable even in the presence of scientific uncertainty. However, an important factor for the successful cooperation towards the Montreal Protocol, as described by Barrett (2005-a), can be afforded to a cost-benefit analysis that indicated massive potential benefits if the issue was dealt with through cooperation, as opposed to unilaterally.⁹³ Such a cost-benefit analysis, considering the wide spectrum of factors influencing plastic pollution and its potential regulation, would be highly complex. This is especially true because the potential benefits of managing versus not managing plastics are at this point impossible to measure, there being no scientific evidence that fully outlines the risks tied to plastic pollution for human and animal health. There have been efforts by some actors to calculate the costs of plastic pollution, but none that are able to map the actual costs and benefits in full.⁹⁴

⁸⁹ Barret (2005-a) chapter 8.11

⁹⁰ In 2015, it was estimated that 8300 million metric tons of plastic had been produced since 1950s, see Geyer et al. (2017)

⁹¹ OECD (2018) p. 94

⁹² Peake (2020) p. 3

⁹³ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 8.6

⁹⁴ UNEP (2021) p. 14-15 and WWF (2021)

A potentially important factor that contributed to the effective management of production of CFCs within the Montreal Protocol was the relatively limited number of CFC producers at the time. Eighteen chemical companies accounted for most of the world's production of the CFCs. One single company, namely DuPont, stood behind a quarter of the global CFC production.⁹⁵ And when DuPont finally, after many years of lobbying against control of CFCs, positioned itself behind a ban (as it was in their interest because of new business opportunities around substitute substances were secured), the rest of the industry followed suit.⁹⁶ The United States then truly became a leader negotiator behind a ban, and a phase-out in the Montreal Protocol became a reality. Counting on a similar positive enforcement from the industry regarding plastics is likely in vain, but the forces behind the shift in the industry are worth keeping in mind. There was a massive civil movement and pressure on governments to manage the depletion of the ozone layer, something that eventually made it clear for the industry that a phase-out was inevitable. Further, the fact that substitutes to CFCs that did not deplete the ozone layer were available was crucial. We cannot count of the same type of possibility for plastics. While there are already many initiatives to develop alternatives to plastics for certain uses, there needs to be more solid incentives for the industry to invest in developing alternatives or alter the ways of production. Instead of trying to copy the track that ultimately led to a phase-out of CFCs, the important lesson to be learned here is that industry will invest in development of technologies that are necessary to keep businesses profitable. While viable substitutes for plastics are likely not on the horizon, or as mentioned above not necessarily desirable, we can count on industry investing in developing new technologies only if there are sufficient incentives for it. For plastics, this could be substitute materials for some uses, phase-out of plastics from certain products, change in the chemical build-up of plastic products and new design choices to adapt to global standards and demands. A tight cooperation with industry is thus key.

2.2.4 Persistent organic pollutants and the Stockholm Convention

Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) are organic compounds that are resistant to degradation and accumulate in soils, water, atmosphere and in the cells of living organisms for long periods

⁹⁵ L.A. Times Archives (1988)

⁹⁶ Barret (2005) chapter 8.11

of time.⁹⁷ These chemicals have adverse effects on human health and the environment. Some of them are known carcinogens and many are capable of interfering with the hormonal systems of living organisms, causing development defects, chronic illnesses and death.⁹⁸ Examples of POPs are pesticides like dieldrin used to control termites, textile pests and insects living in agricultural soils, insecticides like toxaphene used on cotton, grain, fruits, vegetables and nuts as well as for tick and mite control in livestock, as well as solvents, pharmaceuticals and industrial chemicals, some of them man-made and some occurring naturally.⁹⁹ POPs, much like plastics, can be transported over long distances because of their persistence and resistance to biological degradation, and are thus a highly transnational issue.¹⁰⁰

The current management efforts of POPs are focused on banning use and production through the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants adopted in 2001.¹⁰¹ It requires the Parties to prohibit and/or eliminate production, use, import and export of intentionally produced POPs listed in its Annex A,¹⁰² and restrict other POPs listen in Annex B.¹⁰³ The placement in the respective annexes is dependent on how harmful the POP is considered. Parties are to reduce and eliminate unintentional production of selected POPs as well.¹⁰⁴

Plastics has many of the same properties that many POPs have – they persist and accumulate in the environment and organisms because of lack of degradation.¹⁰⁵ The concrete health risks associated with plastics accumulating in living organisms are currently not mapped.¹⁰⁶ There is however no reason to assume that potential adverse effects on human and animal health are not associated with plastic bioaccumulation. Some studies have already indicated adverse effects on hormones in plankton that may have impact on the reproductive systems of the organisms.¹⁰⁷ Further, some polymers such as bisphenol A (BPA), widely used in plastic water bottles and food containers have been shown to have estrogen-mimicking, hormone-like properties and

⁹⁷ Miniero (2008)

⁹⁸ E.g. Xu et al. (2002), Ennour-Idrissi et al. (2019), Park et al. (2020) and EPA (2002)

⁹⁹ UNEP (n.d.-b)

¹⁰⁰ Park et al. (2020)

¹⁰¹ Stockholm Convention

¹⁰² Stockholm Convention art. 3 para 1. (a)

¹⁰³ Stockholm Convention art. 3 para 1. (b)

¹⁰⁴ Stockholm Convention art. 5

¹⁰⁵ Worm et al. (2017)

¹⁰⁶ Thiele and Hudson (2021)

¹⁰⁷ Yuan et al. (2022)

accumulate in humans.¹⁰⁸ This could indicate that regulating plastics within the Stockholm Convention could be an alternative. What is more, POPs are present in many plastic products in order to give plastics certain desired properties, for instance flame retardants like polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs). This contributes to unintentional releases of POPs, thus making the two issues interconnected.

As Worm et al. (2017) points out however, certain elements separating plastics from POPs render it necessary to regulate plastics in a more nuanced way. For instance, better options for recycling and safe disposal are available for plastics than many POPs. The fact that there are thousands of combinations of polymers and additives used in manufacturing different plastic products also make it necessary to consider a somewhat different management style than POPs.¹⁰⁹ The design elements used in the Stockholm Convention could however serve as inspiration for the plastics treaty, seeing how the two issues are not only similar in many ways, but also linked. For instance, classifying certain plastics as hazardous substances with correlating measures of management such as phase-outs or restrictions on production is an alternative.¹¹⁰

2.2.5 Marine pollution from ships and MARPOL

Marine oil pollution from ships received a considerable amount of attention as a consequence of several substantial oil spills such as the one caused by Torrey Canyon in 1967. The incident resulted in catastrophic environmental damage, including death of approximately 15,000 sea birds as well as many other marine organisms.¹¹¹ This accident was the catalyst for adopting The International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL), a Convention to prevent both operational and accidental oil pollution from ships.¹¹² MARPOL has evolved over time, also including other substances, such as sewage and garbage. Plastic waste is included in MARPOL's Annex V dealing with pollution by garbage from ships (see chapter 3.2.3). Measures addressing oil pollution in MARPOL are however interesting to look to as an inspiration for the management of plastic pollution in the marine environment. This is because plastics enter the marine environment from ships not only as waste, but also for instance fishing

¹⁰⁸ Cimmino et al. (2020)

¹⁰⁹ Worm et al. (2017)

¹¹⁰ Rochman et al. (2013)

¹¹¹ Safety4sea (2019)

¹¹² Safety4sea (2019)

gear, as microplastics from paint and others. Especially measures in the form of technical standards for oil tankers within the Convention have been regarded as successful.

The 1978 MARPOL Protocol was amended with a mandatory equipment standard that required oil tankers of a certain size to be fitted with segregated ballast tanks, a design that was to mitigate oil leakage from the vessel.¹¹³ What made this approach a success, was that the technical equipment standard was combined with an easy and effective compliance control mechanism. It focused on preventing non-compliance in the first place by creating obstacles that were difficult to overwin because many actors were involved in building, approving and insuring new tankers. It also shifted much of the burden of monitoring to non-governmental actors.¹¹⁴ Under MARPOL, any ship trying to enter the port of a MARPOL State Party may be subject to an inspection. What was more, any Party to MARPOL was required to detain a ship that was in violation of the Treaty rules. The Convention further permitted the port state to deny access to tankers that did not satisfy the design requirements. Compliance of this equipment standard is close to perfect, a stark contrast to the performance standards in MARPOL and OILPOL.¹¹⁵ Michell (1994) argues that the reason for this is that discharge standards, being performance standards in nature, were difficult to enforce as those who were likely to detect violations did not have the authority to enforce the rules, while those who had the authority were limited by practical difficulties in detection. This example illustrates that technical standards can be used as a tool to change state behaviour by focusing on primarily changing the behaviour of other actors, as well as indirectly allocating burdens of monitoring to non-governmental actors. As we will see later in this thesis, enforcement of international treaties is difficult because of state sovereignty. Designing treaties that are self-enforcing is therefore important. A treaty that employs measures that are not practically difficult to monitor the implementation of and that gives the authority of enforcement to those who are interested in enforcing a treaty (in this case, port states who would most likely suffer from potential oil leakages were able to detain and deny

access to ships in violation with the rules) will be self-enforcing.¹¹⁶ Employing global technical standards for plastic pollution would likely be a more complex affair because of the wide range of polymers and plastic products being produced. Still, shifting the focus to producers and implementing enforcement mechanisms that somewhat lighten the governments' burden, like a

¹¹³ MARPOL Annex I Regulation 19

¹¹⁴ Mitchell (1994) p. 172-173

¹¹⁵ Ibid. p. 291

¹¹⁶ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 9.8.2

marking scheme, may be of interest on the global scale. This would be a relatively simple first step, easy to implement, as well as efficient if combined with an effective clause for minimum participation, see chapter 4.3.3. Depending on what the technology standards would be imposed on and how, compliance control and monitoring would have to be implemented in a suitable manner. While MARPOLs technology standard was easy to monitor and control because it was imposed on ships that needed to stop at ports of other countries, technology standards aimed at reducing plastic pollution would most likely have to be imposed domestically.¹¹⁷ However, plastics enter the environment in a wide array of ways, making regulating more complicated. It would not be enough to implement one relatively simple technical standard like MARPOL does. Technical standards can however be one of many other measures in addressing the issue. One could think of standards regarding design and marking of fishing gear, design and composition of plastic products and others. Policy makers would have to take scientific evidence of plastic sources and pathways into account and implement standards where they would function most effectively.

2.3 Outline of the key elements of plastic pollution

In the section above, plastic pollution has been compared to a variety of different environmental issues with the goal of identifying elements that this issue consists of. This section will provide a summary of the findings as well as comments regarding the implications of the elements identified.

The first important element of plastic pollution is that it is a transnational issue that arises from collective action. It is thus essential that all, or at least almost all countries participate in addressing it. All countries contribute to plastic pollution to some degree, even if accumulation of plastic waste in the environment may be greater in certain parts of the world. Avoiding free-riders is thus essential. Because of the strong local and regional dimension of plastic pollution this might potentially be easier than for other environmental challenges. Not only does plastic pollution affect all countries across the globe, it also greatly impacts areas beyond national jurisdiction, like the oceans and Antarctica. This makes cooperation regarding the issue even more important.

¹¹⁷ As Barrett (2005-a) points out in chapter 15.3, compliance enforcement is almost unnecessary – once enough countries adopt a standard, no one will have an incentive to break from it
Further, because of their non-biodegradability, plastics accumulate in the environment, and depending on the polymer and additive combination can be highly durable and thus capable of travelling long distances by water or air. Even if successful measures to halt pollution were implemented today, together with vigorous clean-up efforts, the waste that has already found its way into the environment will likely stay there for generations to come, potentially causing issues for future generations. The historic context of plastic pollution may further complicate the cooperation efforts among the world's countries. The global North has historically, in line with its early economic development produced and discarded large quantities of plastic waste, but also implemented better waste management in the last few decades.¹¹⁸ On the other hand, the global South, has likely contributed to less plastic pollution historically, but is currently discarding large amounts of plastic waste into the environment.¹¹⁹ There are clear incentives for all world's national to cooperate in solving this issue – the effects are clearly visible and costly for the world's nations, and there are no natural processes that can help us get rid of the problem.

When identifying key elements of the issue of plastic pollution in the journey of creating a way of managing it, it is essential to acknowledge that plastic is a cheap and widely used material. It has given rise to a huge industry valued at 593 billion USD in 2021,¹²⁰ which is spread across many manufacturers and producers of plastics itself, as well as producers that use plastics in their various products.¹²¹ There is currently no readily available substitute for plastics that is equally cost efficient while still providing the same benefits in such a wide range of uses. Creating change in this context will not only take motivation and goodwill, but strategic thinking. For instance, close cooperation with the industry is necessary.

Further, the degree to which plastics as a material is able to impact human and animal health continues to be uncertain as science is still in its infancy on the subject. The wide range of

¹¹⁸ Ritchie and Poser (2018)

¹¹⁹ Ibid.

¹²⁰ Statista Research Department (2023)

¹²¹ Only in the US, there were 1005 plastic and resin manufacturing businesses as of January 2022, as reported by Statista Research Department (2023-b)

sources and pathways of plastic pollution are currently not sufficiently mapped either, contributing to the gap of knowledge regarding impacts of plastic pollution.¹²² Studies relating to costs of plastic pollution, as well as cost-benefit analysis are also complex and largely lacking. Barrett (2005-a) argues that this is an important factor in whether states will agree to cooperate.¹²³ There is however no doubt that plastic pollution is a human-made problem, potentially making it easier to agree on the need to manage the issue.

Because of the complexities outlined in this section, no single model of management style to completely manage plastic pollution will likely be sufficient. Not only can plastics be compiled of thousands of combinations of polymers, additives and chemicals, the material is so useful that complete bans are likely not desirable. There are also good options for recycling and reuse of the material that in itself need not be harmful to the environment.¹²⁴ This calls for a nuanced approach that is inevitably more complex than a blanket ban or phase-out.

As part of the journey of finding optimal and efficient ways of managing plastic pollution, it is essential to be aware of how the global community has addressed the issue thus far. This will aid the creation of a governance regime that compliments the current management efforts, as well as creates and utilizes synergies between different environmental issues. For this purpose, the next chapter will map the current regulation of plastic pollution on the global scale.

3 THE CURRENT REGULATION

3.1 Questions and method

In this chapter, the current international regulation framework addressing plastics will be explored. Instruments that address plastics and plastic waste directly or implicitly will be examined. Regional instruments of special interest will be mentioned shortly as well. National instruments and policies fall outside the scope of this thesis and will not be explored. The scope of the instrument in relation to plastics will be explored and potential shortcomings and challenges for managing plastics within the respective treaty/regime will be addressed briefly. This

¹²² National Oceanography Centre (2021)

¹²³ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 8.9

¹²⁴ Non-toxic plastics will only be harmful to the environment if they become a pollutant by finding their way into nature. As noted above, some plastics may however be harmful to humans, animals and the environment in use as well if they release toxic chemicals.

analysis will serve as a background for the assessment that will be conducted in the final section of this chapter of whether a new multilateral treaty addressing plastic pollution is needed. Thus, the research questions I will seek to answer in this chapter are the following:

- i. How is plastic pollution currently regulated in international law?
- ii. Is there a need for a new multilateral treaty to address plastic pollution?

The international agreements mentioned in this chapter and this thesis in general, will be interpreted using the principles laid out in the 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (VCLT), articles 31- 33.¹²⁵ The general rule of interpretation provided in article 31 is that the treaty shall be interpreted "in good faith in accordance with the ordinary meaning to be given to the terms of the treaty in their context and in the light of its object and purpose". The Convention offers a text-focused interpretation method, meaning that it is the written text of the treaty that is the main element of interpretation. The text is to be interpreted within its ordinary meaning, unless it is established that the Parties intended a term to have a special meaning.¹²⁶ The context, object and purpose of a term are relevant interpretation elements. In certain circumstances, subsidiary means of interpretation may also be used.¹²⁷ Interpretation of customary law, however, is more challenging, partly because of the contested nature of the subject. Discussion of whether binding international customary law even exists have largely occupied the discussion field for decades. The nature of the process of establishing custom that has evolved gives some scholars reason to dismiss the need for interpretation of customary law altogether.¹²⁸ For the purposes of this thesis, the establishment and interpretation of customary rules will not be purposefully separated or debated. The generally accepted method of establishing the existence of a customary rule will be used. The two elements needed to establish a customary rule are 1) state practice and 2) opinio juris.¹²⁹ In imprecise terms, it means that customary norms are created by state practice accepted as law by states.

¹²⁵ VCLT

¹²⁶ VCLT, article 31 para 4

¹²⁷ VCLT, article 32

¹²⁸ See a discussion on this in Merkouris (2022)

¹²⁹ Sands and Peel (2018) p. 119

Guiding the assessment of whether a new multilateral treaty is needed will be the existing instruments' ability to address the plastic pollution problem in a holistic way. The idea of a circular approach to regulate plastic pollution has become more popular in the last few years. This concept will be explored in more depth in chapter 4.2., but an imprecise summary of the main goal of a circular approach in any context is striving towards sustainability, both in production and consumption. The goal is to keep materials at the highest possible value along the value chain as well as aiming to use less materials altogether. With the concept of circularity, one seeks to reduce consumption and production, promote re-use, repurposing, recycling, as well as manage waste soundly and sustainably. The degree in which the existing regime applies a holistic and potentially circular approach will be discussed in the final part of this chapter.

3.2 Regulation of plastic pollution in international law

3.2.1 Introduction

To date, there is no single legally binding international agreement designed with a primary objective of preventing plastic pollution on land or in the marine environment through the entire plastics lifecycle. There are a handful of agreements that address pollution, from various sources, but none dedicated to plastic pollution specifically. There are several global agreements that in some way may contribute to reducing plastic waste in the environment by trying to reach their own objective. This is rooted in what Young (2002) calls functional interdependencies.¹³⁰ The treaties may be linked functionally, in either bio-/ geophysical or socioeconomic terms, as they in some way affect each other's respective areas. Plastic pollution is one of many types of existing pollutants, and efforts to curb certain chemical pollutants entering the environment may also have consequences on the plastic pollution flows. In the same way, efforts to manage different kinds of waste and their transboundary movement may result in impacts on plastic waste pollution. An agreement that addresses the well-being of marine ecosystems in general terms may also result in rules or practices that impact the plastic flow into the environment. On the flipside, it is likely that efforts with a primary objective to curb plastic waste flow into the environment will grant plenty of consequence in functionally linked issues. E.g., technical standards for plastic products may impact what chemicals can be used in production and may therefore affect the level of discharge of such chemicals into the environment, either positively or negatively. Measures aimed at developing the market for recycled plastics may lessen

¹³⁰ Young (2002) p. 23

the need for virgin plastics and therefore fossil fuels but may at the same time contribute to more shipping of plastic waste, potentially leading to increase in emissions of greenhouse gasses. Hence, it is essential to be aware of potential consequences that different policies and measures may lead to. Further in this chapter a brief analysis of the existing global and regional regulation of plastic pollution will follow.

3.2.2 Global instruments

3.2.2.1 United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS)

The United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea sets out a legal framework to manage all activities carried out in the world's oceans and seas. Its objective is to facilitate international communication, promote the peaceful use of the seas and oceans, the equitable and efficient utilization of their resources, the conservation of their living resources, and the study, protection, and preservation of the marine environment.¹³¹

While the preamble and article 192 reveals a general obligation for states "to protect and preserve the marine environment", more concrete obligations relating to pollution of the marine environment are found in the Convention's article 194, as illustrated below.

UNCLOS article 1(4) defines "pollution of the marine environment" as "introduction by man, directly or indirectly, of substances or energy into the marine environment, including estuaries, which results or is likely to result in such deleterious effects as harm to living resources and marine life, hazards to human health, hindrance to marine activities, including fishing and other legitimate uses of the sea, impairment of quality for use of sea water and reduction of amenities". The provisions in UNCLOS relating to pollution will hence include plastics released into the oceans, as they are a "substance" introduced by humans into the marine environment. Plastic litter and microplastics in the ocean would also fulfil the requirement of it resulting, or likely resulting in deleterious effects mentioned in the article as science keeps providing increasing amounts of evidence regarding the dangers both humans, animals and ecosystems are facing because of plastic pollution.¹³²

¹³¹ UNCLOS, Preamble

¹³² See chapter 1 on a summary of current scientific consensus regarding the effects and potential effects on plastics in humans, animals, and the environment chapter

In accordance with article 194, State Parties are to take "all measures (...) necessary to prevent, reduce and control pollution of the marine environment from any source", and this shall be done using "the best practicable means at their disposal and in accordance with their capabilities".¹³³ This describes what is known as a due diligence standard of care. The concrete content of such a due diligence standard may however be difficult to pinpoint in precise terms. It is an obligation of conduct, rather than result, as expressed by the International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea's (ITLOS) Seabed Disputes Chamber in its advisory opinion in 2011.¹³⁴ All sources of pollution in the marine environmental shall be dealt with, the article expressively naming "release of toxic, harmful or noxious substances, especially those which are persistent, from landbased sources, from or through the atmosphere or by dumping", as well as pollution from vessels, and installations and devices operating in the marine environment. "Toxic, harmful or noxious substances" would include plastic litter, as well as microplastics. Plastic pollution stems mainly from land-based sources, but also originates from ships both operationally and by dumping,¹³⁵ meaning that UNCLOS covers all sources of plastic pollution of the marine environment. States are thus obligated to take action to prevent, reduce and control plastic pollution. In prevention lies action to be taken to ensure that plastics do not end up in the environment in the first place – e.g., by ensuring a sufficiently safe waste management. Reducing pollution entails taking action to minimize the pollution that has already occurred, for instance through clean-up efforts. It is further not enough to implement measures just for the sake of it, if they have no impact on the prevention, reduction and control. The states shall take "all" measures that are necessary to accomplish this. This obligation is however somewhat limited by the fact that these actions shall be taken through "best practicable means at their disposal" and "in accordance with their capabilities". This basically limits the obligations to those actions that provide the most benefit or causes the least damage at a cost that is reasonable.

Article 194 further underscores that measures dealing with pollution shall include "those necessary to protect and preserve rare or fragile ecosystems as well as the habitat of depleted, threatened or endangered species and other forms of marine life".¹³⁶ This indicates that

¹³³ UNCLOS, article 194(1)

¹³⁴ ITLOS (2011), para 110

¹³⁵ UNEP (2021) p. 50-51

¹³⁶ UNCLOS, article 194(5)

measures to address plastic pollution, including the pollution that is documented to cause harm to endangered species like turtles and migratory birds are required from State Parties.¹³⁷

The obligations under UNCLOS relating to protection of the marine environmental and pollution control are not detailed in nature, something that is to be expected from a general framework convention. The Convention does however provide many tools to potentially elaborate on the general obligations relating to specific sources of pollution in articles 207 (from land-based sources), 210 (by dumping), 211 (from vessels flying their flag or of their registry), 212 (from and through atmosphere) as well as pollution connected to seabed activities (article 208) and activities in the Area (article 209). The states are to, inter alia, adopt national laws and regulations for dealing with pollution of the marine environment, ¹³⁸ as well as harmonize their efforts, ¹³⁹ and cooperate in establishing global efforts to protect and preserve the marine environment. UNCLOS also includes extensive options regarding enforcement in respect to different pollution sources in articles 213 – 222. Article 146 of the Convention on protection of human life may also be relevant in the case of plastic pollution, as more and more scientific studies conclude that plastics may pose serious risks to human life and health.¹⁴⁰

UNCLOS is the only international instrument that provides legally binding obligations for States relating to prevention, reduction and control of pollution from land-based sources. The Convention's wide scope gives wide opportunities to regulate plastic pollution within its regime. The above-mentioned articles give solid initial obligations to states relating to pollution, therein plastic. It also contains a rather sophisticated compliance mechanism, allowing disputes to be brought to the International Court of Justice, the International Tribunal on the Law of the Sea, or a tribunal constituted under UNCLOS.

With the currently unsuccessful management of widespread plastic pollution, one may argue that the lack regulation on plastic pollution globally, as well as unsatisfactory results from the domestic regulations that exist, represent a breach in the State Parties' compliance with the mentioned UNCLOS obligations. While the obligation in article 207(1) is designed to demand

¹³⁷ Among endangered wildlife that consume and get entangled in plastic waste include the Pacific loggerhead sea turtles and Hawaiian monk seals, see Matiddi et al. (2017)

¹³⁸ UNCLOS, articles 207(1), 210(1) and 211(1)

¹³⁹ UNCLOS, articles 207(1), 210(1) and 211(1)

¹⁴⁰ UNEP (2021) p. 32 - 37

effort, more than results (states shall adopt laws "to prevent, reduce and control pollution of the marine environment", rather than the obligation being that states shall prevent, reduce and control pollution), other obligations in the Convention are worded in a manner that invites effort that is result-oriented. Article 207(2) expresses that states "shall take other measures as may be necessary to prevent, reduce and control" pollution. Furthermore, the general obligation in article 194 obliges states to take "all measures" that are "necessary to prevent, reduce and control pollution of the marine environment from any source". It is suggested however, that this provision may be limited because of its reference to 'internationally agreed rules, standards and recommended practices and procedures", as these more often than not are lacking, making the due diligence standard broad and rather undefined.¹⁴¹

Moreover, the somewhat vague obligations in UNCLOS are hard to monitor compliance with and non-compliance may be challenging to pinpoint. How diligent does a state have to be to fulfil the obligation of taking all necessary measures? Tackling the whole plastic pollution issue is not a job for one or a couple of states, so how much a single state should do to be in compliance with UNCLOS may be hard to establish. And while dispute settlement within the UN-CLOS regime is available and rather advanced, it is dependent on a state bringing up a dispute against another. This may be ill suited for a challenge like the plastic pollution where the sheer accumulation of the states' lack of action is what leads to the severeness of the issue. Establishing liability, or even the fact of the damage occurred may be difficult. Furthermore, the dispute mechanisms have a reputation of being slow and expensive.¹⁴² There being no less-confrontational non-compliance mechanisms in other MEAs base themselves on monitoring and reporting on concrete actions (e.g., production and consumption of ozone-depleting substances in the Montreal Protocol) bringing us back to the lack of concrete, easily measurable obligations within UNCLOS relating to handling pollution.¹⁴³

¹⁴¹ Carlini and Kleine (2018) p. 234-244

¹⁴² Churchill (2016)

¹⁴³ UNCLOS does have a limited reporting system, but it is reserved only to certain limited matters (e.g. certain kinds of baselines, maritime boundaries, and the outer limits of the EEZ and continental shelf (see Arts. 16, 47(9), 75, 76(9) and 84). These are to be reported to UN Secretary General, who in any case does not have the power to review the information for compliance with the UNCLOS.

However, as UNCLOS addresses pollution in the marine environment from all sources, it does suggest itself as a relevant candidate for a framework convention that plastic pollution could be addressed within. This could for instance be done by adopting a new implementing agreement, such as the Agreement relating to the implementation of Part XI, 1995 United Nations Fish Stocks Agreement or the recently concluded BBNJ Agreement.¹⁴⁴ The main advantage of this approach is that State Parties would not have to start completely from scratch, with the use of time and resources that implies - the objectives and principles under the UNCLOS would follow a new agreement. Moreover, an agreement like this may be ratified by states that are not parties to the UNCLOS as well, e.g., the USA and Turkey. There is however a risk that a new agreement under an already existing regime may inherit some of the less fortunate features of it as well, for instance the UNCLOS' tendency of vagueness or some states' reluctance to join the original agreement. The lack of implementation of Article 207(4) by fourteen of the eighteen Regional Seas Programmes regarding establishing global and regional rules and standards to combat land-based pollution threatens a similar laggard effort in an implementation agreement under UNCLOS.¹⁴⁵ Further, a brand-new agreement would present nearly a clean slate for cooperation between states, as much as such a thing is possible in the global community. More importantly, UNCLOS does not cover plastic pollution in other environments than the marine. Even though much of plastic debris eventually finds its way into the oceans and will therefore be covered by UNCLOS, some plastic debris stays in our rivers, lakes and soil, potentially able to affect health of both humans and the environment. The pollution not affecting the ocean will fall outside the scope of UNCLOS as well as a potential implementing agreement under UN-CLOS. The need to regulate plastic pollution in all ecosystems and environments suggests that a new agreement under UNCLOS may not lend itself to the holistic governance model that is needed.

It has also been suggested to include management of plastic pollution within the new the international Treaty on the conservation and sustainable use of marine biological diversity of areas beyond national jurisdiction (BBNJ).¹⁴⁶ A suggestion like this certainly makes sense consider-

¹⁴⁴ European Commission (2023)

¹⁴⁵ Raubenheimer and McIlgorm (2017) p. 3

¹⁴⁶ Tiller and Nyman, 2018

ing the amounts of plastic pollution entering ocean areas beyond national jurisdiction and accumulating there in massive quantities.¹⁴⁷ It is thus crucial that a new agreement addressing plastic pollution establishes mechanisms not only regarding new plastic flows from areas within states jurisdiction, but also provides provisions aimed at cleaning up the areas beyond national jurisdiction. This is in line with the sentiment expressed in the chapter XI of UNCLOS, defining the Area and its resources as "the common heritage of mankind".¹⁴⁸ However, regulating plastic pollution in the BBNJ may contribute to the piecemeal fashion that the current regulation consists of. The BBNJ Agreement was finally concluded on March 4th 2023 and only mentions plastics in its preamble; "Recognizing the need to address, in a coherent and cooperative manner, biodiversity loss and degradation of ecosystems of the ocean, due to (...) pollution, including plastic pollution, and unsustainable use". If the goal is to regulate plastic pollution through a holistic and circular approach, it may be an advantage to gather the management into one dedicated treaty.

The United Nations Fish Stocks Agreement includes obligations for States to minimize pollution, waste, discards, and catch by lost or abandoned fishing gear (article 5(f)). This is relevant to plastics as most of the modern fishing nets and other gear is made from plastics and is a major contributor of plastic pollution in the marine environment.¹⁴⁹ It is estimated that 2963 km² of gillnets, 75,049 km² of purse seine nets, 218 km² of trawl nets, 739,583 km of longline mainlines, and more than 25 million pots and traps are lost to the ocean annually.¹⁵⁰ The Agreement further provides that States shall set requirements for marking of fishing gear for the purposes of identification for vessels flying their flags in accordance with uniform and internationally recognizable vessel and gear marking systems.¹⁵¹ The agreement currently has 92 Parties, including the European Union.¹⁵² Its main mechanisms of implementation is through establishment of regional fishery management organizations (RFMOs).¹⁵³ Many of these organizations have established measures addressing abandoned, lost or otherwise discarded fishing gear

¹⁴⁷ Plastic waste in the ocean, including areas beyond national jurisdiction, are present in various densities, but a few specific areas have accumulated greater density of plastic waste resulting in so-called «garbage patches». These patches consist of plastic waste, both microscopic and of larger size up to 50 years old, and the waste is accumulating rapidly, see Lebreton et al. (2018)

¹⁴⁸ UNCLOS art. 136

¹⁴⁹ UNEP (2021) p. 38

¹⁵⁰ Richardson et al. (2022)

¹⁵¹ The United Nations Fish Stocks Agreement art. 18 para 3 (d)

¹⁵² UN (n.d.)

¹⁵³ The United Nations Fish Stocks Agreement art. 8 para. 1

(ALDFG), including prohibition of the use of certain gear and/or gear marking requirements. Overall, however, the measures taken to address ALDFG between the RFMOs, as well as Member States are fragmented.

Another possible option to obtain a clarification on the scope and content of obligations relating to managing plastic pollution may be to request an Advisory Opinion from the International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea (ITLOS).¹⁵⁴ While ITLOS may have jurisdiction to address this issue, as plastic pollution is causing severe issues for the oceans' ecosystems, several potential hurdles rise to the surface upon exploring this option further. Firstly, an appropriate authorized body would have to request an Advisory Opinion from ITLOS, which could be any intergovernmental organization as long as it is authorized by or in accordance with the international agreement in question.¹⁵⁵ An example of such an agreement being established is the Agreement for the Establishment of the Commission of Small Island States on Climate Change and International Law (COSIS),¹⁵⁶ that empowered the Commission to request advisory opinions from ITLOS, which the Commission did on 12 December 2022.^{157 158}A similar approach would most likely be needed by states wanting to request an Advisory Opinion by ITLOS relating to obligations regarding plastic pollution, which would certainly be time costly. Moreover, an advisory opinion would not be able to provide the level of detail for the obligations needed to sufficiently manage plastic pollution, but rather a guidance on where states may set the bar and ambition, which could serve or disserve a future agreement dealing with plastic pollution, depending on the stance ITLOS would take.

¹⁵⁴ ITLOS (1997), article 138 para 2.

¹⁵⁵ As established by ITLOS (2015) paras 58–60

¹⁵⁶ COSIS Agreement (2021)

¹⁵⁷ COSIS Agreement (2021)

¹⁵⁸ COSIS (2022)

3.2.2.2 The Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter 1972 (London Convention) and its 1996 Protocol (the London Protocol)

The London Convention of 1972 and its 1996 London Protocol aims to deal with vessel-sourced pollution, meaning pollution stemming from ships, aircraft, platforms, or other man-made constructions at sea.¹⁵⁹ Its main purpose is to prevent deliberate dumping of waste or other matter into the marine environment. The Protocol obligates states to "eliminate" pollution by dumping or incineration at sea.¹⁶⁰ Under the London Protocol there is a general prohibition on the dumping of any waste or other matter at sea, except for those wastes listed in Annex I.¹⁶¹ Dumping of substances and materials not mentioned in the reverse list – such as plastic – is prohibited. This would include plastic waste, as well as other plastic matter.

Interestingly, article 1 of the Convention reveals a somewhat wider scope as states "shall individually and collectively promote the effective control of all sources of pollution of the marine environment(...)".¹⁶² "Pollution" is in turn defined as "introduction, directly or indirectly, by human activity, of wastes or other matter into the sea which results or is likely to result in such deleterious effects as harm to living resources and marine ecosystems, hazards to human health, hindrance to marine activities, including fishing and other legitimate uses of the sea, impairment of quality for use of sea water and reduction of amenities." in the Protocol's article 1 para 10.

Discharge of plastic waste from vessels by dumping is clearly within the Convention's scope. The definition of "pollution" opens up for discharge through other means than dumping as well, as "introduction" has a further reach. It would also include plastic pollution washed into the sea both from marine- and land-based sources, including through rain, rivers, streams etc. This would include dumping or any other release into the environment both "directly" into the marine environment, but also "indirectly". Likewise for microplastics released into the environment through sewage, and the microplastics eventually finding their way into the marine environment. The wording indicates that it is forbidden for states to cause or allow plastic pollution from any source. However, apart from these general provisions with language indicating a

¹⁵⁹ London Convention art. III para 2

¹⁶⁰ London Protocol art. 2, although elimination shall happen «where practicable»

¹⁶¹ London Protocol art. 4 para 1 (1)

¹⁶² Same formulation found in the London Protocol (1996), art. 2

wider scope, the Convention's main aim is to control pollution through dumping of waste, including plastics. It does not regulate other sources of pollution than dumping in its provisions.

A review from 2015 showed that certain matter which is exempted from the ban on dumping, like dredged material and sewage sludge have a high chance of containing microplastics, and thereby be introduced into the marine environment through these streams.¹⁶³ This may shine light on one of the issues of having plastic pollution be regulated only through agreements where plastics as a material with its special properties is not the main focus. The intricate ways our consumption of plastics leads to its leaking in the environment need special consideration. The London Convention has received relatively little support, with only 87 Parties to the Convention and only 47 Parties to the Protocol.¹⁶⁴

3.2.2.3 International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL)

Another global agreement that addresses vessel-sourced pollution is the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships from 1973 (revised in 1978). As the name would suggest, the Convention's objective is to deal with pollution of the marine environment from ships.¹⁶⁵ The Convention regulates pollution by discharge of harmful substances or effluents containing such substances in contravention of the Convention.

Most relevant for plastic pollution is Annex V to the Convention that specifically addresses pollution by garbage from ships and applies to all ships.¹⁶⁶ Annex V specifies the distances from land and the manner in which garbage may be disposed of. The most important feature of the Annex is the complete ban on discharge of all garbage from ships into the marine environment, including all plastics that the Annex addresses explicitly.¹⁶⁷ Fishing gear, being one of

¹⁶³ IMO (2016) p. 3

¹⁶⁴ IMO (n.d.)

¹⁶⁵ MARPOL art. 1

¹⁶⁶ MARPOL, Annex V, regulation 2 and MARPOL, article 2(4) "to all vessels of any type whatsoever operating in the marine environment, from merchant ships to fixed or floating platforms to non-commercial ships like pleasure crafts and yachts."

¹⁶⁷ Ban on discharge of plastics was a part of Annex V since its adoption in 1973, while inclusion of all other garbage, followed with a revision in 2011, unless provided otherwise (exceptions in certain circumstances for food waste, animal carcasses, cargo residues and cleaning agents), see he Marine Environment Protection Committee's resolution MEPC.201(62).

the main sea-based sources of plastic pollution, is included.¹⁶⁸ So are plastic bags, and plastic garbage bags, as well as incinerator ashes from plastic products. Furthermore, if other garbage is mixed with plastic waste, it shall all be treated as it were plastics.¹⁶⁹ Some exemptions apply, including "the accidental loss of synthetic fishing nets", disposal necessary for safety and escape from damage of the ship.¹⁷⁰

Furthermore, a revised version of the Annex sets requirements for a Garbage Management Plan for ships of a certain size. The plan should outline the procedures for minimizing, collecting, storing, processing and disposing of garbage. According to the 2012 Guidelines for the Development of Garbage Management Plans, the plans should be cost-effective, environmentally sound and employ a combination of complementary techniques, including reduction at source, reusing or recycling, onboard processing (treatment) and discharge to a port reception facility. Relating to this, Annex V regulation 8 requires governments to provide adequate port reception facilities for garbage.¹⁷¹ The Annex further provides requirements for a garbage record plan and a garbage record book for ships of a certain size. This shows that the MARPOL regime seeks out a more holistic and sophisticated approach to waste management than a simple ban on discharge. This is a welcome sentiment. Annex V has garnered broad support with a total of 155 governments, representing 98,64% of the world shipping tonnage, having ratified Annex V as of October 2022.¹⁷²

MARPOL has been celebrated to be a widely successful treaty, especially having major positive impacts on pollution of the sea by oil.¹⁷³ It is however not as clear that provisions regarding other waste, including plastics, can celebrate equivalent success. In general, there is little data assessing the effectiveness and compliance with MARPOL. While the reporting requirements are relatively easy to measure compliance with, they do little to tell us whether the application

¹⁶⁸ MARPOL, Annex V, regulation 3(1)(a) «(...)synthetic ropes, synthetic fishing nets and plastic garbage bags(...)"

¹⁶⁹ MARPOL, Annex V, regulation 3(2)

¹⁷⁰ MARPOL, Annex V, regulation 6

¹⁷¹ The IMO's Marine Environment Protection Committee have issued procedure guidance for reporting alleged inadequacies in reception facilities, see MEPC/Circ.469/Rev.1 (2018), and have adopted guides for port reception facility providers and users to ensure the successful implementation and use of reception facilities, the inadequacy of which have been a "long-standing problem", see Marine Environment Protection Committee (2018)

¹⁷² IMO (2023)

¹⁷³ Riviera (2008) and UNEP et al. (1990) p. 22

of MARPOL results in less pollution in the marine environment. This is due to the difficulties in accurately measuring the level of plastic litter in the marine environment. Bergmann et al. (2015) suggests that while some mitigation measures may be effective in reducing the proportional amount of plastic litter entering the environment, it may just not be enough considering the constant increase in the production rate of new plastic products that ultimately become waste.¹⁷⁴

The Convention sets out that States shall establish regulations and appropriate sanctions for non-compliance with the Treaty's provisions, in article 4 (1) and (4). Any ship that is subject to the Convention may be inspected at a port of an offshore terminal of a Party. This is a monitoring measure that is unusually considered too intrusive for international environmental agreements.¹⁷⁵ MARPOL article 6 (1) further obliges State Parties to co-operate in detecting violation and enforcement of its provisions and article 11 requires that Parties communicate information to IMO regarding the implementation of the Convention.

A study from 1991 indicated that there were serious gaps in the State Parties reporting regarding application of the Convention, i.e., discharges of oil or other harmful substances.¹⁷⁶ This makes it harder to measure the effectiveness of the Treaty towards its objective. For reports regarding discharge of garbage specifically, only two countries had sent in reports in 1991 about discharges. This low number could be caused by an array of reasons, e.g., the fact that Annex V first entered into force 1988, or that countries had not detected or reported discharges. The study indicates that some State Parties may not be in compliance with article 6(1) that requires them to use all appropriate and practicable measures of detection of release of harmful substances. There is after all no way of making sure that the information sent in by the State Parties is correct, and no way within the Convention of sanctioning State Parties for not sending in the required information.¹⁷⁷ A study by the Dutch environmental organization The Werkgroep Noorszee in 1989 concluded that there was little chance that ships would be detected in the case of an unlawful discharge at sea. In case of the discharge being discovered, there was much left to be desired in terms of bringing them to justice and giving penalties that were sufficient.¹⁷⁸

¹⁷⁴ Bergmann et al. (2015) p. 15

¹⁷⁵ MARPOL, article 6 (2)

¹⁷⁶ Peet (1992), p. 277-295

¹⁷⁷ Peet (1992) p. 286

¹⁷⁸ Werkgroep Noordzee (1989) in Peet (1992) p. 292

Lack of sanctions make this provision-wise wide and robust treaty toothless and completely at mercy of the State Parties will of reporting and reporting correctly.

The Convention surely establishes a solid regime to manage release of plastic waste from ships into the marine environment. The compliance mechanisms could be developed further to hold countries accountable to a greater degree, such as consequences for not reporting and enrolling requirements for marking. All in all, though, the control measures in the Treaty seek to establish a holistic approach within its scope. The Annex V Guidelines adopted by the IMO in 2012 encourage shipping companies to limit the generation of waste on ships in the first place, but these Guidelines are not legally binding.

Some have argued that extending MARPOL to land would yield positive results for land-based pollution, particularly the sentiment of strict liability for the polluter.¹⁷⁹ With solid mechanisms to ensure accountability, MARPOL principles on land would also be easier to measure compliance with as the problems related to areas beyond any states' jurisdiction would not arise. Problems related to proof that especially arise with potential crimes in the seas, would be easier to deal with in land as well. Practically speaking however, an "extension" of MARPOL to land-based sources would likely have to happen outside MARPOL, in a new treaty or under UN-CLOS for instance, as the Convention's objective is aimed at tackling vessel-sourced pollution, not land-based pollution. Adopting the same principles and designing control measures after the blueprint of the successful provisions in MARPOL in a new instrument is of course possible. The lessons learned from the successful regulating of oil leakage from tankers as illustrated above are especially interesting.

3.2.2.4 The Convention on the Law of Non-Navigational Uses of International Watercourses¹⁸⁰

The International Watercourses Convention regulates the use of international watercourses and their waters for non-navigational purposes. Its article 21 obligates Parties to "prevent, reduce and control pollution". Pollution of an international watercourse is defined as "any detrimental alteration in the composition or quality of the waters of an international watercourse which

¹⁷⁹ First Class Sailing (2018)

¹⁸⁰ The International Watercourses Convention

results directly or indirectly from human conduct" and would include plastic litter and microplastics. Watercourse states shall also take "all measures with respect to an international watercourse that are necessary to protect to and preserve the marine environment".¹⁸¹

While the scope of the Convention would lend itself to entail obligations to prevent plastic pollution entering international waterways, the Convention has only 37 Parties and thus has little chance of impacting the common effort on a great enough scale to make the difference needed.¹⁸²

3.2.2.5 The Basel Convention on the Controls of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Waste and their Disposal¹⁸³

The Basel Convention of 1989 is aimed at reducing the movement of hazardous wastes between nations by requiring Prior Informed Consent (known as the PIC procedure) from the import state before the waste can be exported.¹⁸⁴ It also prohibits all trade of hazardous waste and other waste with non-parties. Its objective as outlined in the Preamble is "to protect, by strict control, human health and the environment against the adverse effects which may result from the generation and management of hazardous wastes and other wastes".

The Convention has its own definitions of the term "hazardous wastes" and "other wastes" found in the various articles and annexes. Plastics was until recently not explicitly defined in any of these. It was not considered "hazardous waste" (Annex I/III), nor "other waste" (Annex II) under the Convention. Plastics could have been included as "Y46 Wastes collected from households", but then only the plastic waste that was collected. Plastic waste that was discarded directly into the street or rivers, would not be included. Another option would have been for a

¹⁸¹ The International Watercourses Convention, article 23

¹⁸² UN (n.d.)

¹⁸³ Basel Convention

¹⁸⁴ The PIC procedure consists of: (1) notification from the exporting country, (2) consent and issuance of a movement document by both parties, (3) transboundary movement of the waste, and (4) confirmation of waste disposal.

State Party to define miscellaneous waste as "hazardous waste" in their own domestic legislation. That waste would then be considered "hazardous waste" under the Convention as well.¹⁸⁵ Otherwise, "solid plastic waste" was among the non-hazardous waste in Annex IX, thereby outside the scope of the Convention.

In 2019 however, the fourteenth meeting of the Conference of the Parties to the Basel Convention adopted the Plastic Waste Amendments to clarify how various types of plastic waste is regulated within the Convention.¹⁸⁶ The new amendments became effective as of January 2021 and are binding for all 190 Parties to the Convention.¹⁸⁷ The amendments do not imply a ban on plastic waste, but rather clarifies how different types of plastics wastes are to be dealt with within the Convention, either becoming subject or not to the PIC procedure.¹⁸⁸ Certain plastics were added to Annex VIII, thereby presumed to be "hazardous waste" and subject to the PIC procedure.¹⁸⁹ Certain types of plastic waste were included in the Annex IX, to be presumed as non-hazardous and therefore not subject to the PIC procedure.¹⁹⁰ ¹⁹¹ Plastic waste, including mixtures of such waste, that are not covered by either of the mentioned Annexes, was further included in the Annex II that defines "other waste", thereby subject to the PIC procedure.¹⁹²

This means that the scope of the Convention regarding plastic waste is now clearer, making it easier to control movement of such waste. Almost all plastic waste transactions involving Basel Parties that do not qualify as uncontaminated single-polymer waste will be subject to the Treaty

¹⁸⁵ Basel Convention, article 1.1(b) that defines hazardous waste as "(a) Wastes that belong to any category contained in Annex I, unless they do not possess any of the characteristics contained in Annex III; and (b) Wastes that are not covered under paragraph (a) but are defined as, or are considered to be, hazardous wastes by the domestic legislation of the Party of export, import or transit"

¹⁸⁶ The Conference of the Parties to the Basel Convention (2019)

¹⁸⁷ UNEP (n.d.-i)

¹⁸⁸ At their fourteenth meeting, the Conference of the Parties to the Basel Convention also established the Plastic Waste Partnership. This is a voluntary partnership open to all member States, with the objective to "to mobilise business, government, academic and civil society resources, interests and expertise to improve and promote the environmentally sound management (ESM) of plastic waste at the global, regional and national levels and to prevent and minimize its generation". The Partnership has so far elected 23 pilot projects to be implemented by governments the private sector, civil society and the Basel and Stockholm Convention Regional Centers.

¹⁸⁹ Basel Convention, annex VIII, new entry A3210

¹⁹⁰ Basel Convention, annex IX, new entry 3011

¹⁹¹ Among the plastic waste not subject to the PIC procedure are those almost exclusively consisting of polymers like PET (polyethelene terephthalate), polyethylene and polypropelene, waste alsmost exclusevly consisting of one cured resin or condensation product like urea formaldehyde resins and epoxy resins as well as an arrey of otherwastes almost exclusively consisting of certain polymers, see UNEP (n.d.-c)

¹⁹² Basel Convention, annex II, new Y48

rules applicable to transfers of hazardous waste. Furthermore, the new amendments mean that trade of plastics with non-parties is prohibited, except for where member States establish agreements with non-parties as provided in Annex XI. The Convention further addresses plastic waste by requiring Parties to ensure that the generation of hazardous wastes is kept to a minimum (article 2(a)) and that there are adequate disposal facilities available for the environmentally sound management of hazardous and other wastes. What entails "environmentally sound management" is defined in the Basel Convention article 2.8: "taking all practicable steps to ensure that hazardous wastes or other wastes are managed in a manner which will protect human health and the environment against the adverse effects which may result from such wastes ".¹⁹³

The Basel Convention relies strongly on the Parties establishing their own measures to implement and comply with the Treaty. The PIC procedure is a solid mechanism for monitoring transboundary movements but may not function as intended in practice because of lack of technical, administrative and financial resources in State Parties, particularly the developing State Parties.¹⁹⁴ Furthermore, there are no mechanisms to enforce liability in case of a Party not following the required PIC procedure, thereby being involved in illegal movement or environmentally damaging transfer of waste. The Basel regime lacks monitoring and enforcement mechanisms which may potentially affect States' compliance.

Moreover, the Convention does not require State Parties to adopt uniform domestic definitions of the important terms under the Convention. This means that there could be certain confusion and uncertainty relating to what plastics will be defined as "hazardous waste" versus non-hazardous waste under the Convention. The amendments stipulate that the difference will rely on whether the plastic waste is "almost free from contamination and other types of waste" and consists "almost exclusively" of one polymer or resin.¹⁹⁵ Experience from rules around electric waste in the Convention shows that the linguistic ambiguities may give rise to major challenges relating to the legal clarity of definitions under the Convention, partially because of the voluntary nature of the technical guidelines established under the Convention.¹⁹⁶ This is an important point to make note of for a future plastics treaty. Linguistic ambiguities have the potential to

¹⁹³ Further guidance is to be found in the various technical guidelines established under the Convention, UNEP (n.d.-k)

¹⁹⁴ Krueger (1998) p. 123

¹⁹⁵ Basel Convention, Annex II, VIII and IX, supra note 4

¹⁹⁶ Khan (2020) p. 200-205

create uncertainties and may contribute to lessening the success rate of a common objective. In the same line of thought, definitions of what plastic waste is and how the different polymers and types of plastic waste should be addressed and controlled should be a part of the treaty, for example within a technical annex. This would aid the creation and maintenance of a uniform global approach.

The Basel Convention is the most comprehensive international tool to date addressing waste management. However, it offers only a small part of the solution to the plastic problem as it deals with a very limited window of the life cycle of plastics. While it is a solid treaty for its scope, it is fundamentally insufficient to deal with the larger problem at hand.

3.2.2.6 The Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants¹⁹⁷

The Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants prohibits or restricts the production and use of persistent organic pollutants (POPs), a type of particularly hazardous chemicals, with the objective of protecting human health and the environment.¹⁹⁸ Additionally, the Convention requires that waste consisting of or containing POPs is managed in an environmentally sound matter.¹⁹⁹

Several of the pollutants listen in the Convention's Annexes are relevant to plastics as they are added to plastic products to give them certain properties. Brominated diphenyl ethers (BDEs) for instance, listed in the Convention's annex A, are added to plastics to make it flame retardant. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), which are often detected in marine plastic litter at a high concentration due to the adhesive property of plastics are listed in Annex A and C.²⁰⁰ The Convention thus contributes to sound management of plastic waste that include these chemicals, reducing the chances of potential human and environmental exposure of the regulated chemicals. The reach of the Convention to plastics and plastic waste is however limited to the chemicals that are listed as POPs. Further, the Convention includes some exceptions regarding the

¹⁹⁷ The Stockholm Convention

¹⁹⁸ The Stockholm Convention art. 1

¹⁹⁹ The Stockholm Convention art. 6

²⁰⁰ UNEP (n.d.-d)

listed chemicals.²⁰¹ The Convention has achieved nearly universal participation with its 196 Parties.²⁰²

3.2.2.7 The Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD)

The Convention of Biological Diversity has an almost universal reach with its 196 Parties.²⁰³ Its aim is to conserve biological diversity.²⁰⁴ The Convention does not directly mention pollution control, but State Parties have adopted several decisions relating to marine litter as it poses a serious threat to various marine species. These include voluntary practical guidance on preserving biodiversity and habitats (Annex).²⁰⁵ Pollution was also addressed in the Aichi Biodiversity Targets,²⁰⁶ but these were widely accepted as not reached by their goal year 2020.²⁰⁷ Plastic as a pollutant was not mentioned specifically in the targets. The Parties have however recently adopted a Post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework that include 23 action-oriented targets that Parties undertake in the period until 2030.²⁰⁸ Under target 7, the Parties are to "Reduce pollution risks and the negative impact of pollution from all sources by 2030, to levels that are not harmful to biodiversity and ecosystem functions and services, considering cumulative effects, including: (...) (c) by preventing, reducing and working towards eliminating plastic pollution." The inclusion of specifically plastic pollution in the Framework illustrates that it has been acknowledged as an important factor in the deterioration of healthy ecosystems. The Frameworks adopted by the Parties are however not legally binding agreements, meaning that it is in practice completely dependent on the ambitions and actions of states.

²⁰¹ While the main rule in the Stockholm Convention is that POPs are not to be recycled, recovered, reclaimed or reused, there has been an exception for the BDEs listed in Annex A, allowing State Parties to recycle articles that contain these chemicals until 2030. It was later discovered that BDEs have been detected in products that are not subject to flammability requirements, suggesting that the presence of these chemicals was unintentional. Parties were urged to ensure that BDEs are not introduced into articles in which the presence of these chemicals would pose a risk of human exposure, in particular consumer products such as children's toys.

²⁰² UNEP (n.d.-j)

²⁰³ Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (n.d.)

²⁰⁴ CBD art. 1

²⁰⁵ The Conference of the Parties to the CBD (2016)

²⁰⁶ Aichi Biodiversity Targets (2010), Stategic Goal B, Target 8 and Target 10

²⁰⁷ Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (2020) p. 4

²⁰⁸ The Conference of the Parties to the CBD (2022)

3.2.2.8 The Convention on Migratory Species of Wild Animals (The Bonn Convention)

The Bonn Convention aims to facilitate cooperation between states regarding the conservation of migratory species, including marine animals, turtles, fish, and seabirds.²⁰⁹ Plastics pose serious risks in relation to entanglement and ingestion to a wide range of marine species, including migratory species.²¹⁰ Minimizing and managing plastic waste is therefore relevant to the conservation of such species.

The Conference of the Parties to The Convention has adopted several resolutions on the management of marine debris, the first one in 2011.²¹¹ A new resolution was adopted in 2014, in which the Parties underscored the knowledge gaps regarding the impact plastic pollution has on migratory species, encouraged Parties to use standardized mythologies in monitoring programmes and invited measures like levies on single-use bags, deposit refund schemes and obligations for the use of reusable items at events for prevention of debris. It further encouraged Parties to address the issue of abandoned, lost or otherwise discarded fishing gear and underscored the importance of public awareness and education campaigns.²¹² Another resolution was subsequently adopted in 2017 to follow up on newly acquired knowledge about plastic debris and its sources, pathways and impacts.²¹³ It especially sheds light on ghost-gear and microplastics and calls Parties to establish and implement policies, frameworks and measures dealing with waste consistent with circular economy concept as well as cooperate on clean-up actions. The Resolution also invites Parties to incorporate quantitative targets of relevance to marine debris as well proposes an array of measures to implement in partnership with the private sector and civil society, such as deposit refund schemes, extended producer responsibility, phase-out of disposable plastics and microplastics in a variety of products among others.

²⁰⁹ The Bonn Convention art. II

²¹⁰ The Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Migratory Species (2017)

²¹¹ The Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Migratory Species (2011)

²¹² The Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Migratory Species (2014)

²¹³ The Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Migratory Species (2017)

3.2.3 Customary law

Legal obligations and norms may arise from bilateral- or multilateral treaties and agreements, but also through a less direct and motivated process, namely custom. Customary international law consists of rules that come from "state practice generally accepted as law" and exist independent of treaty law.²¹⁴ Whether a norm, a rule or a principle has acquired status of a custom obligation, may be difficult to establish. Even more difficult is to pinpoint the precise contents of the rule at any given time as custom is not stagnant, but rather evolves. As identified by Article 38(1)(b) of the Statute of the International Court of Justice, constituting customary international law is "evidence of a general practice accepted as law", meaning state practice and opinio juris.^{215 216}

Principle 21 of the Stockholm Declaration and Principle 2 of the Rio Declaration, expressing the 'no harm' doctrine is widely regarded to have achieved the status of an international customary legal obligation.^{217 218} The doctrine admits that states have sovereignty over their natural resources, as well as a responsibility not to cause transboundary environmental damage, applying to both other states and to areas beyond national jurisdiction.²¹⁹ This principle has also been expressed in several environmental cases before international courts and tribunals, the first one of them being the Trail Smelter Arbitration,²²⁰ and later elaborated on by the International Court of Justice in the Gabčíkovo–Nagymaros and Pulp Mills cases.²²¹

Relating to pollution, including plastic pollution and its transboundary nature, one may argue that states have a positive responsibility to prevent plastic litter flowing outside of their territory into the oceans or into the territory of other states through different waterways and air. Plastics may be consumed and the waste subsequently disregarded (or enter the environment in another

²¹⁴ Alam et al. (2013), p. 17

²¹⁵ Statute of the International Court of Justice

²¹⁶ Sands and Peel (2018) p. 119

²¹⁷ Alam et al. (2013) p. 72

²¹⁸ ICJ (1996) p. 22 par 29

²¹⁹ Principle 21 Stockholm Declaration

²²⁰ "(...)under the principles of international law, as well as of the law of the United States, no State has the right to use or permit the use of its territory in such a manner as to cause injury by fumes in or to the territory of another or the properties or persons therein, when the case is of serious consequence and the injury is established by clear and convincing evidence", United States v. Canada p. 1955

²²¹ Hungary v. Slovakia and Argentina v. Uruguay

matter) in the territory of one state, and then travel across boundaries into the territory of another state. The plastic debris may cause environmental harm in the receiving state, something that could give rise to the argument that the polluting state, by being passive or not diligent enough, is violating the 'no harm' doctrine. According to the 'no harm' doctrine, a state is to prevent, reduce and control the risk of environmental harm to other states, implying a due diligence obligation as expressed by the ICJ in the Pulp Mills case.²²²

Neither principle 21 of the Stockholm Declaration, nor the underlying doctrine itself is however precise enough to outline the exact actions states must take regarding plastic pollution. What exactly is a state obligated to do according to the principle? Is it to not cause "serious consequence" as expressed in the Trail Smelter case? What kind and degree of harm would then constitute "serious consequence" in any particular case? It is therefore likely unfruitful to look for concrete obligations within the doctrine. There is however a strong case for arguing that remaining passive would be violating the 'no harm' doctrine, with potential consequences of liability, although classic issues like establishing causation would likely complicate this.²²³ In practice, one sees that the no-harm principle rather provides a normative context to further negotiations between states than a substantive, enforceable rule.²²⁴

In regard to addressing plastic pollution on a global scale, this could translate into an obligation for states to cooperate with each other to manage plastic pollution in a way that halts the environmental damage it is currently causing and will be causing in the future. Cooperation in itself has been recognized as a "fundamental principle" in international environmental law,²²⁵ contained in Principle 19 of the Rio Declaration.²²⁶ It is widely recognized to be customary international law.²²⁷ What such an obligation entails, in light of a state's sovereign right to act in its own interest and choose to enter or not enter into agreements with other states, is uncertain. It is surely not an obligation of result, but of conduct, much like the due diligence obligation

²²² Argentina v. Uruguay p. 14 para 101

²²³ Percival (2010) p. 42

²²⁴ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 5

²²⁵ Ireland v United Kingdom, para 82

²²⁶ «States shall provide prior and timely notification and relevant information to potentially affected States on activities that may have a significant adverse transboundary environmental effect and shall consult with those States at an early stage and in good faith." (Principle 19 of the Rio Declaration)

²²⁷ Craik (2020) p. 10

within the no harm principle. States would not be obligated to join a treaty to manage plastic pollution, but they might be obligated to engage in meaningful negotiations.

The duty of preventative action was declared to be a "principle of general international law" by the arbitral tribunal in the Iron Rhine case and further confirmed by the ICJ in the Pulp Mills. Article 3 of the draft Articles on Prevention of Transboundary Harm from Hazardous Activities (2001) by International Law Commission requires states to "take all appropriate measures to prevent significant transboundary harm or at any event to minimize the risk thereof".²²⁸ Much like the due diligence obligation of preventing harm, the principle of preventative action focuses on the effort, rather than the result.²²⁹ However, this principle potentially obligated states to engage in additional efforts to minimizing damage and risk of damage, applying not only in territories of other states and areas beyond national jurisdiction, but also within own state territory.²³⁰ Action is further to be taken at an early stage, if possible before damage has occurred. In the context of pollution, including plastic pollution, this principle can be understood as an obligation to not only manage existing pollution, e.g., through clean-up efforts, but to actively prevent damaging pollution, as well as the risk of it. For plastic pollution, this would be efforts to avoid plastics ending up in the environment and risking causing harm and damage. While the instinctual first step to addressing this is sound waste management, it is possible that the obligation to prevent damage also entails addressing plastics at an earlier stage in the value chain, because simply addressing waste management is likely not a sustainable solution. Focusing on minimizing consumption and production would be a part of such efforts. Further, it may entail obligations to ban certain types of polymers and additives to plastic products that pose risk of harm and damage if they were to end up in the environment.²³¹

As Barrett rightly put it however: "Custom can only give a kind of gentle guidance. It can tell countries that they have an obligation to cooperate and that allocations should be "equitable", but it cannot do much more than this. The remedy for a particular transnational externality must instead be determined by the states affected by it, through negotiation."²³² Addressing complex

²²⁸ International Law Commission (2001)

²²⁹ Sands and Peel (2018) p. 210

²³⁰ Ibid. p. 212

²³¹ Banning certain chemicals and additives that are connected to potential harm also before entering the environment for instance may also be a apart of the obligation to prevent harm in this context.

²³² Barrett (2005-b), p. 1460

environmental challenges like climate change, biodiversity loss, as well as plastic pollution is better suited through multilateral environmental treaties, than custom.²³³

3.2.4 General principles of international environmental law

There are certain fundamental principles within international law that are general in the sense that they apply to all states and all activities affecting the environment, as confirmed by the arbitral tribunal in the Iron Rhine case.²³⁴ ²³⁵ While these principles, much like custom rules, render themselves to be difficult to pinpoint the precise legal status of, some of them are assumed to have gained status of custom. With this follow the difficulties relating to the precise contents and parameters of the principle or the rule.²³⁶

The principle of state sovereignty and responsibility to not cause harm is a general principle of international environmental law, as well as custom (see above). Several other general principles that are considered fundamental within international environmental law may possibly be of guidance to states in the pursuit of a management solution to plastic pollution.

The precautionary principle is outlined in the Rio Declaration Principle 15, essentially stating that uncertainty and lack of complete scientific knowledge shall not be used as a reason to postpone or not implement measures to prevent environmental harm. This principle is especially important in the context of plastic pollution, where the potential harm and damage to human health, ecosystems and animals is still highly uncertain. Microplastics especially has attracted a lot of attention in the past decade, and while they have been found in animals, even the most remote environments, as well as human blood, the impacts of microplastics are still unknown. While some small-scale laboratory studies have suggested potential disturbances in the balance of hormonal systems,²³⁷ reliable studies on the impacts of microplastics in humans are still non-existent. The precautionary principle demands that in spite of this, states take action and implement measures to prevent potential environmental harm. How extensive such measures should be however would still be up for question as cost-effectiveness is a consideration – costly

²³³ Rajamani and Peel (2021)

²³⁴ Belgium v. Netherlands, para 223

²³⁵ Sands and Peel (2018) p. 198

²³⁶ Sands and Peel (2018), p. 198

²³⁷ Darbre (2020)

measures that may prevent minimal harm or serious harm that is unlikely to occur may not be reasonable.

Further, an obligation to carry out environmental impact assessments has been developed within international environmental law and was referred to as a "requirement under general international law" by the ICJ in the Pulp Mills case.²³⁸ A state is to undertake such an assessment "where there is a risk that the proposed industrial activity may have a significant adverse impact in a transboundary context, in particular on a shared resource",²³⁹ making it a prerequisite for an exercised due diligence. It was however noted by the Court that international law did not "specify the scope and content" of an EIA. In a later case, Nicaragua v. Costa Rica, the ICJ noted that this obligation does not only concern industrial activities, but "applies generally to proposed activities which may have a significant adverse impact in a transboundary context."²⁴⁰ The implications of this obligation in regard to plastic pollution is however not clearcut. A lack of sufficient waste management for instance is likely not a "proposed activity". One could argue that an approval by a state to build a textile factory that may release microplastics into the environment qualifies as a "proposed activity". How thorough such an assessment should be in regard to releases and risks of transboundary harm is not clear.

The above-mentioned principle of cooperation is considered to be another general principle of environmental law, alongside principle of sustainable development, the polluters pays principle and the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities which will be briefly discussed in chapter 4.2. As illustrated, some of these principles can offer valuable guidance in states' approaches and efforts in dealing with the challenge of plastic pollution both unilaterally and in cooperation with the global community. It is however uncertain whether these principles give rise to more general obligations of action, for instance in the individual states' conduct when negotiated a plastics treaty.²⁴¹

²³⁸ Argentina v. Uruguay para 204

²³⁹ Argentina v. Uruguay para 204

²⁴⁰ Nicaragua v. Costa Rica para 104

²⁴¹ Sands and Peel (2018) p. 198

3.2.5 Voluntary international agreements and standards

Along with the binding legal agreements addressing plastic pollution in some way, there is a wide range of voluntary international efforts supporting reduction and elimination of plastic pollution. Among these are the FAO Code of Conduct for Responsible Fisheries,²⁴² a voluntary code providing standards of good practice for everyone involved with and working in fisheries and aquaculture. The Code prescribes that efforts to protect marine habitats from pollution should be adopted. While the Code is not legally binding in itself, it could become de facto binding for instance through the application of UNCLOS that refers to "internationally agreed rules" in its article 194 (see above). Further, the Honolulu Strategy: A Global Framework for Prevention and Management of Marine debris, developed by UNEP and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) is an effort based on goals and strategies optimized to facilitate worldwide cooperation.²⁴³ The three overarching goals of the Honolulu strategy are: (a) Reduced amount and impact of land-based litter and solid waste introduced into the marine environment, (b) Reduced amount and impact of sea-based sources of marine debris including solid waste, lost cargo, ALDFG, and abandoned vessels introduced into the sea and (c) Reduced amount and impact of accumulated marine debris on shorelines, in benthic habitats, and in pelagic waters. These three goals are accompanied by a set of strategies and potential actions to go along with them.

Efforts to unify methods and standards of data collection are developed by, among others, UNEP with its Guidelines on Survey and Monitoring of Marine Litter providing standardized operational guideline for monitoring programmes and marine litter surveys.²⁴⁴ UNEP's Marine Litter: a Global Challenge provides a number of recommendations for the 13 participating Regional Seas programmes, including the development of a Regional Action Plan or strategy to deal with marine pollution and underlining that mitigation should be global but coordinated at the regional level and implemented at the national level.²⁴⁵

The Global Programme of Action for the Protection of the Marine Environment from Landbased Activities (GPA) established in 1995 is other voluntary efforts supporting management

²⁴² FAO (1995)

²⁴³ The Honolulu Strategy (2011)

²⁴⁴ UNEP/IOC Guidelines on Survey and Monitoring of Marine Litter

²⁴⁵ Marine Litter: A Global Challenge

of plastic pollution.²⁴⁶ Group of 7 and Group of 20 have also engaged in the issue by adopting action plans addressing marine litter. The Oceans Plastic Charter by G7 and others provides a framework to prevent mismanagement of plastic waste and ensure that design of plastics are made to be recovered, reused and recycled.²⁴⁷ The charter has been signed by more than 20 countries and 50 businesses and organizations worldwide.

The Joint Group of Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Environmental Protection (GESAMP) has supported multiple working groups on various components of plastics and microplastics in the ocean which is managed by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization-Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission (UNESCO-IOC) and UNEP. The key objective for the latest working group (2017–2018 period) is to develop guide-lines for the terminology and methodologies for sampling and analysis of macro and micro plastics, which has long been identified as a key gap or challenge.²⁴⁸

While non-binding, these voluntary agreements provide important support for states, industry and other non-governmental actors. They encourage putting in place or adhering to established standards and enable activities that promote a life cycle approach to managing plastics.

3.2.6 Regional agreements

There are several regional agreements addressing plastic pollution as well. Some of them are designed to tackle plastic pollution specifically, and some may impact plastic pollution indirectly. The objectives of the latter group include preventing, reducing and controlling pollution in the marine environments, like the several Regional Seas Conventions. One of them, and the first one, is the 1976 Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment and the Coastal Region of the Mediterranean (Barcelona Convention) that aims to "prevent, abate and combat pollution" from ships, aircraft and land-based sources, as well as "protect and enhance the marine environment" in the Mediterranean Sea Area.²⁴⁹ In 2013, the Mediterranean countries adopted the Regional Plan for Marine Litter Management in the Mediterranean of the Barcelona Convention – the first legally binding regional plan for marine litter management at European

²⁴⁶ UNEP (n.d.-e)

²⁴⁷ The Oceans Plastic Charter

 $^{^{248}}$ GESAMP (n.d.)

²⁴⁹ Barcelona Convention art. 4

Regional Seas Level.²⁵⁰ Regional conventions relating to management of waste or hazardous waste, like the Bamako Convention, may impact plastic waste flows as well.²⁵¹

Within the EU, plastic pollution has received a lot of attention and several policy structures, regulations and standards directly aimed at tackling waste and plastic waste are in place. In 2015, the European Commission adopted the Circular Economy Action Plan that established measures covering the entire products lifecycle – from production and consumption, to waste management and market for secondary raw materials.²⁵² The 2018 EU Plastics Strategy outlined the need for a legislative proposal on single-use plastics.²⁵³ The Single-use Plastics Directive was subsequently passed in 2019.²⁵⁴ The Directive focuses on ten of the most commonly found plastic items in European coastal areas, including straws, cotton buds and single-use cutlery, and seeks to reduce and ultimately eliminate leakage of these items into the environment. The Directive obligates EU States to ensure that manufacturers, producers, retailer, importers and sellers adhere to the various measures in the Directive. The measures include product bans, design requirements, targets for collection and recycling, EPR obligations and awareness-raising measures. Other Directives that may influence plastic pollution flows are the EU Packaging and packaging Waste Directive,²⁵⁵ and the EU Port Reception Facility Directive.²⁵⁶

Other regional efforts aimed at combating plastic pollution include a Regional Action Plan on Marine Litter management (RAPMaLi) for the wider Caribbean Region.²⁵⁷ This plan addresses litter issues in the wider Caribbean basin, supported by the UN's Caribbean Environment Programme. Similarly, the Northwest Pacific Action Plan (NOWPAP) contributes to the global action program that aims to protect the marine environment from land-based activities in the Northwest Pacific Region.²⁵⁸ NOWPAP has developed regional activity centres, including a

²⁵⁰ UNEP (n.d.-f)

²⁵¹ Others include the Bucharest Convention, Helsinki Convention and OSPAR Convention

²⁵² European Commission (n.d.-a)

²⁵³ European Commission (n.d.-b)

²⁵⁴ EU Directive 2019/904

²⁵⁵ EU Directive 94/62/EC

²⁵⁶ EU Directive 2019/883 on port reception facilities for the delivery of waste from ships sets out measures seeking to ensure that more waste is delivered on shore. Among other things, it requires EU Member States to ensure a fee system in order to ensure a right of delivery without any additional charges based on the volume of waste delivered.

²⁵⁷ UNEP (2014-b)

²⁵⁸ UNEP (1994)

coastal environment assessment centre and an emergency preparedness centre to address plastic pollution and other environmental issues within the region.

3.3 Conclusion

As illustrated in this chapter, plastic pollution on a global scale is currently regulated in a highly piecemeal fashion. UNEP has described the current framework managing plastic pollution as "fragmented".²⁵⁹ Global plastic production is increasing and is estimated to reach a cumulative of 34 billion tons by 2050.²⁶⁰ In lack of more effective management than is in place today, plastic pollution may increase accordingly, projected to triple by 2040.²⁶¹ The existing instruments that address plastic pollution focus mainly on regulation of plastic waste, such as MAR-POL and Basel, instead of addressing the issue at an earlier stage of the value chain. This means that the existing and later developed management arrangements will not be able to keep up with the increasing number of plastic products being produced that eventually end up as plastic waste, but also production and consumption. Managing an environmental challenge by addressing the earlier stages of its value chain is used in the ozone regime for instance.

As shown above, there are already considerable efforts being devoted to regional cooperation that addresses the issue. States are also, with varying vigour and success, implementing unilateral measures to curb plastic pollution. A number of countries such as Ireland, Rwanda, Kenya, Chile have implemented complete bans of plastic bags, several other countries have also introduced complete or partial bans for plastic bags, single uses items and packaging. Germany and Norway both have successful deposit return schemes in place for plastic bottles. Many of the measures have only been implemented in the last few years. As such, it may not be fair to conclude that the current regulation regime is not effective in addressing the issue. It is however worth noting that for transnational environmental problems like plastic pollution, both global and regional cooperation is key. Unilateralism is often considered to not suffice in dealing with externalities because of the states' lacking incentives to act in light of behaviours of other

²⁵⁹ UNEP (2021) p. 19

²⁶⁰ UNEP (2021), p. 15, the cumulative plastic production between 1950 and 2017 is estimated to be 9,200 million tons.

²⁶¹ UNEP (2021) p. 14

states.²⁶² As we will see later in this thesis, plastic pollution might have an advantage in terms of getting states to act in face of an externality, because plastic pollution is not a pure externality. It is in states' own interest to curb plastic pollution. Even so, because plastic production, consumption and pollution engage markets on global scale and affects ecosystems across borders, unilateral measures or even regional measures alone are unlikely to be able to solve the problem of plastic pollution. International management, in combination with unilateral and regional management is necessary. It is also important to ensure that unilateral and regional efforts are not negated by continued pollution in other regions.²⁶³

Other than creating a whole new treaty, there are several possible alternatives to the current regulation arrangement. A new implementation agreement under UNCLOS could be possible, but as already discussed it would likely not have the needed mandate to regulate plastic pollution outside of the marine environment or establish an agreement regulating the whole plastic lifecycle. A new plastics protocol under the London Convention is another option, as it mandates regulation of marine pollution from all sources. However, much like UNCLOS, managing plastic pollution in other ecosystems falls outside the scope of the regime, as would creating an agreement managing the whole lifecycle of plastics.

To be able to regulate plastic pollution through a truly holistic manner, addressing the entire life cycle from design to final treatment, a new agreement mandating this kind of regulation is needed. Admittedly, there is currently no lack of treaties and the treaty congestion one sees in international law, including international environmental law, may be an argument against a whole new treaty managing plastic pollution.²⁶⁴ However, addressing the problem of plastic pollution under the existing framework would require massive coordination efforts in regards to targets, implementation, monitoring, reporting ad compliance measures.²⁶⁵ A treaty that addresses all dimensions of the issue, marine- and land based sources as well as chemical control simultaneously is necessary.²⁶⁶ The issue of plastic pollution, as briefly illustrated in chapter 2, has several attributes that makes it a fairly unique case, calling for an agreement that takes these factors into account. Further, a new agreement should be complimentary to the already existing

²⁶² Barrett (2005-a) chapter 3.2

²⁶³ Raubenheimer and McIlgorm (2017) p. 2

²⁶⁴ Sands and Peel (2018) p. 105

²⁶⁵ UNEP (2017) p. 10

²⁶⁶ Tessnow-von Wysicki and P. Le Billon (2019) p. 99

regimes as overlapping and at times conflicting legal and policy mandates are a reoccurring theme in international environmental law.²⁶⁷

In the next chapter, I will examine the possible options for the architecture and design elements for a new treaty, explore the UNEA mandate for a new legal agreement addressing plastic pollution, as well as discuss different treaty mechanisms to incentivize countries' participation in the plastics treaty.

4 ARCHITECTURE AND DESIGN ELEMENTS

4.1 Introduction

As concluded in the chapter above, plastic pollution on the global scale is currently addressed in a piece-meal fashion, lacking a holistic perspective on the issue and in general applying a linear perspective on managing plastics as a material. Today's governance regime lacks a dedicated treaty and has shown itself to be insufficient in addressing plastic pollution in a satisfactory manner in terms of protecting the environment and humans against various associated risks.²⁶⁸ The world's nations have decided that a dedicated treaty is the next step in attempting to manage plastic pollution. Plastics are thus one of the few substances that will be afforded its own treaty.²⁶⁹ This might serve as a point illustrative of the complexity of the issue at hand. As such, now that a global treaty to address plastic pollution is on its way, it is crucial to be mindful of how the agreement will be crafted in order tackle this complex challenge. The research questions I will seek to answer in this chapter are the following:

- i. What are the architecture style options for a new plastics treaty?
- ii. Is it possible for a treaty to achieve wide participation without sacrificing depth?

²⁶⁷ Scott (2011)

²⁶⁸ UNEP (2021) p. 14

²⁶⁹ International environmental agreements tend to regulate ecosystems (e.g. UNCLOS regulating the marine environment), overarching problems (e.g. UNCCC for climate change), or groups of materials (e.g. Stockholm Convention regulating persistent organic pollutants), rather than one specific material. Mercury is one of the few substances that is regulated in its own dedicated regime, through the Minamata Convention on Mercury.

iii. What are the design elements that may incentivise participation in a new plastics treaty without sacrificing its effectiveness?

The first point that must be addressed when designing the treaty regime is the fundamental order of our international society. Because of the decentralization of authority in the international sphere, states must cooperate to find solutions to transnational environmental problems. State sovereignty renders it impossible for one government or institution to impose obligations on other states that they themselves have not agreed to. Nor is there a world government or a higher authority to enforce an agreement between states. This makes it difficult to deal with transnational externalities in a way prescribed by the Coase theorem.²⁷⁰ Therefore, there must be a strong enough incentive for a state to join an international agreement, in this thesis referred to as participation incentives. States must subsequently also comply with the agreement's obligations, calling for compliance incentives.

The primary objective of this chapter is to find a way to incentivize states to join a plastics treaty, instead of choosing to free-ride. Free-riding means that a state chooses not to cooperate in the collective endeavour of tackling an environmental challenge by not joining an international agreement, but still being able to reap the benefits of such an agreement. For instance, if a state decides not to join a plastics treaty that requires from its parties to implement various measures aimed at reducing plastic pollution in the world's oceans, including areas beyond national jurisdiction, the state in question may still be able to enjoy the benefits of other states' efforts in the form of there being less plastics in the ocean. This would be the case regardless of whether the state itself has either implemented only unilateral measures, or none at all. Free-riding is attractive because a state is able to enjoy the positive impacts of the commitments and behavioural changes of other states. It is however an issue for treaties that has a goal of reaching a large number of participants.²⁷¹ To be able to tackle an issue which most of the world's countries participate in creating, such as plastic pollution, it is essential to attract as broad participation as possible. As will be discussed below though, the innate nature of the issue of plastic

²⁷⁰ Guzman (2005)

²⁷¹ Barrett's theory illustrates that there is a complicated system to deterring free-riding in agreements addressing issues where cooperation would yield great gain. The appeal to free-tide is great, and so is the incentive to punish the free-riders. However, the threat of punishment will harm the punishers themselves, therefore the threat of punishment might not be credible. A threat that is not credible, is little use. See Barrett (2005-a), chapter 7.20, "For a global resource, non-participation by just one country will normally affect all the others very little, making only small punishments credible."

pollution itself may give some incentives for states to join a treaty. Nevertheless, the negotiating states have an array of different options available when it comes to the architecture of the treaty, the design elements and control measures. All of these are elements that may impact states' willingness to join a new treaty.

In this chapter, I will seek to identify viable options for the architecture of a new treaty to address plastic pollution, as well as design elements that may incentivize states to join the treaty. The analysis will be guided by issues that typically arise when one seeks to regulate environmental problems through international agreements, specifically relating to design. The specific features of the issue of plastic pollution, as mapped in chapter 2, will further be used to align the design elements to fit with the specific challenge at hand. I will start off this chapter by briefly exploring the UNEA mandate concluded by the UN Member States in March 2022. The mandate indicates some elements that the new plastic treaty may have and I will specifically explore the mandate's guidelines on architecture, treaty objective national action plans, principles, and circular approach. In doing so, I will also explore the possibilities for implementing these elements in the new plastics treaty.

4.2 Exploring the UNEA mandate

After many years of groundwork by various states and stakeholders, the UN Member States came to a landmark agreement in March 2022 to start negotiating a new agreement to tackle plastic pollution.²⁷² This was a hugely anticipated and welcome step towards controlling a major polluter of the world's oceans and overall environment. The UNEA Resolution "End plastic pollution: towards an international legally binding instrument", adopted in Nairobi at the fifth session of UNEP set out a mandate to convene an intergovernmental negotiating committee (INC) to begin its work towards "an international legally binding instrument on plastic pollution, including in the marine environment". The ambition is for the work to be concluded by the end of the year 2024. The mandate is not a legally binding agreement between any states but is typically an important guidance in the negotiation process and formulation of a treaty text. The states participating in the negotiations may ultimately choose a differing path regarding any of the elements prescribed in the mandate. It is nevertheless an important starting point for the intergovernmental negotiating committee and thus interesting to examine.

²⁷² UNEP (2022-a)

4.2.1 Architecture and design

The architecture and design of a treaty can be a contested matter among negotiating states. The reason is that these components may be described as the foundational grounds of a treaty. It will largely impact what kind of obligations, if any, states will subject themselves to. It may be decisive for whether states will want to bind themselves to the treaty, and if so, whether they will then comply with its obligations. Further, architecture and design choices decided upon early in the creation of a convention are difficult to reverse and can have significant and farreaching implications for the agreement. It is thus essential to afford the subject great consideration when crafting a treaty. When it comes to the nature of the agreement, the mandate calls for a "legally binding instrument". The mandate does not decide what kind of structure and architecture the instrument should have. This means that the negotiating states stand rather free regarding the structure of the treaty. It is thus relevant to explore the options available.

The different ways of structuring an international agreement, the overview of which is not intended to be exhaustive, is what I intend to refer to when I talk about the "architecture" of a treaty. It means the structuring and "organization of the constituent parts of a legally binding instrument that enables those parts to function as a whole".²⁷³ What is meant by "design" of a treaty in a broader meaning in this thesis, is the way in which the agreement is meant to look like on the level "above" the architecture – including the objective, the type and nature of the control measures, the way in which the treaty seeks to alter behaviour (if at all), potential implementation assistance, monitoring mechanisms etc.

The main models of architecture described in the following section are not mutually exclusive and a combination of the features mentioned is possible, as well as other models altogether. Parties can decide upon a framework plus protocol structure, like The Vienna Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer. This kind of a convention creates a regime outline and may include some general obligations, objectives that the parties have agreed upon as well as other elements. The specific regulations and measures would be found in the following protocol(s), here the Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer. Another example of a framework plus protocol treaty structure is The UN Framework Convention on Climate Change

²⁷³ UNEP (2010) para 2
with the following Kyoto Protocol. An important consequence of this kind of structure is that the convention and the protocols must be ratified separately. This can either be a pro or a con depending on the specific issue at hand and the political context. Where the issue at hand requires broad cooperation and will demand significant change is states' behaviours, potentially having major impact on their industries, production and economy, a step-by-step cooperation process may be less threatening. It may be more likely to attract participation in the treaty than an all-or-nothing approach of a single instrument containing obligations that may seem too heavy all at once. A structure with a framework convention supplemented with protocols would also be more flexible in light of evolving science regarding plastic pollution, see chapter 2.

A different option is to adopt a treaty that itself includes substantive control measures – obligations for states to take specific actions or reach specific goals or targets, a so-called specific treaty. One can choose between a treaty that includes all the specifications or a more concise variation with the technical specifications and details in annexes. The convention and the annexes are one integrated part of a whole and do not have be adopted separately. Yet another option is to adopt a so-called umbrella convention. Such a convention is concise in its form, and does not provide substantive measures, but leaves them to be described in affiliated annexes. Finally, countries can opt for a treaty that does not employ protocols or annexes at all, but include all of the control measures as well as the technical details in the main body of the treaty. The latter form is however rarely used, as it can easily lead to unnecessarily long treaties that may be difficult to navigate.

The UNEA mandate does not specify what kind of structure the "international legally binding instrument on plastic pollution" should have. It does however indicate some provisions that the INC is to include in the treaty. For instance, the mandate's para 3 specifies provisions of the type which would facilitate a treaty regime building, such objective of the treaty in letter (a), as well as letters (g) and (h) to "assess" the implementation and effectiveness of the instrument in reaching the objective, "specify" arrangements for assistance in letter (n) and "address" compliance in letter (p).²⁷⁴ Point 3 does not decide that concrete obligations and measures supporting the objective is to be included in the agreement but decides to "develop" and "promote"

²⁷⁴ Other provisions are to "promote" sustainable production and consumption of plastics (b), "promote" national and international cooperative measures(c), "promote" research into approaches (o) as well as "encourage" cooperation and coordination (k) and "increase" knowledge.

national action plans. Parties are to "consider" obligations, see para 4 of the mandate. The negotiating states could thus choose to establish a framework convention without concrete measures in the framework body, but rather in following protocols for instance. The mandate decides that the instrument "could" include "both binding and voluntary approaches".²⁷⁵ This opens the possibility for a specific treaty as well – a treaty with substantive provisions in the treaty body.

Some more guidance regarding the architecture of the new treaty is provided in a document issued prior to the first INC in November 2022 by the UNEP Secretariat, outlining the options for the structure of the plastic treaty.²⁷⁶ The two broad options proposed in this document were a) a specific treaty and b) a framework treaty. UNEP highlights that a pro of a specific treaty model is the ease with which the parties may adapt to changing circumstances by amending or adjusting annexes or amend the convention body. The main pro of a framework treaty is the fact that the parties may address the issue at hand in an incremental manner, without having to wait for consensus on all appropriate measures. This seems like an especially important factor for a treaty addressing as complex of an issue as plastic pollution that is meant to be concluded after only two years of negotiations. The chances of a large number of parties being able to consent on a specific model treaty with additional annexes within such a tight timeframe seem slim.

However, there is some empirical evidence that treaties designed after a framework model have generated a lesser degree of cooperation than other models of agreements.²⁷⁷ Others claim that the framework model is the superior way of structuring international environmental agreements, as it may address the challenges with the international legislative process, serving as a catalyst for the further law-making process.²⁷⁸ ²⁷⁹ Yet others acknowledge that while the framework model can contribute in remedying challenges with fragmentation and enable parties to respond to scientific and technical changes, the model alone will not overcome bigger issues regarding

²⁷⁵ UNEP (2022-a)

²⁷⁶ UNEP (2022-b)

²⁷⁷ Downs et al. (2000)

²⁷⁸ Bodansky (2010) p. 186

²⁷⁹ Brunnee and Toope (1997) p. 28

cooperation and political hindrances.²⁸⁰ As UNEP expressed in its document outlining the options for structure of the plastic treaty, the success of a framework convention is dependent on the parties' willingness to negotiate and adopt subsequent protocols.

Ultimately, while the architecture of the plastics treaty should be carefully considered, it will likely not be the decisive factor for whether the treaty will end up being regarded as successful or not. The type of control measures, design elements regarding implementation, financial and technical support and compliance will likely be of a greater significance. The fact that the mandate calls for a "binding" instrument may however indicate that voluntary approaches, or legally non-binding norms, principles or goals alone may not suffice. This is already implicit in point 3 letter (n) where INC is to "specify" arrangements for assistance – a provision that would bind parties to certain obligations to offer assistance. Whether this would be a substantive or procedural obligation is unclear but would have great significance in how it would be implemented. A substantive obligation would call for a concrete goal or target of the level of assistance that is to be provided, thus making it more clear for states what to expect, both ones that are to offer and receive assistance. A procedural obligation could for instance entail an obligation to provide information on projected levels of finance or technology support/transfer - or a reporting obligation on how much support has been made available in a given period. This way the obligation would not be tied to the providing of the funds itself. It is thus clear that an "empty" treaty only providing non-binding norms, goals and objectives is not an alternative in line with the mandate. However, vague commitments to offer assistance without any facilitation of the further action would in practice pose a risk of empty promises. The same goes for other provisions with ambiguous language that potentially weaken the perceived legal bindingness of a provision, e.g. formulations "as appropriate", "as far as possible" etc.

4.2.2 Objective of the treaty

The objective of a treaty is an important element to consider as it will largely define the mandate and scope of the agreement. It will also guide the interpretation of a treaty, as provided in the Vienna Convention on the Law of the Treaties, article 31.²⁸¹ Further, states may not act in a

²⁸⁰ Winkler (2019)

²⁸¹ As illustrated by Jonas and Saunders (2020), the term «object and purpose» used in the VCLT has a somewhat ambiguous definition. This issue will not be discussed here, as the term «objective» is used in a narrower meaning and is understood as the «intention», «goal» or «raison d'être» of the treaty.

way that would «defeat» the «object and purpose» of the treaty after signing the agreement.²⁸² While some treaties have an article dedicated to specifying the objective(/s) of the instrument, others have no such provisions and the objective can be implicitly inferred from the preamble. The UNEA mandate stipulates that the INC is to «specify the objectives of the instrument», meaning that the plastics treaty likely will include a specific provision dedicated to the (potentially several) objectives. The mandate does not offer guidance as to what these objectives could be, although some direction can be found in the mandate's wording that the INC is to develop an international legally binding instrument «on plastic pollution, including in the marine environment» and that it should be «based on a comprehensive approach that addresses the full cycle of plastic». The mandate also affirms the need to take immediate action "towards the long-term elimination of plastic pollution in marine and other environments, and to avoid detriment from plastic pollution to ecosystems and the human activities dependent on them". It is important that the objective of a new treaty is broad enough to be able to address the issue of plastic pollution in a comprehensive manner, but not so broad as to risk losing its legitimacy among states. A broad-ranging, poorly defined objective may leave parties in doubt about what is expected of them. It may also suggest an overly high price of sovereignty to be given up if a state was to join. While it is the control measures that will determine what exactly is expected from the parties, the objective should be as concrete and realistic as possible as not to leave any doubt about the collective goal to which the parties have agreed to. On the flipside however, the objective should not be so concrete as to seriously limit the scope of the treaty and the potential for a dynamic treaty.

A working document by the INC proposes three possible statements for the objective of the instrument: "(a) End plastic pollution; protect human health and the environment from its adverse effects throughout the life cycle of plastic, (b) Protect human health and the environment from the adverse effects of plastic pollution throughout the life cycle and (c) Reduce the production, use and discharge of plastics across their life cycle, including through the promotion of a circular plastics economy with a view to ending plastic pollution by X year and protecting human health and the environment from its adverse effects."²⁸³ All of these suggestions are fairly concrete, although the final objective would likely benefit from using parts of each of them. Alternative (a) proposes a very specific long-term goal of ending plastic pollution, which

²⁸² VCLT art. 18

²⁸³ UNEP (2023-b)

provides the treaty with a wide enough scope to implement a variety of measures, a feature that is missing from suggestion (b). Alternative (c) also offers the same long-term goal of ending plastic pollution, but additionally includes a deadline by which the goal should be reached. This is a further concretizing of the goal and may provide a certain sense of urgency, although the suggestion at the same time uses a slightly weaker language: "with a view to ending plastic pollution" as opposed to simply "to end plastic pollution by X year". Suggestion (c) also highlights reduction of "production, use and discharge of plastics across their lifecycle" as the first, and seemingly primary objective, the goal to end plastic pollution following as a consequence, rather than the primary goal itself. The treaty would likely benefit from a specific long-term goal, such as the ending of plastic pollution by a given year as a primary objective, followed by partial goals and actions, such as the reduction of production, use and discharge of plastics across their lifecycle. The language used should however not limit the parties to the actions and partial goals described in the objective in order to facilitate potential further development of a dynamic treaty.

4.2.3 National action plans

Moving forward, the mandate puts great emphasis on national action plans as a core component of the new treaty. The Parties are to "develop, implement and update" national action plans that will reflect the Parties' "country-driven approaches to contribute to the objective of the instrument".²⁸⁴ This formulation may hint to the instrument establishing a bottom-up type of approach, where it will specify the objective but the manner in which the objective will be reached is up to the contributions that the Parties decide to put forward. Further, the instrument is to "promote national action plans to work towards the prevention, reduction and elimination of plastic pollution, and to support regional and international cooperation".²⁸⁵

While this mechanism puts great emphasis on the domestic dimension of addressing the issue, national action plans do not need to be evidence of a treaty that leaves the Parties to their own devices in reaching a general overall objective of the agreement. A treaty could establish a mechanism that binds the Parties to their respective NAPs. The downside of such an approach would be that Parties may potentially be too careful with their ambition level and only commit

²⁸⁴ UNEP (2022-a)

²⁸⁵ UNEP (2022-a)

to modest targets and actions. However, if accompanied by specific overall objectives and targets as well as mechanisms aimed to unify and hold Parties accountable, national action plans could prove to be an important and solid measure within the plastics treaty. Some countries have already developed and started implementing national action plans for managing plastic pollution using different approaches,²⁸⁶ but coordination is needed if they are to serve the collective goal of addressing plastic pollution through a circular approach successfully. Experience from other international environmental agreements shows that affording parties great flexibility in establishing national action plans potentially comes at the expense of comparability. For instance, the CBD requires its Parties to develop National Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plans (NBSAPs) using the Aichi Biodiversity Targets as a flexible reference. However, it failed to specify the targets Parties should use and has thus weakened the comparability of the plans.²⁸⁷ ²⁸⁸ Under the new Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework however, the Parties are to revise and update their NBSAPs "reflecting, as applicable, all the goals and targets of the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework" in accordance with a template provided in the decision.²⁸⁹ The Parties have thus taken a step towards standardization of national reports, although the means of verification are still incomplete. Lack of guidelines on how Parties are to design the plans, coordination on measurement units and methods will make the plans difficult to compare and summarize in order to account for overall action and progress. The Paris Agreement requires its Parties to prepare nationally determined contributions (NDCs) for emission cuts and while mechanisms like progression are an important step in holding the Parties accountable, issues have already risen with the Parties turning in contributions using different approaches making comparability difficult. If the national action plans do not use the same types of measurement units and approaches to define targets, it is virtually impossible to create a holistic overview and make predictions. It also makes data collection and analysis more difficult. Thus, flexibility mechanisms to account for national priorities and circumstances like national action plans should be accompanied by mechanisms to ensure progression, transparency, policy coherence and measurability.²⁹⁰

²⁸⁶ E.g., Thailand's Ministry of Natural resources and Environment (2020), «National Action Plan on Plastic Waste Management 2021–2030» and The Norwegian Ministries (2022) «Norwegian Plastics Strategy»

²⁸⁷ Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity (2010)

²⁸⁸ Rubenheimer and Urho (2020) p. 66, 67

²⁸⁹ Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity (2022) nr. 6, 7 and Annex I

²⁹⁰ Rubenheimer and Urho (2020) p. 70

Although the mandate is not legally binding, national action plans will likely have a role in the new plastics treaty as it can be a useful instrument for the Parties to assess their status on the issue, capabilities and priorities. National action plans could however be combined with other types of management styles. Combining national action plans, whether they would be binding or not, with other models of mechanisms and control measures could make for a convention that is able to address the issue at hand in a successful manner while leaving some autonomy for the Parties as well. The mechanism of national action plans may for instance be combined with collective goals or targets, utilizing so called incentive mechanisms to encourage states to reach them. This approach allows actors to choose how to reach targets and goals and do it in an effective matter that maximizes the benefits (/minimizes costs). The treaty could for instance provide targets relating to degree of recycling of plastics consumed but leaving the specific control measures up to the Parties.²⁹¹ An approach moving further away from a "top-down" model would be to formulate the goals in even more general terms such as to "implement sound waste management" or even more flexible goal of "eliminating plastic waste flows into the environment" and leaving the concrete measures up to the Parties, potentially providing a menu of regulatory options, like the Minamata Convention on Mercury. A somewhat different approach using targets and goals would be to negotiate differentiated goals and targets, although this might be challenging for states to agree upon.

Another type of measures are the so-called command-and-control measures that require actors to take specific actions. An example of an environmental agreement which incorporates command-and-control measures is MARPOL with its requirement for oil tankers to be equipped with segregated ballast tanks. A somewhat similar mechanism of requiring countries to implement certain design standards for plastic products has been suggested by UNEP, expressing that "agreed measures on product design would reduce the challenges of managing plastic waste, which often occurs in a region other than where the products were designed."²⁹² These types of measures leave less flexibility to the parties but can be combined with national action plans. The treaty could for example provide a design standard requirement or require a ban on certain plastic products, polymers and additive combinations, and parties could themselves supplement

²⁹¹ Recycling contributes to turning plastic waste into a resource, making it possible to use it again, and is thus an important component of the plastics circular economy model, although not ale sufficient to deal with the issue of plastic pollution, see Ellen Macarthur Foundation (n.d.-a)

²⁹² UNEP (2022-b)

this with binding or non-binding targets, for instance relating to the degree of recycled plastics used in plastic products.

4.2.4 Principles

The mandate refers to the principles of the Rio Declaration on Environmental and Development,²⁹³ both reaffirming the Rio Principles and calling for the instrument to "take into account" the principles as well as "national circumstances and capabilities".²⁹⁴ The Rio Declaration, adopted by 178 UN Member States in 1992, represents a "series of compromises between developed and developing countries and a balance between the objectives of environmental protection and economic growth".²⁹⁵ It endorses 27 principles recognizing the indivisibility of humans and the Earth. The principles acknowledge the centrality of human beings to the concerns of sustainable development (principle 1), the sovereign right of states to exploit their natural resources, although limited by the responsibility to not cause damage to the environment of other states (principle 2), as well as the right to sustainable development (principle 3), with environmental protection as an integral part of such a process (principle 4). Principle 8 encourages elimination of "unsustainable patterns of production and consumption", a focal point in developing a management arrangement using a circular approach (see below).

Principle 7 in the Rio Declaration underscores that States have "common but differentiated responsibilities" when it comes to conserving, protecting, and restoring the health and integrity of the Earth's ecosystem. "Common" implies that the responsibility is shared by every State, while "differentiated" underscores that not all countries shall contribute equally. The principle crystallised provisions in earlier agreements that encouraged and incentivized universal participation and cooperation by using differentiated standards and grace periods as well as financial mechanisms to aid covering some of the costs incurred by implementing treaty obligations.²⁹⁶ Already twenty years earlier, The Stockholm Declaration (1972) endorsed "taking into account the circumstances and particular requirements of developing countries and any costs which may emanate from incorporating environmental safeguards into their development planning and the

²⁹³ The Rio Declaration (1992)

²⁹⁴ UNEP (2022-a) para 3

²⁹⁵ Sands and Peel (2018) p. 41

²⁹⁶Sands and Peel (2018) p. 43

need for making available to them, upon their request additional technical and financial assistance for this purpose."²⁹⁷

Traditionally, CBDR has especially had a role within the climate change management sphere as the contributions to the global greenhouse gas emissions historically have been uneven between "developed" and "developing" States.²⁹⁸ The UNFCCC was the first multilateral environmental agreement that included the CBDR principle unambiguously in those words, article 3(1) providing that "[t]he Parties should protect the climate system (...) on the basis of equity and in accordance with their common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities". The principle thus charges developed nations with more responsibility as they historically have had a higher impact on the environment due to processes of industrialisation and having greater financial and technological capacity. The notion of differentiation was truly embraced by the Kyoto Protocol that did not include any obligations for developing countries (or more precisely non Annex I countries) to reduce their emissions, arguably at the expense of the "common responsibility"-part of CBDR. What is more, the implementation of obligations by developing countries has in some agreements made contingent by the developing countries providing financial resources to support this.²⁹⁹

It is thus interesting to consider how CBDR is relevant in the case of plastic pollution. Both developing and developed countries contribute to plastic pollution of the environment, though in different ways. While production and consumption of plastics per capita is greater in developed countries,³⁰⁰ the direct discharge of plastic waste into the environment is greater in developing nations,³⁰¹ each of them thus contributing to the issue in different ways.³⁰² High-income countries have and still are exporting parts of their plastic waste to mid-and low- income countries with poor waste management infrastructure leading to high levels of mismanaged waste.³⁰³ Thus there is a historical dimension to plastic pollution that may be relevant for the CBDR principle as well.

²⁹⁷ The Stockholm Declaration (1972)

²⁹⁸ UNFCCC Preamble

²⁹⁹ UNFCCC art. 4 nr. 7

³⁰⁰ Two-thirds of the world's plastics are consumed within OECD countries and China, see OECD (2022)

³⁰¹ Meijer et al. (2021) estimates that as much as up to 80% of plastic waste emitted into the ocean comes from Asia, on the top of the list being Philippines, Malaysia and Sri Lanka (Ritchie and Roser (2018))

³⁰² Ritchie and Roser (2018)

³⁰³ Ritchie (2022)

The CBDR principle is however not exclusively intended to acknowledge the historic aspect of an issue – this is just one part of the principle. The current situation of an issue and a state's capabilities and circumstances are also key factors within the principle. Illustrative of this are the privileges UNCLOS grants to developing and fish-dependent nations due to geographical and economic differences between countries.³⁰⁴ The UNEA mandate references "national circumstances and capabilities", a formulation likely borrowed from the phrase "common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities, in light of different national circumstances", first adapted in the Paris Agreement to symbolize the shift from a purely historic perspective on emissions, to a perspective considering current situation as well.^{305 306} The formulation may likely be used to draw focus away from the ever-contested part of the CBDR principle, which is the historic dimension of it and aimed to draw attention to the current situation. This is extremely important for being able to manage plastic pollution on a global scale as not only does the issue of plastic pollution manifests in different ways across the globe, the capacities and priorities of the world's nations are widely differing.

The UNEA Mandate further implicitly acknowledges the CBDR principle by "recognizing that the effective implementation of some legal obligations under the instrument will depend on the availability of capacity-building and adequate financial and technical assistance".³⁰⁷ However, making the obligation to implement the treaty by developing countries dependent on financial aid provided by developed countries has the potential to create a gridlock and hinder the important notion of a "common" responsibility. This is especially important because the whole dichotomy of "developed" and "developing" countries is currently contested as well, being that many states that were considered developing or economies in transition have experienced substantial growth in the last two decades. While the above quoted part of the Mandate does not refer to "developed" and "developing" countries, the Mandate does acknowledge this dichotomy in its para 2., stating that "some legal obligations arising out of a new international legally binding instrument will require capacity-building and technical and financial assistance in order to be effectively implemented by developing countries and countries with economies in transit

³⁰⁴ UNCLOS art. 69, 70

³⁰⁵ The Paris Agreement (2015) Preamble, article 2 para 2., article 4 para 3.

³⁰⁶ Voigt and Ferreiera (2016) p. 66

³⁰⁷ UNEP (2022-a) point 3 (n)

tion". While this dichotomy may be difficult to leave behind, the notion of the "common" responsibility to tackle this issue should be the main focus. Making some countries' legal obligations dependent on other countries' willingness to provide assistance may not serve the goal of an effective treaty. This is not to say that financial assistance and technology transfers should not be a part of the treaty, on the contrary. The importance of financial assistance and technology transfer as a form of implementation assistance will be discussed below. If such dependence is established, the developed countries' obligations to provide assistance should be specified and outlined in order to avoid unnecessary stagnation in implementing the treaties provisions.

Differentiation can also be done in many other ways, depending on the types of control measures the treaty implements. For instance, the Montreal Protocol grants developing states more time to implement the phase out of CFCs.³⁰⁸ If certain additives or combinations of polymers were to be prohibited in the plastics treaty, a certain grace period could be granted to developing countries. The 1990 Amendment to the Montreal Protocol created a Multilateral Fund for the Implementation of the Montreal Protocol, an option that would likely be suitable for the plastics treaty as well.³⁰⁹ Taking into account national circumstances also includes taking into account the specific issues a state is facing in regard to the environmental challenge. As discussed above, different countries are struggling with different aspects of plastic pollution. Taking these differences into account is thus an important part of "national circumstances and capabilities". A new treaty model that has the potential to address these differences on a regional level will be proposed and discussed below. This management model would further fit into the development towards more tailored and nuanced differentiation that Rajamani and Peel (2021) point out as desired, rather than one based on the well-known yet contested dichotomy of "developed" and "developing" countries.³¹⁰

The Rio Declaration is not a binding treaty, and the Rio Principles are thus not legally binding. Some of the principles are however considered custom and some represent emerging customary rules. The main objective of the Declaration and Principles is to "provide guidance as to future legal development".³¹¹ The inclusion of a reference to the Rio Principles is rather standard for environmental treaties and mandates for treaties and was thus a natural point to include in the

³⁰⁸ Montreal Protocol art. 5

³⁰⁹ The London Amendment (1990) art. 10

³¹⁰ Rajamani and Peel (2021) p. 17

³¹¹ Sands and Peel (2018) p. 41

UNEA Mandate for the plastics treaty, especially as plastic pollution is an issue caused by anthropogenic action and has several dimensions parallel with economic development. It is however important that the plastics treaty utilizes the principle of CBDR and "national circumstances and capabilities" in a way that focuses on cooperation, "common" responsibility and finding solutions that fit the different challenges that counties are facing. Focusing exclusively on what other states should be doing and making implementation or compliance conditional on other states' behaviour could lead the negotiations down an unfortunate path.

4.2.5 Life cycle approach

The mandate highlights the need for the instrument to be based on a "comprehensive approach that addressed the full life cycle of plastics". This sentiment is in line with the recent change of perspective regarding plastic waste – going from a traditional linear approach of "take, make, waste" to what is called a circular / life cycle approach.³¹² Whereas the linear approach views waste as the final stage of the life cycle of plastics and the measures intended to deal with pollution are focused on this final stage (such as waste management), the concept of circularity is focused on reuse, recycling, remanufacturing of the materials, ultimately eliminating waste and pollution. The manner in which the design, production, consumption and waste management of plastics have been conducted since the start of its mass production in the late 1950s has been driven by a linear approach. With around 6300 billion tons of plastic produced in total, only a fracture, around 9 per cent, is estimated to have been recycled.³¹³ The overwhelming majority of plastics is disregarded in landfills, rivers or incinerated. This means that in order to achieve a circular economy for plastics, a complete turnaround in how we think of this incredibly versatile and useful material in needed.³¹⁴

The mandate calls for the new instrument to "promote sustainable production and consumption of plastics through, among other things, product design and environmentally sound waste management, including through resource efficiency and circular economy approaches".³¹⁵ The language here, calling for promotion, does not require any kind of obligation or enforcement relating to the concepts lined up. Promotion can thus be done in several ways. The instrument

³¹² Ellen Macarthur Foundation (n.d.-b)

³¹³ Gayer et al. (2017)

³¹⁴ Ellen Macarthur Foundation (n.d.-b)

³¹⁵ UNEP (2022-a) nr. 3.(b)

could do this through provisions of weaker legal status by using less committal language, for instance "welcoming" or "encouraging" states to take measures towards sustainable production and consumption. Alternatively, the instrument could include provisions of stronger legal status by using language implying binding obligations, such as deciding that states "shall as far as possible" take measures developing these approaches. Promotion could also include mechanisms facilitating the move towards sustainable production and consumption through technology transfers, financial and technological assistance as well as research and development of knowledge for best practices and such.³¹⁶

The circular economy concept has been around for decades and is concerned with keeping resources within the economy, creating a closed-loop system in order to prevent or greatly reduce waste. What is more, in practice, the circular approach was the dominant model until the end of 19th century – humans were concerned with resources, that were scarce, being used and subsequently reused or left to decay naturally. "Rags were reused to make paper, manure and sewage became fertilizer, animal bones had numerous uses, in glues and smelling salts or for whitening beet sugar, fats were used in candle making, and so on."³¹⁷ It was the industrial revolution, by generating cheap energy and making it possible to exploit raw materials efficiently and cheaply, that allowed humans to view materials and things as more easily accessible and in fact not scarce. A linear approach became more common for producers and the regular consumer. However, with economic shifts caused by wars, environmental issues and others, a different approach to the linear one was sought out. While circular efforts can be found all over the globe throughout the 20th century, circular economy is considered to have been truly defined in the 1970s by several contributors, including Walter Stahel, as well as John T. Lyle. Considered the father of circular economy by some, Stahel explains that "The linear model turned services into products that can be sold, but this throughput approach is a wasteful one. [...] In the past, reuse and service-life extension were often strategies in situations of scarcity or poverty and led to products of inferior quality. Today, they are signs of good resource husbandry and smart management".318

³¹⁶ Sustainable consumption and production is defined as "the use of services and related products, which respond to basic needs and bring a better quality of life while minimizing the use of natural resources and toxic materials as well as the emissions of waste and pollutants over the life cycle of the service or product so as not to jeopardize the needs of future generations" (Ofstad et al. (1994))

³¹⁷ Aggeri (2021) p. 10 - 13

³¹⁸ The Ellen MacArthur Foundation (2013)

Circular economy is driven by three principles, as described by the UNEP circularity platform: (1) eliminating waste and pollution, (2) circulating products and materials at their highest value and (3) regeneration of nature.³¹⁹ The circular approach highlights the importance of the design phase in order to move towards these principles, meaning that the way in which we design and produce plastic products is a critically decisive factor for the rest of the products lifetime. It has been estimated that up to 80% of a products environmental impact is determined already during the design phase.³²⁰ Manufacturing products that are easy to collect and recycle is an important step in a sustainable production, as is elimination of problematic and unnecessary plastic products, including toxic additives.³²¹ This relates strongly to all three of the principles driving the circular economy concept. Further, environmentally sound waste management is important to address in order to make sure that firstly, as little waste as possible is produced, and the secondly, that the waste produced is handled in an environmentally sound manner.³²² This is a crucial point because as some have suggested, existing mitigation measures that may be effective in proportionally reducing the discharge of plastic waste into the environmental, are not sufficient at dealing with the overall pollution problem in light of the ever-increasing amount of plastics produced, ultimately leading to more plastic litter that is at risk of entering the environment.

The mandate calls for the instrument to "promote" sustainable production and consumption. This is a somewhat ambiguous formulation that may only lead to the instrument acknowledging the need for sustainable production and consumption, or possibly encouraging the states to strive towards it. The states do however have a lot of room to potentially choose to include more stringent measures, as well as facilitative mechanisms. The mandate calling for the instrument to be based "on a comprehensive approach" however may imply that at least parts, if not the whole circular approach would be incorporated in the treaty.

³¹⁹ Ellen Macarthur Foundation (n.d.-c)

³²⁰ European Commission (n.d.-a)

³²¹ UNEP (n.d.-g)

³²² Mismanaged waste is the number one source of plastic pollution, OECD (2022) p. 14

4.3 Free riding and participation incentives

When an environmental challenge has proved itself to be difficult to tackle through purely unilateral measures, like plastic pollution, cooperative approaches may be suitable to apply. This is especially relevant for challenges that have transnational dimensions to them, like plastic pollution. Achieving cooperation in solving an environmental problem may however not be simple. As described above, by being self-governing entities, countries cannot be made to cooperate. Through their leaders, they have to agree to join treaties themselves.³²³ Cooperation does not only entail joining a treaty – countries must also decide to adhere to the potential obligations that a treaty sets forth – they must choose to comply. While this thesis largely focuses on cooperation through joining treaties, incentives to cooperate may affect both participation and compliance.³²⁴ It is argued that participation should in fact be the main focus of any treaty negotiation, simply because participation may be harder to achieve than compliance, as it requires more substantial punishments that in turn are less credible. ³²⁵ "A treaty that sustains real cooperation must deter non-compliance and non-participation. The latter is harder to achieve; it requires more substantial punishments, and these will generally be less credible. Participation should therefore be a main focus of any treaty negotiation."³²⁶

Scientific theory which explores mechanisms of our global society does not provide simple answers on why countries may decide to cooperate or not. Most theories base their models on the assumption that countries largely follow the basic prerequisite of economic theory – being rational actors who will act in the way that will lead to the greatest benefit.³²⁷ Other reasons like the notion of some kind of moral obligation, doing "the right thing" or not wanting to be an outsider are explored in theory as well, but will not be addressed in this thesis.³²⁸ Instead, measures to avoid free-riding and incentivize participation in treaties will be explored largely

³²³ Joining a treaty typically involves these two steps: signing the treaty, which expresses the consent of the negotiated text of the treaty and subsequently ratifying the treaty, which makes the treaty legally binding for the respective country and obligates it to implement its provisions. The former step however also creates an obligation for the state to refrain from acts that would defeat the objective and purpose of the treaty, see the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (1969) art. 18 (a). In this thesis, the referral to "joining" or "participating" in a treaty will not distinguish between these two stages.

³²⁴ Schmidt (1998)

³²⁵ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 14

³²⁶ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 14

³²⁷ Rajamani and Peel (2021) p. 406

³²⁸ Rajamani and Peel (2021) p. 407

based on theory assuming that countries will act in a way that benefits them in the greatest way. This in itself is not a simple concept to grasp. A "benefit" for a country may not only be a relatively short termed economic benefit – cooperating in order to keep up a friendly relationship with other countries that may benefit the country in other fields or later along the line is likely one of many types of strategic behaviour utilized by the world's leaders.³²⁹

4.3.1 Deep and narrow vs. shallow and broad treaties

As noted above, free-riding is important to avoid in order to ensure a broad cooperation between the world's nations. When broad participation is the goalpost, it is appropriate to ask just how far states should go in order to facilitate this. Literature on international law talks about there being a trade-off between depth of cooperation and participation.³³⁰ This means that there might be a critical choice states have to make between achieving a treaty with broad participation that is shallow/soft in its substantive obligations and a treaty that commit states to deeper/harder obligations but achieve less participation. Downs et al. (2000) presents an example of the former by referring to an international environmental agreement for the Mediterranean area, explaining that: "The Mediterranean Plan achieved consensus by eliminating any meaningful restrictions on dumping and providing no enforcement mechanism for those minimal targets and restrictions that were agreed to. As a result, it has been an embarrassing failure."³³¹

To clarify, participation in a treaty here means ratification, not pure participation in negotiations. A "hard" or "deep" treaty refers to a treaty that imposes unambiguous legally binding obligations on states, requiring them to reach specific targets or take specific actions in order to reach the treaties' objective, potentially with monitoring and/or non-compliance mechanisms in place. A "soft" or "shallow" treaty on the other hand may offer less stringent obligations or perhaps only norms, principles and goals that are not legally binding, looser or no monitoring and ambiguous or no compliance mechanisms.

One might assume that a treaty imposing hard obligations and leaving less room for vagueness and unambiguity seems favourable to states in their endeavour to tackle a certain challenge. But

³²⁹ Rajamani and Peel (2021) p. 406

³³⁰ See Bernauer et al. (2013) and Rajamani and Peel (2021) p. 416

³³¹ Downs et al. (1996) p. 396

such treaty obligations impose implementation costs, as well as potential credibility and reputation costs if the country fails to comply with its obligations, factors that may act as a deterrent. If a treaty contains enforceable monitoring and non-compliance mechanisms, there is a risk of countries viewing it as giving up a part of their sovereignty, flexibility, and autonomy.³³² Therefore, states may be more hesitant to ratify agreements that set forth clear and stringent legally binding commitments. This may be especially true for states whose behaviour and plans for future behaviour are less in line with the treaty's objectives and demands. On the other hand, "softer", less clear obligations that are not formulated in a way to indicate a legally binding commitment may appeal even to states whose behaviour is not in line with the treaty's objective and goal.³³³ There may be many reasons why a state would want to ratify a "soft" treaty that it has little intentions on faithfully acting in accordance with. It may see it as an opportunity to receive reputational benefits for little cost, for instance.

There are varying opinions regarding which of the two options is preferable for international environmental treaties. While Downs et al. (1996) assumes that it may actually be more bene-ficial to aim for a lower but deeper cooperation,³³⁴ and shows to both Montreal Protocol and MARPOL as examples of successful treaties that started off without universal membership, Barrett argues that broad but shallow treaties are in many cases preferable to narrow and deep.³³⁵ As shown above in chapter 2, the transformational tpproach points to broad participation as one of the fundamentally important elements of a new treaty.³³⁶

Interestingly enough however, Bernauer et al. (2013) have found that there is no empirical evidence to support the assumption that deeper treaties with harder substantive measures equal a lesser level of participation.³³⁷ It is obvious that involving a great number of states in negotiations and the process of developing a new treaty may entail difficulty in reaching consensus or compromises. However, Bernauer et al.'s research leads us to the conclusion that to achieve the goal of deterring free-riding by reaching a high degree of participation, it is not obvious that one has to sacrifice more stringent legally binding provisions, monitoring and compliance-

³³² Bernauer et al. (2013) p. 12, 13

³³³ Von Stein (2008) p. 248

³³⁴ Downs et al. (1996) p. 399

³³⁵ Downs et al. (1996) p. 399

³³⁶ Downs et al. (2000) s. 502

³³⁷ Bernauer et al. (2013) researched how various design components in 200 international environmental treaties affected the rate of ratification.

mechanisms. A strategic choice of designing a treaty with less stringent measures, counting on the fact of it attracting a higher level of ratifications may be futile.

4.3.2 Free-riding as a challenge for the plastics treaty

Free-riding is an issue for treaties that have a goal of reaching a large number of participants, as a contrast to treaties that wish to deter participation.³³⁸ For tackling an issue like plastic pollution in which most of the world's countries are participating in the creation of and where the aim of a treaty is to supply a public good, i.e. environment free from plastic pollution, it is essential to attract as broad participation as possible. It is further argued that participation should be the main focus of a treaty negotiation as it may be harder to achieve than compliance.³³⁹

In order to avoid countries free-riding, the necessary elements to incentivize participation in a treaty need to be identified. Participation can be promoted through various design elements that for instance lower the costs of participation or raise the costs of non-participation.³⁴⁰ Barrett (2005-a) talks about self-enforcing treaties – a term he uses to describe treaties with elements that incentivize countries to participate (and comply), rather than free-ride. Barrett (2005-a) outlines three main characteristics that a treaty needs to be self-enforcing; it must be individually rational, collectively rational, as well as "fair".³⁴¹

Individual rationality, he explains, is made necessary by the fact of state sovereignty. Since a state may choose whether to join a treaty or not, and comply with it or not, the "right choice" of joining and complying has to be a rational one to the state. A state should not gain by with-drawing or by not complying. Furthermore, the threat of punishment for deviations (withdraw-als/non-participation) has to be credible. Collective rationality entails that parties may not gain collectively by changing the treaty. This does not mean that the goal is a stiff, non-dynamic treaty, on the contrary. Collective rationality aims to avoid a renegotiation of the treaty by the community of states because they might see the aggregate gain increase with renegotiation.

³³⁸ E.g. treaties intended to manage common property resources, such as the fur seals managed by the North Pacific Fur Seal Treaty (1911)

³³⁹ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 14

³⁴⁰ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 14

³⁴¹ Barrett (2005-a) Preface and Acknowledgements

Aggregate gain for the community of states does not necessarily mean that the objective of a treaty is reached to a greater extent or more effectively. It might on the contrary entail weaker commitments for parties in exchange for a larger pay out of some sorts. The treaty must also be "fair". Barrett (2005-a) explains this as the parties perceiving the treaty as legitimate.³⁴² What elements need to be present within a treaty, as well as within the negotiations and conclusion of a treaty to be legitimate will not be discussed in detail here.

While free-riding is a significant challenge in global environmental management, it is worth considering the elements of plastic pollution that may impact this challenge in negotiations of an international agreement to address this particular issue. In the following section, a new management model will be proposed for the global plastics treaty that, while somewhat unusual, may have an array of benefits for addressing the challenge of plastic pollution.

While plastic pollution is a transnational issue in several ways, as it was concluded in chapter 2, it also has a significant local and regional dimension to it. This is a feature of the issue that is important to consider and exploit as it may create incentives for states to take action and cooperate in a broader degree than regarding other environmental challenges. Accumulation of plastic pollution is very much so influenced by where the plastic waste discharge into the environment takes place. While plastic waste flows on the global scale are still uncertain, we do know that countries that struggle with managing waste, including plastic waste, and discharge it into their waterways and dumpsites, suffer greatly with river pollution and plastic litter washing up on the beaches.³⁴³ Merely depending on other countries doing their part, even if this includes clean-up of areas beyond national jurisdiction, will not be sufficient to solve the challenges faced by countries that pollute themselves. The incentive to free-ride on efforts to tackle plastic pollution may thus be lesser than for other environmental issues where the free-rider issue is prominent, like emissions of greenhouse gases. Countries are thus dependent on implementing management measures themselves, be that waste management or others, depending on the special national challenges faced by the respective country. Incentives to join and bind themselves to a multilateral treaty, instead of simply implementing unilateral measures, will be discussed below.

³⁴² Ibid.

³⁴³ Schachter (2022) p. 2

Extending on the previous point, the fact that different nations and regions face different challenges in dealing with plastic pollution, as well as have widely different starting points, makes it relevant to consider how this can be addressed within an international legal agreement.³⁴⁴ One option is of course to give parties great flexibility in implementing measures that they see fitting because, as the UNEA mandate states, countries know their national circumstances best themselves. The treaty itself could for instance give overall targets to be reached but leave the concrete measures up to the Parties, likely combined with an accountability measures like national action plans and monitoring. However, this approach may afford too much flexibility to Parties, and fail to utilize the regional dimension of the issue. As it happens, many countries that deal with the same type of challenges regarding plastic pollution are found in the same regions. The global scale of the issue further ensures that the challenges each country is dealing with likely are the same or at least very similar to the challenges one or several other countries deal with. Looking for solution in a cooperative manner may thus be more resource efficient. Encouraging cooperation should be a focal point of the global treaty. It is however interesting to consider whether a more integrated cooperative approach would be possible and desirable to implement.

Countries could negotiate an overarching multilateral treaty that addresses plastic pollution on a global scale, as the UNEA Mandate calls for. The treaty may including objectives, definitions, collective overall targets and measures that benefit from being implemented on a global level, such as potential bans on hazardous chemicals in plastics and bans on mixing many polymers and additives in products that make them harder to recycle, managing pollution in areas beyond national jurisdiction as well as financial mechanisms. The treaty could further create a second regulation level within the global agreement, consisting of regional hubs of countries that have similar challenges and would benefit from closer cooperation. This would enable implementation of measures that are fitting for a smaller scale than global, encourage and enable cooperation as well as accountability. It would also provide a layer of process-based legitimacy to the agreement,³⁴⁵ and thus aid countries, especially smaller island states and developing countries, in being able to consider their circumstances and assess their priorities. Countries may be more likely to comply with measures they themselves have agreed upon with others in similar situations instead of being potentially overrun by more powerful and influential countries. Compliance is more likely to occur if Parties feel as they have had a say in the obligations they are

³⁴⁴ PEW Charitable Trusts and SystemIQ (2020) p. 11

³⁴⁵ Bodansky (1999) p. 603

committed to. Knowing that there is a real possibility to address and prioritize specific issues the states are struggling with may also impact the desire to join a treaty. The notion of surrendering some autonomy may not seem as drastic. While not a completely new model, this is an unusual approach in international environmental conventions. The UNEP Regional Seas Programme with its Regional Seas Conventions is based on a somewhat similar thought – to utilize the regional dimension of conserving the marine and coastal environment.³⁴⁶ The model proposed here however, seeks to integrate the regional cooperation with the global, creating a layered governance structure. Promoting and facilitating regional cooperation within a global treaty would make it possible to benefit from the global dimension of the treaty, e.g. potential financial assistance and technological transfers. Further, it would ensure that the issue of plastic pollution is dealt with in a more unified manner than if regional cooperation was relied upon without the global dimension of the treaty. The global layer of the treaty will also serve to address challenges related to areas beyond national jurisdiction. It will be easier to address plastic pollution through a circular approach if most of the participants and their special challenges can be viewed under one lens, applying a holistic perspective of the issue.

4.3.3 Participation incentives

A treaty addressing plastic pollution might not suffer as much from the free-rider problem as treaties addressing climate change for instance, because of the local and regional dimension of the issue. Nevertheless, the plastics treaty will need to include some participation incentives as countries may also choose to simply implement unilateral measures to a degree that they think is sufficient to manage the issue locally. Literature in international environmental law concerned with participation in treaties tend to highlight the above discussed depth/strength dichotomy. It is argued that design elements limiting a treaties' strength and stringency are used to encourage participation, such as flexible commitments, reservations, opt-out clauses and others. As shown above however, the treaty's depth does not necessarily have to be compromised on in order to achieve wide participation. This thesis is therefore mostly concerned with design elements that encourage participation without necessarily sacrificing depth.

³⁴⁶ UNEP (n.d.-h)

A management model within the treaty that establishes certain privileges for parties would create an incentive for states to join the agreement. A privilege should create some kind of a benefit, a way in which the parties would regard it to be individually rational to join, rather than free-ride.

4.3.3.1 Implementation assistance

A mechanism that is considered important in order to incentivize participation, especially in light of countries enjoying differing levels of capabilities and capacities, is financial assistance, especially in the form of implementation assistance. Implementation assistance is a widely used element in environmental treaties as a participation incentive, especially aimed at incentivizing developing countries to join international agreements.³⁴⁷ Joining a treaty, ratifying it and implementing its control measures may be rather costly for a country. For instance, developing and implementing national action plans would require resources, meaning a Party would have to allocate some of its budget to this. In order to make sure that countries who may not have the means necessary to join and implement a treaty are not hindered to join by financial obstacles, assistance can be provided. This is key for treaties with a goal of achieving wide participation, like the plastics treaty.

Implementation assistance can be provided by developed countries to developing countries to cover the costs incurred that are directly related to implementation of the treaty. We find this kind of mechanism in many environmental agreements, including the Montreal Protocol. The Montreal Protocol was the first multilateral environmental agreement that introduced these types of financial incentives, considered radical at the time.³⁴⁸ The financial mechanism in the Montreal Protocol which was added by the 1990 Amendments is almost compensatory in nature and provides financial assistance by meeting "all agreed incremental costs" to the relevant Parties.³⁴⁹ The Protocol also established the Montreal Multilateral Fund that finances projects relating to institutional strengthening and technical assistance in order to meet the incremental costs incurred by developing countries in implementing the Protocol which requires that states move towards more ozone-friendly technologies and phase out ozone-depleting substances. The

 ³⁴⁷ E.g. UNFCCC (1992), art. 3.1; CBD (1992) art. 18.2 and 19.2; Convention to Combat Desertification (1994), art. 5(a) and 6(b); Kyoto Protocol (1997), art 10; Stockholm Convention (2001), art 13.

³⁴⁸ Sands and Peel (2018) p. 288

³⁴⁹ The London Amendment (1990) art. 10 (1)

Fund was a successful tool to persuade China and India to join the Montreal Protocol.³⁵⁰ Establishing a fund that provides financial aid to countries enabling them to implement national legislation relating to the treaties' objectives may be an important step, regardless of whether the treaty includes concrete control measures or applies a more general management model of providing overall targets and goals.³⁵¹ The Parties could alternatively agree to entrust the Global Environmental Fund (GEF) to be the operational entity of the financial mechanism within the treaty. The latter option would allow for synergies between plastic pollution and other types of pollution and environmental challenges to be exploited. It is also known that the GEF has contributed to raising greater resources for projects than other funds established for specific purposes.³⁵²

Bernauer et al.'s (2013) study relating to depth and strength of treaties mentioned above found that positive incentives in the form of assistance provisions, as well as some dispute resolution mechanisms "have a significant and substantial positive effect on participation".³⁵³ The study shows that assistance for developing countries significantly increase the rate of ratifications. Implementation measures like financial and technical assistance help to lower the costs that a treaty may impose on a state, something that is likely an important factor in whether a country is willing to bind itself to an international agreement or not.³⁵⁴ UNEP's Mandate for the plastics treaty further underlines that implementation of some of the legal obligations set forth by the treaty "will depend on the availability of capacity building and adequate financial and technical assistance, technology transfer on mutually agreed terms, and financial assistance".³⁵⁵ For developing countries and economies in transition, a financial assistance in the form of capacity building and technology transfers within the plastics treaty will entail a real incentive to join the participate rather than focus and rely on unilateral measures to tackle plastic pollution. Implementation assistance is meant to cover the incremental costs, and capacity and technology

³⁵⁰ Rajamani and Peel (2021) p. 416

³⁵¹ See also The 1973 CITES Trust Fund that supports the development of CITES-related legislation and for conducting national wildlife trade policy reviews, see CITES (n.d.)

³⁵² Rajamani and Peel (2021) p. 942

³⁵³ Bernauer et a. (2013) p. 2

³⁵⁴ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 8.5 suggests that one of the main reasons that the USA was so postive towards ratify the Montreal Protocol was the overwhelming indicator in the costs and benefits analysis for eliminating

³⁵⁵ UNEP (2022-a) point 3 (n)

received to implement the treaty will potentially benefit the states beyond the agreement as well.

On the flipside, it is important that a participation incentive for some does not become a disincentive to participate for others. If developed countries are obligated to provide financial funds for implementation assistance and other mechanisms within the treaty, it may potentially impact their decision to join the treaty negatively. Therefore, it is important to explore other ways that a financial mechanism within the treaty can be designed and funded. Firstly, the contested dichotomy of developed/developing countries may need to be revised and possibly replaced by different terms. The treaty could for instance make funds, including implementation assistance, available for "countries in need" or "especially vulnerable states". Secondly, the financial mechanisms could be funded in an array of different ways – through potential payments that Parties submit as part of the control measures, whether that would be a levy or tax, or through a fund with a broad donor base. Potential funding stemming from trade measures within the treaty may also be a possible source of funding (see below).³⁵⁶

Further, implementation assistance does not have to be purely financial aid. New types of implementation assistance are on the rise, for instance in the climate change regime. An inhouse body to aid Parties with implementation and compliance, namely the Implementation and Compliance Committee has been established under the Paris Agreement regime.³⁵⁷ The goal of this type of implementation assistance to address challenges Parties may have with implementing the agreement, other than the financial aspects of the issue. A mechanism like this focuses on facilitation rather than sanctioning and may be an important addition to the traditional implementation assistance in form of financial aid.

4.3.3.2 Dynamic treaty

Another relevant side of States joining international agreements to consider is the longevity of such agreements in light of the ever-changing circumstances of economy, science, technology

³⁵⁶ New, innovative ways of funding have started to emerge as seen at COP27, with the establishment of a new Loss and Damage Fund that may potentially revise the traditional donor and receiver pools, as well as implement modern ways of financing the fund. How exactly the fund will be operationalized is not decided yet, and will be addressed by a Transitional Committee, see Conference of the Parties and Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement (2022)

³⁵⁷ Paris Agreement (2015) art. 15 para 1 and 2

etc. Design elements to ensure that a treaty can be adjusted along with changing circumstances would provide a type of flexibility that does not sacrifice depth. As mentioned above, joining an international environmental agreement often has a certain sovereignty cost for a state. State leaders are well aware that circumstances change, whether that be economic, scientific or technical. Lack of any kind of flexibility within a treaty may potentially seem like too rigid of a deal to participate in and in practice, a further enforcement of the sovereignty cost for a state. Some authors argue that a possibility of renegotiating a treaty would have a de-stabilizing effect in the case where it is triggered by defecting behaviour in the past, rather than unforeseen changes.³⁵⁸ However, a dynamic treaty does not have to go so far as to facilitate complete renegotiation of its provisions. It can simply allow for adjustments in line with certain changing circumstances. This would in fact appeal to the collective rationality of states and could keep states from renegotiating or withdrawing from treaty.

As noted previously in chapter 2, scientific evidence surrounding consequences and the specific harms on plastic pollution is still in its infancy. The negotiators of the new plastics treaty will thus likely not have all the information necessary to fully consider the implications of the provisions or lack of provisions in the treaty. To be able to address plastic pollution in a comprehensive way, it is important that the treaty can keep up with advancement in scientific evidence, technological developments as well as potential changes within the issue of plastic pollution itself. The importance of taking into account the latter is illustrated by the Montreal Protocol, in which the reduction rates agreed upon in 1987 were supposedly already obsolete by the time the Protocol entered into force in 1989.³⁵⁹ In order to keep up to date with changing circumstances and to avoid that the agreement's provisions become obsolete, the Protocol provides for assessments of its control measures, based on the "available scientific, environmental, technical, and economic information". The UNEA Mandate for the plastics treaty requests that the treaty include provisions "To periodically assess the effectiveness of the instrument in achieving its objectives".³⁶⁰

Rajamani and Peel (2021) describes three design elements that are used in international environmental treaties to keep them up to date; the first one being the establishment of institution

³⁵⁸ Schmidt (1998)

³⁵⁹ Rajamani and Peel (2021) p. 418

³⁶⁰ UNEP (2022-a) para 3 (g)

arrangements, like meeting of the parties, with the task to keep the focus on the issue as well as make decisions to "elaborate, supplement, or amend the treaty".³⁶¹ The second design element is inclusion of provisions that require assessment of the agreement and its effectiveness, such as the above-mentioned Article 6 of the Montreal Protocol. The third design element to ensure a dynamic agreement is the segregation of its detailed provisions, ones that are likely to need revision and updates, for instance by placing them in annexes, which tend to be easier to amend and revise than the treaty text itself. This is the approach used in the Montreal Protocol where ozone-depleting substances that are subject to the phase-out are placed in annexes, that indeed have been amended many times to include additional substances. The same type of approach is implemented in the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants.³⁶² The same type of approach could be used for a potential phase-out or ban of certain polymers, additives or combinations of polymers. Depending on the architecture of the treaty that States will agree upon, annexes can be used to more easily update the treaty to changing information, as they usually do not require affirmative consent of a state to be bound. Most such agreements however give states the possibility to opt-out of regulatory decisions with which they disagree to, as to not infringe the notion of sovereignly, although such an option is not given to states within the adjustment process of the Montreal Protocol.

4.3.3.3 Trade measures

Another type of measure that has the potential of creating a privilege is trade restrictions. Trade restrictions can be used to promote participation by creating a privilege for the parties, the privilege being the opportunity to trade certain products, materials or substances with other parties. On the flip side, one is raising the cost of staying out.³⁶³ A prime example of such a mechanism is the Montreal Protocol. It prohibits its Parties to import ozone depleting substances from and export to non-parties, thus creating a privilege for the Parties of being able to trade. The plastic treaty could potentially implement such a mechanism for instance for polymers.³⁶⁴ However, such a mechanism does not guarantee to function as a participation incentive in itself. As Barrett

³⁶¹ Rajamani and Peel (2021) p. 418

³⁶² The Convention requires a detailed scientific assessment in order for new chemicals to be added to the list of controlled substances the Annex, art. 8

³⁶³ Rajamani and Peel (2021) p. 416

³⁶⁴ Trade restrictions within an environmental treaty may rise concerns regarding rules in already existing trade agreements between signatories, such as within the GATT/WHO regime, see Sand and Peen (2018) p. 843. This issue will however not be addressed further in this thesis.

(2005-a) points out, it will only work after the treaty has already achieved a certain level of participation, enough that other countries see it beneficial to join, a so-called tipping point.³⁶⁵ Trade restrictions with non-parties should thus be combined with a mechanism of minimum participation requirement for the treaty to enter into force. A minimum participation clause is important when using trade restrictions, as deterring free-riding through a trade ban will be highly costly for signatories in the case of low participation. That way a minimum participation clause protects signatories from being bound by a treaty with restrictions which harms them in the case of low participation. If a minimum participation clause is set at a point that can function as a tipping point, it serves the signatories greatly. On the other hand, one risks that the incentive to sign is just not high enough, and the treaty never ends up entering into force.³⁶⁶ A minimum participation clause further has the benefit of ensuring a sufficient level of reciprocity in regulatory treaties (treaties with concrete control measures), and political credibility in constitutive treaties (framework treaties with little to no concrete control measures).³⁶⁷ A clause like this can either set a requirement of a certain number of countries ratifying it to enter into force, or it could require that a certain amount of pollution is covered by a participating state in order to enter into force.³⁶⁸ How a minimum participation requirement should look for the plastics treaty and what level of participation should be required will not be further discussed in this thesis.

Building on this point, a certain level of participation – which is referred to as a tipping point, would have to be reached as a prerequisite, meaning that other incentives to participate would be necessary to implement first. For instance, a treaty could potentially establish a scientific hub, financed through a fund or otherwise, to research the different dimensions and gaps in the current knowledge on plastic pollution and the conditions around it. Research on harms related to plastic pollution, mechanisms addressing the issue in a resource effective manner as well as technology development could potentially create an incentive for states to join the treaty by offering access to data, evidence and research materials first. Another option could be establishing, or using an existing, fund that may help countries with investment in new technologies

³⁶⁵ Barrett (2005-a) chapter 12.10

³⁶⁶ Ibid.

³⁶⁷ Rajamana and Peel (2021) p. 412

³⁶⁸ Kyoto Protocol that required ratification by fifty-five states representing 55% of developed country greenhouse gas emissions while MARPOL required ratification by fifteen states representing at least 50% of global shipping tonnage.

relating to waste collection, management, recycling, plastic substances etc. A mechanism ensuring mutual technology sharing would provide a privilege for parties as well. Privileges like these will ensure that countries see a benefit to joining the treaty, instead of free-riding and only possibly implementing some unilateral measures. These mechanisms thus create an incentive to join the treaty, making it individually rational for a country to participate.

4.4 Current status of the plastics treaty

Currently, as this thesis is being delivered, representatives of UN Member States and many stakeholders are gathered in Paris, France for the second negotiation round of the global plastics treaty, as the Meeting of the Intergovernmental Negotiations Committee (INC-2). The first negotiation round was conducted in Punta del Este, Uruguay 28 November to 2 December 2022. No policy-based decisions were concluded at INC-1 but a broad range of topics were addressed by the delegates. Scope, objectives, structure and potential elements of the instrument as well as procedural topics were addressed. Most delegations expressed preference for comprehensive approach on plastic pollution encompassing the full life cycle of plastics (although the definition of "lifecycle" is yet to be agreed upon), as well as an objective to "protect environment and human health from plastic pollution, and ultimately end plastic pollution,".³⁶⁹ Delegates had divergent views on structure, some in preference of a specific treaty with legal obligations and some of a framework treaty driven by national action plans, the role of the latter mechanism within the treaty being contested among the delegates. Means of implementation, including capacity building, technical assistance and finance were addressed and regarded as important elements within the treaty by many. Monitoring, as well as scientific and technical cooperation were addressed as well, with some delegations calling for the establishment of a dedicated subsidiary scientific body in order to facilitate cooperation on an equal footing. Stakeholder participation, as well as final provisions were addressed as well.

Some countries, including the US and Saudi Arabia, are currently pushing towards a management model similar to the Paris Agreement, with a bottom-up approach focused on the individual efforts of countries rather than universal rules.^{370 371} On the other side, the High Ambition Coalition (HAC) to end plastic pollution, led by Norway and Rwanda and joined by a number

³⁶⁹ Earth Negotiations Bulletin (2022)

³⁷⁰ Earth Negotiations Bulletin (2022)

³⁷¹ Geddie and Volcovici (2022)

of other countries including Canada, France, Germany and Great Britain are advocating for a treaty that includes "global sustainability criteria and standards for plastics".³⁷²

On the agenda for INC-2 are, among other things, procedural decisions like election of the INC Bureau, adopting the Rules of Procedure, including the contested articles on voting.^{373 374} Other topics that need addressing are identification of the objective, substantive provisions including core obligations and voluntary approaches, means of implementation, including financial assistance and implementation measures, including the role national action plans may have.³⁷⁵

The Mandate calls for the INC to conclude its work by the end of 2024 – an ambitious timeline for any treaty, but especially for one addressing such a complex and multi-dimensional issue as plastic pollution. Most treaties take five to ten years to negotiate, meaning that delegates will have to be willing to cooperate efficiently and compromises will likely have to be made, especially regarding some of the more contested matters. Subsequent to conclusion of the INC, UNEP will convene a diplomatic conference to adopt the outcome and open the treaty for signature.

5 Conclusion

The issue of plastic pollution is a complex one – scientific uncertainty is widely present across many aspects of the topic, the pollution sources are many, the material itself is cheap to produce, and infinitely useful but possesses qualities that make it a dangerous pollutant that is now present everywhere – in nature and in our bodies. A linear perspective has ruled our thinking and behaviour around production and consumption of plastics for many decades and a complete change of pace and restructuring of the way we handle the material is needed to deal with the problem that we have created. With plastic production estimated to increase, with little to no regulations around composition of plastics and additives making it difficult to recycle, and lacking sound waste management in many countries, a life cycle approach is long overdue and needs to be implemented in order to avoid further damage to the environment and human health.

³⁷² High Ambition Coalition to End Plastic Pollution

³⁷³ UNEP (2022)

³⁷⁴ UNEP (2023-a)

³⁷⁵ UNEP (2023-b)

Plastic pollution has both global, regional and local dimensions, but it is clear that the unilateral and regional measures implemented thus far, as well as some efforts on the global scale which have led to a fragmented and incomplete governance system are insufficient to curb the issue. Global cooperation based on a holistic approach with as many countries involved as possible is needed. Ensuring wide participation in an international treaty to address plastic pollution is key but need not be done by sacrificing depth in the form of strong obligations and stringent control measures. This thesis has examined a handful of design elements that could be implement in a global treaty in order to encourage participation without necessarily sacrificing depth. Incentivising participation may be done by offering the Parties to a treaty certain privilege that nonparties cannot enjoy. A design element that is considered key in order to incentivise participation, especially among developing countries is implementation assistance, both in the traditional terms of covering incremental costs of implementation, but other assistance as well, such as capacity building as well as a potential body within the treaty with the task to facilitate implementation and compliance. Such a participation incentive should not however turn into a disincentive for other countries, meaning that the funding of such a mechanism should not be dependent exclusively on donations from developed countries. New and innovative ways of funding are on the rise and should be explored to ensure sufficient funds being raised as well as high participation in the treaty by all states. Another design element that may incentivise participation is facilitating change, evolvement and adjustment within the treaty to take changing circumstances into account. Trade measures are another design element with potential to create an incentive by offering privileges, for instance only allowing trade of certain substances or products between Parties and prohibiting Parties to engage in trade with non-parties. This kind of privilege is however dependent that the treaty initially achieves a certain level of participation in order to function as a participation incentive.

A global approach to curbing plastic pollution should further exploit the significant regional dimension of the issue and facilitate cooperation among countries with similar challenges related to plastic pollution. This can be done by the treaty encouraging cooperation or facilitating it to a greater or lesser degree. In this thesis, a model consisting of two governance levels is proposed in order to exploit the benefits of both the global and regional dimension of the issue. The global agreement could include objectives, definitions, overall targets, financial mechanisms as well as implement measures that are beneficial to implement on a global level, such

as bans of toxic additives. The global treaty could function as an umbrella, establish the institutional framework, including a secondary regulation level that directly facilitates cooperation on a regional bases for instance.

The UNEA Mandate for a plastics treaty has given the world new hope towards managing this overwhelming pollution issue on our hands. The treaty must be able to get countries to cooperate and compromise in a way that addresses the issue at hand sufficiently. The Mandate provides the countries with the option to shape the treaty rather freely, and the end result will depend on the willingness and vigour of countries to change the way in which production and consumption of plastics have been viewed before. Further, the Mandate calls for the work of the International Negotiation Committee to be finished by the end of the next year, a highly ambitious timeline that may not necessarily serve the overall objective. While the very short timeline illustrates the urgency of the issue, it may be important to take more time to negotiate this treaty in order to properly address this very complex issue. A rushed paper tiger treaty could not only be little help towards addressing the issue but may even be counterproductive. No matter how the new plastics treaty ends up looking, it is clear that a lot of work stands before us to stop the plastic wave from sweeping us away.

6 Sources and literature

6.1 Laws, treaties, agreements, resolutions etc.

| 1995 United Nations Fish | Agreement for the Implementation of the Provision of the United |
|---------------------------|---|
| Stocks Agreement | Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea of 10 December 1982 |
| | relating to the Conservation and Management of Straddling Fish |
| | Stocks and Highly Migratory Fish Stocks, New York 4 August |
| | 1995 https://www.un.org/depts/los/convention_agreements/con- |
| | vention_20years/1995FishStockAgreement_ATahindro.pdf_ac- |
| | cessed 22.05.2023 . |
| Agreement relating to the | 1994 Agreement Relating to the Implementation of Part XI of the |
| implementation of Part | United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea of 10 Decem- |
| XI | ber 1982, New York 28 July 1994, |
| | https://www.un.org/depts/los/convention_agree- |
| | ments/texts/agreement_part_xi/agreement_part_xi.htm accessed |
| | 22.05.2023. |
| Aichi Biodiversity Tar- | The Conference of the Parties to the Convention of Biological |
| gets (2010) | Diversity. COP Decision X/2 Strategic Plan for Biodiversity |
| | 2011-2020. (27 October 2010). https://www.cbd.int/deci- |
| | sion/cop/?id=12268 accessed 11.05.2023. |
| Bamako Convention | Bamako Convention on the Ban of the Import into Africa and the |
| | Control of Transboundary Movement and Management of Haz- |
| | ardous Wastes within Africa, Bamako 30 January 1991, |
| | https://au.int/sites/default/files/treaties/7774-treaty-0015 |
| | <u>bamako convention on hazardous wastes e.pdf</u> accessed |
| | 23.05.2023. |
| Barcelona Convention | Convention for the Protection of the Mediterranean Sea Against |
| | Pollution, Barcelona 16 February 1976, https://trea- |
| | ties.un.org/doc/Publication/UNTS/Volume%201102/volume- |
| | 1102-I-16908-English pdf accessed 22.05.2023 |
| | |
| Basel Convention | The Basel Convention on the Control of Transboundary Move- |
| Basel Convention | The Basel Convention on the Control of Transboundary Move- ments of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal, Basel 22 March |
| Basel Convention | The Basel Convention on the Control of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal, Basel 22 March 1989 https://www.basel.int/Portals/4/Basel%20Conven- |
| Basel Convention | The Basel Convention on the Control of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal, Basel 22 March 1989 https://www.basel.int/Portals/4/Basel%20Convention/docs/text/BaselConventionText-e.pdf |
| Basel Convention BBNJ | The Basel Convention on the Control of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal, Basel 22 March 1989 https://www.basel.int/Portals/4/Basel%20Convention/docs/text/BaselConventionText-e.pdf accessed 22.05.2023. Treaty of the High Seas to protect the ocean, tackle environmen- |
| Basel Convention BBNJ | The Basel Convention on the Control of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal, Basel 22 March 1989 https://www.basel.int/Portals/4/Basel%20Convention/docs/text/BaselConventionText-e.pdf accessed 22.05.2023. Treaty of the High Seas to protect the ocean, tackle environmental degradation, fight climate change, and prevent biodiversity |

| Bonn Convention | Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild |
|---------------------------|---|
| | Animals, Bonn 23 June 1979, https://www.cms.int/sites/de- |
| | fault/files/instrument/CMS-text.enPDF accessed 22.05.2023 |
| Bucharest Convention | Convention on the Protection of the Black Sea against Pollution, |
| | Bucharest 21 April 1992, http://www.blacksea-commis- |
| | sion.org/Official%20Documents/The%20Conven- |
| | tion/full%20text/ accessed 23.05.2023. |
| CBD | The Convention on Biological Diversity, Rio de Janeiro, Ne York |
| | 5 June 1992, <u>https://www.cbd.int/doc/legal/cbd-en.pdf</u> accessed |
| | 22.05.2023. |
| Conference of the Parties | Conference of the Parties and Conference of the Parties serving |
| and Conference of the | as the meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement. Draft deci- |
| Parties serving as the | sion -/CP.27 -/CMA.4 Funding arrangements for responding to |
| meeting of the Parties to | loss and damage |
| the Paris Agreement | associated with the adverse effects of climate change, |
| (2022) | including a focus on addressing loss and damage. (19 November |
| | 2022) <u>https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/re-</u> |
| | source/cp2022 L18 cma2022 L20E 0.pdf accessed |
| | 19.05.2023. |
| Conference of the Parties | Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Di- |
| to the Convention on Bio- | versity, Decision CBD/COP/DEC/15/4 Kunming-Montreal |
| logical Diversity (2022) | Global Biodiversity Framework. https://www.cbd.int/doc/deci- |
| | sions/cop-15/cop-15-dec-04-en.pdf accessed 15.05.2023. |
| Convention to Combat | United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification in those |
| Desertification | Countries Experiencing Serious Drought and/or Desertification, |
| | Particularly in Africa, Paris 14 October 1994 |
| | https://www.unccd.int/sites/default/files/2022- |
| | 02/UNCCD_Convention_ENG_0_0.pdf accessed 15.05.2023. |
| COSIS Agreement | Agreement for the Establishment of the Commission of Small Is- |
| (2021) | land States on Climate Change and International Law, 31 Octo- |
| | ber 2021, https://commonwealthfoundation.com/wp-content/up- |
| | loads/2021/12/Commission-of-Small-Island-States-on-Climate- |
| | Change-and-International-Law.pdf accessed 22.05.2023. |
| EU Directive 2019/883 | Directive (EU) 2019/883 of the European Parliament and of the |
| | Council of 17 April 2019 on port reception facilities for the de- |
| | livery of waste from ships, amending Directive 2010/65/EU and |
| | repealing Directive 2000/59/E https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal- |

| | content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32019L0883&rid=1 ac- |
|-------------------------|---|
| | cessed 12.05.2023. |
| EU Directive 2019/904 | Directive (EU) 2019/904 of the European Parliament and of the |
| | Council of 5 June 2019 on the Reduction of the Impact of Certain |
| | Plastic Products on the Environment, https://eur-lex.eu- |
| | ropa.eu/eli/dir/2019/904/oj accessed 12.05.2023. |
| EU Directive 94/62/EC | European Parliament and Council Directive 94/62/EC of 20 De- |
| | cember 1994 on packaging and packaging waste, <u>https://eur-</u> |
| | lex.europa.eu/legal-content/en/TXT/?uri=CELEX:31994L0062 |
| | accessed 12.05.2023. |
| FAO Code of Conduct for | FAO Code of Conduct for Responsible Fisheries, Rome 1995, |
| Responsible Fisheries | https://www.fao.org/3/v9878e/v9878e.pdf accessed 11.05.2023. |
| Rome | |
| Helsinki Convention | Convention on the Protection of the Marine Environment of the |
| | Baltic Sea Area, Helsinki 18 March 1992, https://helcom.fi/wp- |
| | content/uploads/2019/06/Helsinki-Convention_July-2014.pdf |
| | accessed 23.05.2023. |
| International Water- | Convention on the Law of the Non-Navigational Uses of Inter- |
| courses Convention | national Watercourses, New York 21 May 1997, https://le- |
| | gal.un.org/ilc/texts/instruments/english/conven- |
| | tions/8_3_1997.pdf accessed 22.05.2023. |
| ITLOS (1997) | ITLOS. Rules of the Tribunal, ITLOS/8, 17 March 1997, |
| | https://www.itlos.org/fileadmin/itlos/documents/basic_texts/It- |
| | los 8 E 17 03 09.pdf accessed 16.05.2023 |
| Kyoto Protocol | Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on |
| | <i>Climate Change</i> , Kyoto 10 December 1997, <u>https://unfccc.int/re-</u> |
| | source/docs/convkp/kpeng.pdf accessed 22.05.2023 |
| London Amendment | Amendment to the Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete |
| | the Ozone Layer, London 29 June 1990, https://eur-lex.eu- |
| | ropa.eu/legal-con- |
| | tent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:22017A0914(01)&from=EN |
| | accessed 22.05.2023. |
| London Convention | Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping |
| | of Wastes and Other Matter 1972, London, Mexico City, Mos- |
| | cow and Washington 13 November 1972 |
| | https://www.jus.uio.no/english/services/library/treaties/06/6- |
| | 05/prevention-marine-pollution.html accessed 22.05.2023 |

| London Protocol | 1996 Protocol to the Convention on the Prevention of Marine |
|-------------------------|---|
| | Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter, 1972, Lon- |
| | don 7 November 1996, <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/de-</u> |
| | <u>fault/files/2015-10/documents/lpamended2006.pdf</u> accessed |
| | 22.05.2023 |
| Marine Litter: A Global | Marine Litter: A Global Challenge, Nairobi: UNEP 2009, |
| Challenge. | https://stg-wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/han- |
| | <u>dle/20.500.11822/31632/MLAGC.pdf?sequence=1</u> accessed |
| | 11.05.2023. |
| MARPOL | International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from |
| | Ships (MARPOL 1973) as modified by the Protocol 1978 relat- |
| | ing thereto (MARPOL 73/78), London:IMO 2 November 1973 |
| | https://www.jus.uio.no/english/services/library/treaties/06/6- |
| | 05/ships-pollution.html accessed 22.05.2023 |
| Minamata Convention on | Minamata Convention on Mercury: text and annexes, Kuma- |
| Mercury | moto 10 October 2013, |
| | https://wedocs.unep.org/20.500.11822/8541 accessed |
| | 22.05.2023. |
| Montreal Protocol | Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer, |
| | Montreal 16 September 1987, <u>https://treaties.un.org/doc/publi-</u> |
| | cation/unts/volume%201522/volume-1522-i-26369-english.pdf |
| | accessed 15.05.2023 |
| North Pacific Fur Seal | Convention between the United states, Great Britain, russia and |
| Treaty of 1911 | Japan for the Preservation and Protection of Fur Seals, Wash- |
| | ington 7 July 1911, https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipe- |
| | dia/commons/b/bc/THE_FUR_SEAL_TREATY_OF_1911.pdf |
| | accessed 15.05.2023. |
| Oceans Plastic Charter | The Oceans Plastic Charter, 9 June 2018 https://www.can- |
| | ada.ca/content/dam/eccc/documents/pdf/pollution-waste/ocean- |
| | plastics/Ocean%20Plastics%20Charter_EN.pdf accessed |
| | 16.05.2023 |
| OSPAR Convention | Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the |
| | North-East Atlantic, Paris 22 September 1992, |
| | https://www.ospar.org/site/assets/files/1169/ospar_conven- |
| | tion.pdf accessed 23.05.2023. |

| Paris Agreement | Paris Agreement to the United Nations Framework Convention |
|---------------------------|---|
| | on Climate Change, Paris 12 December 2015, https://un- |
| | fccc.int/sites/default/files/english_paris_agreement.pdf accessed |
| | 22.05.2023 |
| Rio Declaration | Rio Declaration on Environment and Development, Rio de |
| | Janeiro 16 June 1992, <u>https://www.un.org/en/develop-</u> |
| | ment/desa/population/migration/generalassembly/docs/global- |
| | <u>compact/A_CONF.151_26_Vol.I_Declaration.pdf</u> accessed |
| | 11.05.2023. |
| Statute of the Interna- | Statute of the International Court of Justice, San Francisco 18 |
| tional Court of Justice | April 1946, https://www.refworld.org/docid/3deb4b9c0.html ac- |
| | cessed 11.05.2023. |
| Stockholm Convention | The Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants, |
| | Stockholm 23 May 2001, http://chm.pops.int/portals/0/reposi- |
| | tory/convention_text/unep-pops-cop-convtext-full.english.pdf |
| | accessed 22.05.2023 |
| Stockholm Declaration | Stockholm Declaration: Declaration on the Human Environ- |
| | ment, Stockholm 16 June 1972, https://wedocs.unep.org/bit- |
| | stream/handle/20.500.11822/29567/ELGP1StockD.pdf?se- |
| | <u>quence=1&isAllowed=y</u> accessed 22.05.2023. |
| The Conference of the | The Conference of the Parties to the Basel Convention. BC- |
| Parties to the Basel Con- | 14/12: Amendments to Annexes II, VIII and IX to the Basel Con- |
| vention, decision BC- | vention. (May 2019) http://www.basel.int/TheConvention/Con- |
| 14/12 (2019) | ferenceoftheParties/Meetings/COP14/tabid/7520/ctl/Down- |
| | load/mid/22086/Default.aspx?id=41&ObjID=22064 accessed |
| | 11.05.2023. |
| The Conference of the | The Conference of the Parties to the Convention of Biological |
| Parties to the CBD, COP | Diversity. COP Decision XIII/10 Addressing impacts of marine |
| XIII/10 (2016) | debris and anthropogenic underwater noise on marine and |
| | coastal biodiversity. (December 2016) https://www.cbd.int/de- |
| | cisions/cop/13/10 accessed 11.05.2023. |
| The Conference of the | The Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Migratory |
| Parties to the Convention | Species, Decision UNEP/CMS/Resolution 12.20 Management of |
| on Migratory Species | Marine Debris. (October 2017). https://www.cms.int/sites/de- |
| (2017), UNEP/CMS/Res- | fault/files/document/cms_cop12_res.12.20_marine_de- |
| olution 12.20 | bris_e.pdf accessed 11.05.2023. |
| The Conference of the | The Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Migratory |
| Parties to the Convention | Species. Decision UNEP/CMS/Resolution 10.4 Marine Debris. |
| on Migratory Species | (November 2011), https://www.cms.int/sites/default/files/docu- |
|---------------------------|--|
| (2011), UNEP/CMS/Res- | ment/10_04_marinedebris_e_0_0.pdf accessed 11.05.2023. |
| olution 10.4 | |
| The Conference of the | The Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Migratory |
| Parties to the Convention | Species, Decision UNEP/CMS/Resolution 11.30 Management of |
| on Migratory Species | Marine Debris. (November 2014). |
| (2014), UNEP/CMS/Res- | https://www.cms.int/sites/default/files/docu- |
| olution 11.30 | ment/Res 11 30 Management Marine Debris E.pdf accessed |
| | 11.05.2023. |
| The Honolulu Strategy | The Honolulu Strategy: A Global Framework for Prevention and |
| | Management of Marine Debris, 2011 |
| | https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/han- |
| | dle/20.500.11822/10670/Honolulu%20strategy.pdf?se- |
| | <u>quence=1&isAllowed=y</u> accessed 11.05.2023. |
| UNCLOS | United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, Montego Bay |
| | 10 December 1982, available at: |
| | https://www.un.org/depts/los/convention_agreements/texts/un- |
| | <u>clos/unclos_e.pdf</u> accessed 22.05.2023 |
| UNEP (1994) | UNEP. Decision UNEP (OCA)/NOWPAP IG.1/5, The Action |
| | Plan for the Protection, Management and Development of the |
| | Marine and Coastal Environment of the Northwest Pacific Re- |
| | gion (NOWPAP). (14 September 1994). |
| | https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/han- |
| | dle/20.500.11822/26373/NOWPAP_IGM1_Report.pdf?se- |
| | <u>quence=1&isAllowed=y</u> accessed 15.05.2023. |
| UNEP (2014-a) | UNEP. Marine plastic debris and microplastics. |
| | UNEP/E.A.1/Res.6, 2014, https://unea.marinelitter.no/wp-con- |
| | tent/uploads/2019/11/UNEA-1pdf accessed 23.05.2023. |
| UNEP (2016-a) | UNEP. Marine plastic litter and microplastics. |
| | UNEP/EA.2/Res.11, 2016 https://unea.marinelitter.no/wp-con- |
| | tent/uploads/2019/11/UNEA-2.pdf accessed 23.05.2023. |
| UNEP (2017) | UNEP. Marine litter and microplastics. UNEP/EA.3/Res.7, |
| | 2017 <u>https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/han-</u> |
| | dle/20.500.11822/31022/k1800210.english.pdf?se- |
| | <u>quence=3&isAllowed=y</u> accessed 23.05.2023. |

| UNEP (2019-a) | UNEP. Environmentally sound management of waste. |
|------------------------|---|
| | UNEP/EA.4/Res.7, (2019) <u>https://digitallibrary.un.org/rec-</u> |
| | ord/3982590/files/UNEP_EA.4_RES.7-EN.pdf?ln=en accessed |
| | 23.05.2023. |
| UNEP (2022-a) | UNEP. UNEP/EA.5/Res.14 End plastic pollution: towards an in- |
| | ternational legally binding instrument. (7 March 2022) |
| | https://digitallibrary.un.org/rec- |
| | ord/3999257/files/UNEP_EA.5_RES.14-EN.pdf?ln=en ac- |
| | cessed 15.05.2023. |
| UNEP (2022-e) | UNEP. UNEP/PP/INC.1/3 Draft rules of procedure for the work |
| | of the intergovernmental negotiating committee to develop an |
| | international legally binding instrument on plastic pollution, in- |
| | cluding in the marine environment. (8 September 2022) |
| | https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/han- |
| | <u>dle/20.500.11822/41260/Draft_Rules_Procedure_E.pdf</u> ac- |
| | cessed 19.05.2023. |
| UNEP (2023-a) | UNEP. UNEP/PP/INC.2/1/Add.1 Annotated provisional |
| | agenda. (6 March 2023) https://wedocs.unep.org/xmlui/bit- |
| | stream/handle/20.500.11822/42205/2304072English.pdf?se- |
| | <u>quence=8&isAllowed=y</u> accessed 19.05.2023. |
| UNEP (2023-b) | UNEP. UNEP/PP/INC.2/4 Potential options for elements to- |
| | wards an international legally binding instrument, based on a |
| | comprehensive approach that addresses the full life cycle of |
| | plastics as called for by United Nations Environment Assembly |
| | <i>resolution 5/14.</i> (13 April 2023) |
| | https://wedocs.unep.org/xmlui/bitstream/han- |
| | <u>dle/20.500.11822/42190/UNEP-PP-INC.2-4%20Eng-</u> |
| | <u>lish.pdf?sequence=13&isAllowed=y</u> accessed 19.05.2023. |
| UNEP/IOC Guidelines | UNEP/IOC Guidelines on Survey and Monitoring of Marine Lit- |
| on Survey and Monitor- | <i>ter</i> , UNEP 2009, <u>https://wedocs.unep.org/20.500.11822/13604</u> |
| ing of Marine Litter | accessed 11.05.2023. |
| UNFCCC | United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, |
| | New York 9 May 1992, https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/con- |
| | vkp/conveng.pdf accessed 22.05.2023 |
| VCLT | Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, Vienna 23 May 1969, |
| | https://legal.un.org/ilc/texts/instruments/english/conven- |
| | tions/1_1_1969.pdf accessed 22.05.2023 |

| Vienna Convention | Vienna Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer, Vi- |
|-------------------|--|
| | enna 22 March 22 1985, https://ozone.unep.org/sites/de- |
| | fault/files/2019-12/The%20Ozone%20Treaties%20EN%20- |
| | <u>%20WEB_final.pdf</u> accessed 22.05.2023 |

6.2 Court decisions, opinions etc.

| Argentina v. Uruguay | Case Concerning Pulp Mills on the River Uruguay (Argentina |
|-------------------------|--|
| | v. Uruguay), ICJ Judgment, 20 April 2010, https://www.icj- |
| | cij.org/public/files/case-related/135/135-20100420-JUD-01-00- |
| | EN.pdf accessed 22.05.2023. |
| Belgium v. Netherlands, | Iron Rhine Case (Belgium v. Netherlands), Permanent Court of |
| para 223 | Arbitration Award, 24 May 2005, https://le- |
| | gal.un.org/riaa/cases/vol_XXVII/35-125.pdf accessed |
| | 22.05.2023. |
| Hungary v. Slovakia | Case Concerning The Gabcikovo-Nagymaros Project (Hungary |
| | v. Slovakia), ICJ Judgment, 25 September 1997, |
| | https://www.icj-cij.org/files/case-related/92/092-19970925- |
| | <u>JUD-01-00-EN.pdf</u> accessed 22.05.2023. |
| ICJ (1996) | Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, ICJ Advi- |
| | sory Opinion, 8 July 1996, 1. C.J. Reports 1996, p. 226, |
| | https://www.icj-cij.org/files/case-related/95/095-19960708- |
| | <u>ADV-01-00-EN.pdf</u> accessed 22.05.2023. |
| Ireland v. United King- | The MOX Plant Case (Ireland v. United Kingdom), Provisional |
| dom | Measures, ITLOS, 3 December 2001, https://www.it- |
| | los.org/fileadmin/itlos/documents/cases/case_no_10/pub- |
| | lished/C10-O-3_dec_01.pdf accessed 11.05.2023. |
| ITLOS (2011) | Responsibilities and obligations of States with respect to activi- |
| | ties in the Area, ITLOS Advisory Opinion, 1 February 2011, |
| | ITLOS Reports 2011, p. 10, https://www.itlos.org/fileadmin/it- |
| | los/documents/cases/case_no_17/17_adv_op_010211_en.pdf |
| | accessed 22.05.2023. |
| ITLOS (2015) | Request for Advisory Opinion submitted by the Sub-Regional |
| | Fisheries Commission, ITLOS Advisory Opinion, 2 April 2015, |
| | ITLOS Reports 2015, p. 4, https://www.itlos.org/fileadmin/it- |
| | los/documents/cases/case_no.21/advisory_opinion_pub- |
| | lished/2015_21-advop-E.pdf accessed 22.05.2023. |
| Nicaragua v. Costa Rica | |
| 8 | Certain Activities Carried Out by Nicaragua in the Border Area |

| | Rica along the San Juan River (Nicaragua v. Costa Rica), ICJ |
|-------------------------|---|
| | Judgement, https://www.icj-cij.org/sites/default/files/case-re- |
| | lated/150/150-20151216-JUD-01-00-EN.pdf accessed |
| | 22.05.2023. |
| United States v. Canada | Trail smelter case (United States, Canada), 16 April 1938 and |
| | 11 March 1941, https://legal.un.org/riaa/cases/vol_III/1905- |
| | <u>1982.pdf</u> accessed 11.05.2023. |

6.3 Literature

| Aggeri (2021) | Aggeri, Franck. "From waste to urban mines: a historical perspective |
|-----------------------|---|
| | on the circular economy." Field Actions Science Reports. Special issue |
| | no. 23, (2021), <u>https://journals.openedition.org/factsreports/pdf/6474</u> |
| | accessed 24.05.2023. |
| Alam et al. (2013) | Shawkat Alam, Jahid Hossain Bhuiyan, Tareq M.R. Chowdhury (eds.). |
| | <i>Routledge Handbook of International Environmental Law</i> , 1 st edition, |
| | New York: Routledge, 2013. |
| Aves et al. (2022) | Aves, Alex R. et al. "First evidence of microplastics in Antarctic |
| | snow." The Cryosphere, Vol. 16, (2022), pp. 2127–2145, |
| | https://doi.org/10.5194/tc-16-2127-2022 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Azoulay et al. (2019) | Azoulay, David et al. Plastic & Health: The Hidden Costs of a Plastic |
| | Planet. CIEL, 2019, <u>https://www.ciel.org/wp-content/up-</u> |
| | loads/2019/02/Plastic-and-Health-The-Hidden-Costs-of-a-Plastic- |
| | Planet-February-2019.pdf accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Bais et al. (2017) | Bais, AF et al. "Environmental effects of ozone depletion, UV radia- |
| | tion and interactions with climate change: UNEP Environmental Ef- |
| | fects Assessment Panel, update 2017." Photochemical & photobiologi- |
| | cal sciences: Official journal of the European Photochemistry Associa- |
| | tion and the European Society for Photobiology, Vol. 17 (2), (2018), |
| | pp. 127 -179, doi:10.1039/c7pp90043k accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Barrett (2005-a) | Barrett, Scott. Environment and Statecraft: The Strategy of Environ- |
| | mental Treaty-Making. Oxford: Oxford Academic, 2005. |
| | https://doi.org/10.1093/0199286094.001.0001 |
| Barrett (2005-b) | Barrett, Scott. "The Theory of International Environmental Agree- |
| | ments," chapter 28 in Handbook of Environmental Economics Hand- |
| | book: Economywide and International Environmental Issues, Vol III. |
| | Karl-Göran Mäler, (ed.) Jeffrey R. Vincent, Elsevier |
| | 2005, p. 1457-1516. |
| l | |

| Barrett (2010) | Barrett, Julia R. "An uneven path forward: the history of methylmer- |
|------------------------|---|
| | cury toxicity research." Environ Health Perspect. Vol. 118 (8), (2010), |
| | art. 352, DOI:10.1289/ehp.118-a352b accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Bergmann et al. | Bergmann, Melanie, Lars Gutow and Michael Klages(eds.). Marine |
| (2015) | Anthropogenic Litter. Springer, 2015, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-16510- |
| | 3 |
| Bernauer et al. (2013) | Bernauer, Thomas et al. "Is There a "Depth versus Participation" Di- |
| | lemma in International Cooperation?" The Review of International Or- |
| | ganizations, Vol. 8, nr. 4, (2013) pp. 477-497, DOI 10.1007/s11558- |
| | 013-9165-1 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Bodansky (1999) | Bodansky, Daniel. "The Legitimacy of International Governance: A |
| | Coming Challenge for International Environmental Law?" American |
| | Journal of International Law, 93/3 (1999) p. 596 -603, |
| | https://www.jstor.org/stable/2555262 accessed 22.05.2023. |
| Bodansky (2010) | Bodansky, Daniel. The Art and Craft of International Environmental |
| | Law. Harvard University Press, 2010. |
| Brunnee and Toope | Brunnee, Jutta and Stephen J Toope. "Environmental Security and |
| (1997) | Freshwater Resources: Ecosystem Regime Building." The American |
| | Journal of International Law Vol. 91, no. 1, (1997), pp. 26 – 59, |
| | https://heinonline-org.ezproxy.uio.no/HOL/Page?lname=&pub- |
| | lic=false&collection=journals&handle=hein.jour- |
| | nals/ajil91&men_hide=false&men_tab=toc&kind=&page=26 accessed |
| | 15.05.2023. |
| Cheng et al. (2023) | Cheng, Yanping et al."Recent consequences of micro-nanaoplastics |
| | (MNPLs) in subcellular/molecular environmental pollution toxicity on |
| | human and animals." Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety", Vol. |
| | 249, (2023), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2022.114385 accessed |
| | 23.05.2023. |
| Churchill (2016) | Churchill, Robin. "Compulsory' Dispute Settlement under the United |
| | Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea – How has it operated? Pt. |
| | 1" PluriCourts Blog: June 9, 2016 https://www.jus.uio.no/plu- |
| | ricourts/english/blog/guests/2016-06-09-churchill-unclos-pt-1.html ac- |
| | cessed 16.05.2023. |
| Cimmino et al. (2020) | Cimmino, Ilaria et al. "Potential Mechanisms of Bisphenol A (BPA) |
| | Contributing to Human Disease." International journal of molecular |
| | sciences, Vol. 21, no. 16, (2020), art. 5761, <u>https://pub-</u> |
| | med.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32796699/ accessed 23.05.2023. |

| CITES (n.d.) | CITES. «How is CITES financed?» (n.d.) |
|---------------------|---|
| | https://cites.org/eng/disc/fund.php accessed 19.05.2023. |
| COSIS (2022) | Commission of Small Island States on Climate Change and Interna- |
| | tional Law. Request for Advisory Opinion. (12 December 2022), |
| | https://www.itlos.org/fileadmin/itlos/documents/cases/31/Re- |
| | quest_for_Advisory_Opinion_COSIS_12.12.22.pdf accessed |
| | 05.05.2023. |
| Craik (2020) | Craik, Alastair Neil. "The Duty to Cooperate in International Environ- |
| | mental Law: Constraining State Discretion Through Due Respect." |
| | SSRN Electronic Journal, (May 9, 2020), https://pa- |
| | pers.ssrn.com/sol3/Deliv- |
| | ery.cfm/SSRN_ID3596981_code336031.pdf?ab- |
| | stractid=3596981&mirid=1 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Darbre (2020) | Darbre, Philippa D. "Chemical components of plastics as endocrine |
| | disruptors: Overview and commentary." Birth Defects Research. Vol. |
| | 112 (17), (2020), pp.1300–1307, https://doi.org/10.1002/bdr2.1778 ac- |
| | cessed 23.05.2023. |
| Deloitte (2019) | Deloitte. The price tag of plastic pollution: An economic assessment of |
| | river plastic. 2019, <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/con-</u> |
| | tent/dam/Deloitte/nl/Documents/strategy-analytics-and-ma/deloitte-nl- |
| | strategy-analytics-and-ma-the-price-tag-of-plastic-pollution.pdf ac- |
| | cessed 23.05.2023. |
| Downs et al. (1996) | Downs, George W., David M. Rocke, and Peter N. Barsoom. "Is the |
| | Good News about Compliance Good News about Cooperation?" Inter- |
| | national Organization, Vol. 50, no. 3 (1996), pp. 379-406, |
| | https://www.jstor.org/stable/2704030 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Downs et al. (2000) | Downs, George W, Danish Kyle W and Peter N Barsoom. "The Trans- |
| | formational Model of International Regime Design: Triumph of Hope |
| | or Experience." Columbia Journal of Transnational Law 38 (2000) p. |
| | 465 <u>https://heinonline.org/HOL/PrintRequest?collection=jour-</u> |
| | nals&handle=hein.journals/cjtl38÷=22&id=1&print=section&for- |
| | mat=PDFsearchable&submit=Print%2FDownload accessed |
| | 16.05.2023. |
| Earth Negotiations | Earth Negotiations Bulletin. "Summary of the First Meeting of the In- |
| Bulletin (2022) | tergovernmental Negotiating Committee to Develop an International |
| | Legally Binding Instrument on Plastic Pollution: 28 November – 2 De- |
| | cember 2022." Earth Negotiations Bulletin A Reporting Service for |

| | Environment and Development Negotiations, Vol. 36, no. 7, 5 Decem- |
|-----------------------|--|
| | ber 2022, https://enb.iisd.org/sites/default/files/2022-12/enb3607e.pdf |
| | accessed 04.05.2023. |
| Ellen Macarthur | Ellen Macarthur Foundation. «Designing out plastic pollution» (n.d.) |
| Foundation (n.da) | https://ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/topics/plastics/overview accessed |
| | 19.05.2023 |
| Ellen Macarthur | Ellen Macarthur Foundation. «Plastics and the circular economy: Deep |
| Foundation (n.db) | dive» (n.d.) https://ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/plastics-and-the-cir- |
| | cular-economy-deep-dive accessed 19.05.2023 |
| Ellen Macarthur | Ellen Macarthur Foundation. «What is a circular economy?» (n.d.) |
| Foundation (n.dc) | https://ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/topics/circular-economy-intro- |
| | duction/overview accessed 19.05.2023 |
| Ennour-Idrissi et al. | Ennour-Idrissi, Kaoutar, Pierre Ayotte and Caroline Diorio. "Persistent |
| (2019) | Organic Pollutants and Breast Cancer: A Systematic Review and Criti- |
| | cal Appraisal of the Literature." Cancers, Vol. 11 (8), (2019), art. 1063, |
| | https://www.researchgate.net/publication/334745243_Persistent_Or- |
| | ganic Pollutants and Breast Cancer A Systematic Re- |
| | view_and_Critical_Appraisal_of_the_Literature accessed 23.05.2023. |
| EPA (2002) | EPA, "Persistent Organic Pollutants: A Global Issue, A Global Re- |
| | sponse" (2002) https://www.epa.gov/international-cooperation/persis- |
| | tent-organic-pollutants-global-issue-global-response accessed |
| | 28.04.2023. |
| European Commis- | European Commission. "Ocean biodiversity: global agreement on pro- |
| sion (2023) | tection and sustainable use of resources and biodiversity in high seas" |
| | (4 March 2023) https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/de- |
| | tail/en/ip_23_1382 accessed 01.05.2023. |
| European Commis- | European Commission. «First circular economy action plan» (n.d.) |
| sion (n.da) | https://environment.ec.europa.eu/topics/circular-economy/first-circu- |
| | lar-economy-action-plan_en accessed 19.05.2023. |
| European Commis- | European Comission. «Sustainable Product Policy» (n.d.) https://joint- |
| sion (n.da) | research-centre.ec.europa.eu/scientific-activities-z/sustainable-product- |
| | policy_en accessed 16.05.2023. |
| European Commis- | European Commission. «Plastics strategy» (n.d.) https://environ- |
| sion (n.db) | ment.ec.europa.eu/strategy/plastics-strategy_en accessed 19.05.2023 |
| Fazey et al. (2016) | Fazey, Francesca M.C. and Peter G. Ryan. "Biofouling on buoyant ma- |
| | rine plastics: an experimental study into the effect of size on surface |
| | longevity." Environmental Pollution, Vol. 210, (2016), pp. 354–360, |

| | https://www.asianaadinaat.com/asianaa/arti |
|----------------------|--|
| | $\frac{1}{1} = \frac{1}{1} = \frac{1}$ |
| | cle/abs/pii/S0269749116300264?via%3Dihub accessed 23.05.2023. |
| First Class Sailing | First Class Sailing. "Should The Ocean Waste Standards Of MARPOL |
| (2018) | Be Applied On Land?" (25 October 2018) <u>https://www.firstclasssail-</u> |
| | ing.com/blog/ocean-waste-standards-marpol-applied-land/ accessed |
| | 09.05.2023. |
| Geddie and Volcovici | Geddie, John and Valerie Volcovici "Exclusive: U.S. seeks allies as |
| (2022) | split emerges over global plastics pollution treaty." Reuters, |
| | (27.09.2022), https://www.reuters.com/world/exclusive-us-seeks-al- |
| | lies-split-emerges-over-global-plastics-pollution-treaty-2022-09-27/ |
| | accessed 04.05.2023. |
| GESAMP (n.d.) | GESAMP. «Sources, Fate and Effects of plastics and micro-plastics in |
| | the marine environment» (n.d.) |
| | http://www.gesamp.org/work/groups/40 accessed 19.05.2023. |
| Geyer et al. (2017) | Geyer, Roland et al. "Production, use, and fate of all plastics ever |
| • | made." Science Advances, Vol.3, no. 7, (2017), DOI:10.1126/sci- |
| | adv.1700782 accessed 15.05.2023. |
| Guzman (2005) | Guzman, Andrew T. "The Design of International Agreements." Euro- |
| | pean Journal of International Law, Volume 16, Issue 4, (September |
| | 2005), pp. 579–612, https://doi.org/10.1093/ejil/chi134 |
| High Ambition Coali- | High Ambition Coalition to End Plastic Pollution. «End Plastic Pollu- |
| tion to End Plastic | tion by 2040» (n d) https://hactoendplasticpollution org/ accessed |
| Pollution (n d) | 04 05 2023 |
| Hinshaw (2015) | Hinshaw Drew "Ghana's Growth Spurs Uncontrollable Trash" The |
| Thishaw (2013) | Wall Street Journal (21 June 2015) https://www.wsi.com/articles/gha |
| | wan Sueet Journal, (21 Julie 2013) <u>https://www.wsj.com/atteres/gna-</u> |
| | <u>nas-growth-spurs-uncontronable-trasit-1434928945</u> accessed |
| | 20.04.2023. |
| IMO (2016) | INIO and Office for the London Convention/Protocol and Ocean Af- |
| | fairs. Review of the Current State of Knowledge Regarding Marine |
| | Litter in Wastes Dumped at Sea Under the London Convention and |
| | Protocol. London: 2016, <u>https://www.cdn.imo.org/localre-</u> |
| | sources/en/OurWork/Environment/Documents/Marine%20litter%20re- |
| | view%20for%20publication%20April%202016_final_ebook_ver- |
| | sion.pdf accessed 05.05.2023. |
| IMO (2023) | IMO. «Status of IMO Treaties» (2023) <u>https://www.cdn.imo.org/lo-</u> |
| | calresources/en/About/Conventions/StatusOfConventions/Sta- |
| | tus%20of%20IMO%20Treaties.pdf accessed 16.05.2023. |

| $\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{O}(-1))$ | |
|------------------------------|--|
| IMO (n.d.) | IMO. "Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping |
| | of Wastes and Other Matter" (n.d.) <u>https://www.imo.org/en/Our-</u> |
| | Work/Environment/Pages/London-Convention-Protocol.aspx accessed |
| | 23.05.2023. |
| International Law | International Law Commission. «Draft articles on Prevention of Trans- |
| Commission (2001) | boundary Harm from Hazardous Activities.» Official Records of the |
| | General Assembly, Fifty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 10 (A/56/10) |
| | (2001), https://legal.un.org/ilc/texts/instruments/english/draft_arti- |
| | <u>cles/9_7_2001.pdf</u> accessed 23.05.2023. |
| IPCC (2014) | IPCC by Edenhofer, Ottmar et al. Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of |
| | Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth As- |
| | sessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. |
| | Cambridge University Press, Cambridge and New York: 2014, |
| | https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/up- |
| | loads/2018/02/ipcc_wg3_ar5_full.pdf accessed 23.05.2023. |
| IPCC (2021) | IPCC by Masson-Delmotte, V. et al. "Summary for Policymakers." In |
| | Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of |
| | Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovern- |
| | mental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cam- |
| | bridge and New York: 2021, pp. 3–32, |
| | doi:10.1017/9781009157896.001 accessed 25.05.2023. |
| IPCC (2022) | IPCC by HO. Pörtner et al. "Summary for Policymakers" in Climate |
| | Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of |
| | Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovern- |
| | mental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cam- |
| | bridge and New York: 2022 pp. 3–33, |
| | doi:10.1017/9781009325844.001 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Jonas and Saunders | Jonas, David S. and Thomas N. Saunders. "The Object and Purpose of |
| (2020) | a Treaty: Three Interpretive Methods.» Vanderbilt Journal |
| | of Transnational Law, Vol. 43, no. 3, (2010), pp. 565 -609, |
| | https://scholarship.law.vanderbilt.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?arti- |
| | <u>cle=1354&context=vjtl</u> accessed 25.05.2023. |
| Khan (2020) | Ahmad, Khan, S. "Clearly Hazardous, Obscurely Regulated: Lessons |
| | from the Basel Convention on Waste Trade." AJIL Unbound, 114, |
| | (2020), pp. 200-205. doi:10.1017/aju.2020.38 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Krasner (1982) | Krasner, Stephen D. "Structural Causes and Regime Consequences: |
| | Regimes as Intervening Variables" International Organization 36, no. |

| | 2 (1982) p. 185 -205 <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/2706520</u> accessed |
|------------------------|---|
| | 16.05.2023. |
| Krueger (1998) | Krueger, Jonathan. "Prior Informed Consent and the Basel Convention: |
| | The Hazards of What Isn't Know." The Journal of Environment & De- |
| | velopment, June 1998, Vol. 7, No. 2 (June 1998), pp. 115- |
| | 137, <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/44319310</u> accessed 23.05.2023. |
| | |
| L.A. Times Archives | L.A. Times Archives. "Du Pont Will Stop Making Ozone Killers" LA |
| (1988) | Times, (25 March 1988) https://www.latimes.com/archives/la-xpm- |
| | <u>1988-03-25-mn-294-story.html</u> accessed 29.04.2023. |
| Lebreton et al. (2018) | Lebreton, Laurent et al. "Evidence that the Great Pacific Garbage |
| | Patch is rapidly accumulating plastic." Scientific Reports, Vol. 8, no. 1, |
| | (2018), art. 4666. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-22939-w</u> ac- |
| | cessed 23.05.2023. |
| Leslie et al. (2022) | Leslie, Heather A. et al. "Discovery and quantification of plastic parti- |
| | cle pollution in human blood." Environment International, Vol. 163, |
| | (2022), |
| | https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/arti- |
| | <u>cle/pii/S0160412022001258?via%3Dihub</u> accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Marine Environment | Marine Environment Protection Committee. Revised Consolidated |
| Protection Committee | Guidance for port reception facility providers and users. |
| (2018) | MEPC.1/Circ.834/Rev.1, (2018), <u>https://ust.is/library/Skrar/Atvinnu-</u> |
| | lif/Haf-og-vatn/reporting_alleged_inadequacy_of_port_reception_fa- |
| | cilities.pdf accessed 09.05.2023. |
| Matiddi et al. (2017) | Matiddi, Marco et al. "Loggerhead sea turtles (Caretta caretta): A tar- |
| | get species for monitoring litter ingested by marine organisms in the |
| | Mediterranean Sea." Environmental Pollution Vol. 230, (2017), pp. |
| | 199-209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envpol.2017.06.054 accessed |
| | 23.05.2023. |
| Meijer et al. (2021) | Meijer, J. J. Lourens et al. "More than 1000 rivers account for 80% of |
| | global riverine plastic emissions into the ocean." Science Advance, |
| | Vol. 7, no. 18, (2021), https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/sci- |
| | adv.aaz5803 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Meijer et al. (2021) | Meijer, Lourens et al. "More than 1000 rivers account for 80% of |
| | global riverine plastic emissions into the ocean." Science Advances, |
| | Vol. 7, no. 18, (2021), https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/sci- |
| | adv.aaz5803 accessed 23.05.2023. |

| Merkouris (2022) | Merkouris, Penos. "Interpreting Customary International Law: You'll |
|----------------------|--|
| | Never Walk Alone." Chapter 16 in The Theory, Practice, and Interpre- |
| | tation of Customary International Law. P. Merkouris, J. Kammerhofer, |
| | & N. Arajärvi (Eds.), Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2022, |
| | pp. 347-369 doi:10.1017/9781009025416.017 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Miniero (2008) | Miniero, Roberto and Anna Laura Iamiceli. "Persistent Organic Pollu- |
| | tants." in Encyclopedia of Ecology. (eds.)Sven Erik Jørgensen, Brian |
| | D. Fath, Academic Press, 2008, pp. 2672-2682, |
| | https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-008045405-4.00421-3 accessed |
| | 23.05.2023. |
| Napoli (2012) | Napoli, Christopher. "Understanding Kyoto's Failure." The SAIS Re- |
| · · · | view of International Affairs, Vol.32, no. 2. (2012), pp. 183–96, |
| | https://www.jstor.org/stable/27000907 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| National Oceanogra- | National Oceanography Centre. Sources, Amounts & Pathways of |
| phy Centre (2021) | Plastics Entering the Global Ocean. 2021, https://noc.ac.uk/files/docu- |
| | ments/science/report-plastics-entering-the-global-ocean-noci-decem- |
| | <u>ber-2021.pdf</u> accessed 23.05.2023. |
| OECD (2018) | OECD. Improving Markets for Recycled Plastics: Trends, Prospects |
| | and Policy Responses. OECD Publishing, Paris: 2018, |
| | https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/improving-markets-for-re- |
| | cycled-plastics_9789264301016-en#page1 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| OECD (2022) | OECD. "Projections of the environmental impacts of the plastics |
| | lifecycle to 2060", in Global Plastics Outlook: Policy Scenarios to |
| | 2060, Paris: OECD Publishing, 2022. |
| | https://doi.org/10.1787/899bf44f-en |
| Ofstad et al. (1994) | Ofstad, Sylvi et al. Symposium: sustainable consumption, 19-20 Januar |
| | 1994, Oslo, Norway. Norwegian Ministry of Environment [Miljøvern- |
| | departementet], Oslo: 1994. |
| Ostrom (1990) | Ostrom, Elinor. Governing the Commons: The Evolution of Institutions |
| | for Collective Action. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1990 |
| | https://www.actu-environnement.com/media/pdf/ostrom_1990.pdf ac- |
| | cessed 16.05.2023 |
| Park et al. (2020) | Eun Young ,Park et al. "Impact of environmental exposure to persis- |
| | tent organic pollutants on lung cancer risk." Environment International, |
| | Vol. 143, (2020), https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/arti- |
| | <u>cle/pii/S0160412020318808</u> accessed 23.05.2023. |

| Peake (2020) | Peake, Libby. Plastic promises What the grocery sector is really doing |
|----------------------|---|
| | about packaging. Green Alliance, 2020, https://green-alli- |
| | ance.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Plastic_promises.pdf ac- |
| | cessed 23.05.2023. |
| Peet (1992) | Peet, Gerard. "The MARPOL Convention: Implementation and Effec- |
| | tiveness." International Journal of Estuarine and Coastal Law 7, no. 4 |
| | (1992), p. 277-295 https://heinonline.org/HOL/PrintRequest?collec- |
| | tion=journals&handle=hein.jour- |
| | nals/ljmc7÷=48&id=297&print=section&format=PDFsearcha- |
| | ble&submit=Print%2FDownload accessed 16.05.2023. |
| Percival (2010) | Percival, Robert. "Liability for Environmental Harm and Emerging |
| | Global Environmental Law", Maryland Journal of International Law |
| | Vol. 12, (2010), pp. 37 -63 https://digitalcommons.law.umary- |
| | land.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1983&context=fac_pubs ac- |
| | cessed 11.05.2023. |
| PEW Charitable | PEW Charitable Trusts and SystemIQ. <i>Breaking the Plastic Wave: A</i> |
| Trusts and SystemIQ | Comprehensive Assessment of Pathways Towards Stopping Ocean |
| (2020) | Plastic Pollution. 2020. https://www.pewtrusts.org/-/media/as- |
| | sets/2020/10/breakingtheplasticwave_mainreport.pdf accessed |
| | 19.05.2023. |
| Ragusa et al. (2021) | Ragusa, Antonio et al. "Plasticenta: First evidence of microplastics in |
| | human placenta." Environment International, Vol. 146, (2021), |
| | https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106274 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Ragusa et al. (2022) | Ragusa, Antonio et al. "Microspectroscopy Detection and Characteri- |
| | sation of Microplastics in Human Breastmilk." Polymers, Vol. 14, |
| | (2022), art. 2700, doi:10.3390/polym14132700 accessed 25.05.2023. |
| Rajamani and Peel | Rajamani, Lavanya, and Jacqueline Peel (eds). The Oxford Handbook |
| (2021) | of International Environmental Law. 2. Edition, Oxford Handbooks: |
| | online edn, Oxford Academic, 2021. DOI: |
| | 10.1093/law/9780198849155.001.0001 accessed 15.05.2023. |
| Raubenheimer and | Raubenheimer, Karen and Mcilgorm, Alistair. "Is the Montreal Proto- |
| McIlgorm (2017) | col a model that can help solve the global marine plastic debris prob- |
| | lem?" Marine Policy, Vol. 81, (2017), pp. 322-329, https://www.al- |
| | mendron.com/tribuna/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/is-the-montreal- |
| | protocol-a-model-that-can-help-solve-the-global-marine-plastic-debris- |
| | problem.pdf%20 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Richardson et al. | Richardson, Kelsey et al. "Global estimates of fishing gear lost to the |
| (2022) | ocean each year." Science Advances, Vol. 8, no. 41, (2022), |

| | https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/sciadv.abq0135 accessed |
|-------------------------|--|
| | 23.05.2023. |
| Ritchie (2022) | Ritchie, Hannah. "Ocean plastics: How much do rich countries contrib- |
| | ute by shipping their waste overseas?" Our World in Data, (11 October |
| | 2022), https://ourworldindata.org/plastic-waste-trade accessed |
| | 15.05.2023. |
| Ritchie (2023) | Ritchie, Hannah. "What is the ozone layer, and why is it important?" |
| | (13 March 2023), Our World in Data, <u>https://our-</u> |
| | worldindata.org/ozone-layer-context accessed 27.04.2023. |
| Ritchie and Roser | Ritchie, Hannah and Max Roser. "Plastic Pollution" (September 2018) |
| (2018) | Our World in Data, <u>https://ourworldindata.org/plastic-pollution</u> ac- |
| | cessed 25.04.2023. |
| Riviera (2008) | Riviera. "Marpol 73/78 has a proven record of achievement" (12 Sep- |
| | tember 2008) https://www.rivieramm.com/news-content-hub/news- |
| | content-hub/marpol-7378-has-a-proven-record-of-achievement-52821 |
| | accessed 09.05.2023. |
| Rochman et al. (2013) | Rochman, Chelsea M. et al. "Policy: Classify plastic waste as hazard- |
| | ous." Nature, Vol. 494, (2013), pp. 169–71, <u>https://www.re-</u> |
| | searchgate.net/publication/235620600_Policy_Classify_plas- |
| | tic_waste_as_hazardous accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Rubenheimer and | Raubenheimer, Karen and Niko Urho. Possible elements of a new |
| Urho (2020) | global agreement to prevent plastic pollution. Nordic Council of Minis- |
| | ters, Copenhagen: 2020, <u>http://norden.diva-por-</u> |
| | tal.org/smash/get/diva2:1477124/FULLTEXT02.pdf accessed |
| | 23.0.52023. |
| Sadan and De Kock | Sadan, Zaynab and Lorren De Kock. Plastics: Facts and Futures: Mov- |
| (2020) | ing beyond pollution management towards a circular plastics economy |
| | in South Africa. WWF South Africa, Cape Town: 2020, https://wwfaf- |
| | rica.awsassets.panda.org/downloads/wwf_plastics_report_fi- |
| | nal_2nov2020.pdf?32751/plasticsfactsandfutures accessed 23.0.52023. |
| Safety4sea (2019) | Safety4sea. "Torrey Canyon: The world's first major oil tanker disas- |
| | ter" (3 October 2019) https://safety4sea.com/cm-torrey-canyon-the- |
| | worlds-first-major-oil-tanker-disaster/ accessed 29.04.2023. |
| Salawitch et al. (2019) | Ross J. Salawitch et al. "Twenty Questions and Answers |
| | About the Ozone Layer: 2018 Update, Scientific Assessment of Ozone |
| | Depletion: 2018." 84 pp., World Meteorological Organization, Geneva, |

| | Switzerland, (2019), https://csl.noaa.gov/assess- |
|-------------------------|--|
| | ments/ozone/2018/downloads/twentyquestions.pdf accessed |
| | 23.05.2023. |
| Schachter (2022) | Schachter, J., and R. Karasik. 2022. "Plastic Pollution Policy Country |
| | Profile: Philippines." Nicholas Institute Policy Brief 22-10, Durham, |
| | NC: Duke University, 2022, https://nicholasinstitute.duke.edu/sites/de- |
| | fault/files/projects/Plastic-Pollution-Policy-Country-Profile-Philip- |
| | pines.pdf accessed 15.05.2023. |
| Schmidt (1998) | Schmidt, Carsten. "Incentives for Environmental Cooperation: Theo- |
| | retic Models and Economic Instruments." Schmidt, Carsten, Incentives |
| | for International Environmental Cooperation: Theoretic Models and |
| | Economic Instruments (July 1998). Fondazione Eni Enrico Mattei |
| | Working Paper, no. 56, (1998), p. 98, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/De- |
| | livery.cfm/98100707v1.pdf?abstractid=136428&mirid=1 accessed |
| | 23.05.2023. |
| Scott (2011) | Karen Scott. "International Environmental Governance: Managing |
| | Fragmentation through Institutional Connection." Melbourne Journal |
| | of International Law, Vol 12, (2011), no. 1, pp. 177 -216. http://clas- |
| | sic.austlii.edu.au/au/journals/MelbJIL/2011/6.html accessed |
| | 23.05.2023. |
| Secretariat of the Con- | Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. "Marine Debris: |
| vention on Biological | Understanding, Preventing and Mitigating the Significant Adverse Im- |
| Diversity (2016) | pacts on Marine and Coastal Biodiversity» (2016) Technical Series, |
| | No.83. <u>https://www.cbd.int/doc/publications/cbd-ts-83-en.pdf</u> accessed |
| | 16.05.2023. |
| Secretariat of the Con- | Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. Global Biodi- |
| vention on Biological | versity Outlook 5 – Summary for Policy Makers. Montréal: 2020, |
| Diversity (2020) | https://www.cbd.int/gbo/gbo5/publication/gbo-5-spm-en.pdf accessed |
| | 23.05.2023. |
| Secretariat of the Con- | Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. "List of Parties" |
| vention on Biological | (n.d.) <u>https://www.cbd.int/information/parties.shtml</u> accessed |
| Diversity (n.d.) | 23.05.2023. |
| Sewwandi et al. | Sewwandi, Madushika et al."Microplastics and plastics-associated con- |
| (2023) | taminants in food and beverages; Global trends, concentrations, and |
| | human exposure" Environmental Pollution, Vol. 317, (2023), |
| | https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.120747 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Shin (2021) | Shin, G.Guen. "How Ostrom's Design Principles Apply to Large-Scale |
| | Commons: Cooperation over International River Basins" Review of |

| | Policy Research. 39 (2022) p.674-697 https://www.re- |
|------------------------|---|
| | searchgate.net/publication/354915438_How_Ostrom%27s_De- |
| | sign Principles Apply to Large-Scale Commons Coopera- |
| | tion over International River Basins accessed 16.05.2023. |
| Statista Research De- | Statista Research Department. "Market size value of plastics world- |
| partment (2023) | wide from 2021 to 2030" (24 March 2023) https://www.sta- |
| | tista.com/statistics/1060583/global-market-value-of-plastic/ accessed |
| | 01.05.2023. |
| Statista Research De- | Statista Research Department. "Plastic & resin manufacturing busi- |
| partment (2023-b) | nesses in the U.S. 2011-2022" (8 March 2023) https://www.sta- |
| | tista.com/statistics/1202787/number-of-plastic-and-resin-manufactur- |
| | ing-in-the-united-states/ accessed 01.05.2023. |
| Stern (2011) | Stern, Paul C. "Design Principles for global commons: Natural re- |
| | sources and emerging technologies" The Commons Journal 5(2), |
| | (2011) p. 213 -232, DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.18352/ijc.305</u> accessed |
| | 16.05.2023. |
| Tessnow-von Wysicki | Wysocki, Ina Tessnow-von, Philippe Le Billon, |
| and Billon (2019) | "Plastics at sea: Treaty design for a global solution to marine plastic |
| | pollution." Environmental Science & Policy, Vol. 100, (2019), p. 94 - |
| | 104. DOI:10.1016/j.envsci.2019.06.005 accessed 23.05.2023 |
| Thailand's Ministry of | Ministry of Natural resources and Environment. «National Action Plan |
| Natural resources and | for Management of Marine Plastic Litter by 2030" (2020) |
| Environment (2020) | https://www.undp.org/vietnam/publications/national-action-plan-man- |
| | agement-marine-plastic-litter-2030 accessed 24.02.2023. |
| The Ellen MacArthur | The Ellen MacArthur Foundation. <i>Towards the circular economy Vol.</i> |
| Foundation | 2: opportunities for the consumer goods sector. (2013), |
| | https://emf.thirdlight.com/file/24/qzvD2i1qVnZjTMqzpI2qI32rGA/To- |
| | wards%20the%20circular%20economy%20Vol.%202%3A%20oppor- |
| | tunities%20for%20the%20consumer%20goods%20sector.pdf accessed |
| | 24.05.2023. |
| The Norwegian Min- | The Norwegian Ministries. «Norwegian Plastics Strategy» (2022) |
| istries (2022) | https://www.regjeringen.no/en/dokumenter/norwegian-plastics-strat- |
| | egy/id2867004/ accessed 15.05.2023. |
| Thiele and Hudson | Thiele, Christina and Malcolm Hudson. "Uncertainty about the risks |
| (2021) | associated with microplastics among lay and topic-experienced re- |
| | spondents." Scientific Reports, Vol. 11. (2021), art. 7155, |
| | https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-021-86569-5 accessed |
| | 23.05.2023. |

| UN (2016) | UN. "UN report finds marine debris is harming more than 800 species, |
|---------------|--|
| | costing countries millions" (5 December 2016), |
| | https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelop- |
| | ment/blog/2016/12/marinedebris/ accessed 20.02.2023. |
| UN (n.d) | UN. "Convention on the Law of the Non-Navigational Uses of Interna- |
| | tional Watercourse" (n.d.) https://trea- |
| | ties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=IND&mtdsg_no=XXVII- |
| | <u>12&chapter=27&clang=_en#1</u> accessed 23.05.2023. |
| UN (n.d.) | UN. "Chronological lists of ratifications of, accessions and successions |
| | to the Convention and the related Agreements." (last updated |
| | 23.05.2023) https://www.un.org/Depts/los/reference_files/chronologi- |
| | cal_lists_of_ratifications.htm#Agreement%20for%20the%20imple- |
| | mentation%20of%20the%20provisions%20of%20the%20Conven- |
| | tion%20relating%20to%20the%20conservation%20and%20manage- |
| | ment%20of%20strad- |
| | dling%20fish%20stocks%20and%20highly%20migra- |
| | tory%20fish%20stocks accessed 23.05.2023. |
| UNEP (2010) | UNEP, Options for the structure of the mercury instrument Note by the |
| | secretariat. UNEP(DTIE)/Hg/INC.1/4, Stockholm: 2010, |
| | https://www.mercuryconvention.org/sites/default/files/docu- |
| | ments/working_document/INC1_4_options_structure.pdf_accessed |
| | 15.05.2023. |
| UNEP (2014-b) | UNEP. «Regional Action Plan on Marine Litter Management (RAP- |
| | Mali) for the Wider Caribbean Region» (2014) |
| | https://www.cbd.int/doc/meetings/mar/mcbem-2014-03/other/mcbem- |
| | 2014-03-115-en.pdf accessed 19.05.2023. |
| UNEP (2016-b) | UNEP. Drowning in Plastics – Marine Litter and Plastic Waste Vital |
| | Graphics. 2021, https://wedocs.unep.org/xmlui/bitstream/han- |
| | <u>dle/20.500.11822/36964/VITGRAPH.pdf</u> accessed 23.05.2023. |
| UNEP (2017) | UNEP. Combating marine plastic litter and microplastics: An assess- |
| | ment of the effectiveness of relevant international, regional and subre- |
| | gional governance strategies and approaches. Summary for Policymak- |
| | ers. Nairobi: 2017. <u>https://apps1.unep.org/resolution/up-</u> |
| | loads/unep_aheg_2018_inf3_summary_assessment_en_rev.pdf ac- |
| | cessed 15.05.2023. |
| UNEP (2019-b) | UNEP. "Thirty years on, what is the Montreal Protocol doing to pro- |
| | tect the ozone?," (15 November 2019) <u>https://www.unep.org/news-</u> |

| | and-stories/story/thirty-years-what-montreal-protocol-doing-protect- |
|---------------|--|
| | ozone accessed 29.04.2023. |
| UNEP (2021) | UNEP, From Pollution to Solution: A global assessment of marine lit- |
| | ter and plastic pollution. Nairobi: 2021, https://www.unep.org/re- |
| | sources/pollution-solution-global-assessment-marine-litter-and-plastic- |
| | pollution accessed 15.05.2023. |
| UNEP (2022-b) | UNEP. Broad options for the structure of the international legally bind- |
| | ing instrument on plastic pollution, including in the marine environ- |
| | ment, taking into account paragraphs 3 and 4 of United Nations Envi- |
| | ronment Assembly resolution 5/14. UNEP/PP/INC.1/4, 8 September |
| | 2022, https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/han- |
| | dle/20.500.11822/40726/K2221531%20-%20UNEP-PP-INC.1-4%20- |
| | <u>%20ADVANCE.pdf</u> accessed 15.05.2023. |
| UNEP (n.da) | UNEP. «Reduce by design» (n.d.) <u>https://buildingcircularity.org/re-</u> |
| | duce-by-design/ accessed 01.05.2023. |
| UNEP (n.db) | UNEP. «Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs) and Pesticides» (n.d.) |
| | https://www.unep.org/cep/persistent-organic-pollutants-pops-and-pes- |
| | ticides accessed 16.05.2023. |
| UNEP (n.dc) | UNEP. «Questions and answers related to the Basel Convention Plastic |
| | Waste Amendments» (n.d.) http://www.basel.int/Implementation/Plas- |
| | ticwaste/PlasticWasteAmendments/FAQs/tabid/8427/Default.aspx ac- |
| | cessed 16.05.2023. |
| UNEP (n.dd) | UNEP. «Related initiatives and guidance within BRS-Conventions» |
| | (n.d.) <u>http://www.basel.int/Default.aspx?tabid=7994</u> accessed |
| | 16.05.2023. |
| UNEP (n.de) | UNEP. «Governing the Global Programme of Action» (n.d.) |
| | https://www.unep.org/explore-topics/oceans-seas/what-we-do/address- |
| | ing-land-based-pollution/governing-global-programme accessed |
| | 16.05.2023. |
| UNEP (n.df) | UNEP. «Regional Plan on Marine Litter Management in the Mediterra- |
| | nean» (n.d.) https://leap.unep.org/countries/al/case-studies/regional- |
| | plan-marine-litter-management-mediterranean accessed 19.05.2023. |
| UNEP (n.dg) | UNEP. «Plastics» (n.d.) https://buildingcircularity.org/plastics/ ac- |
| | cessed 19.05.2023. |
| UNEP (n.dh) | UNEP. Regional Seas Programme» (n.d.) https://www.unep.org/ex- |
| | plore-topics/oceans-seas/what-we-do/regional-seas-programme ac- |
| | cessed 19.05.2023. |

| UNEP (n.di) | UNEP. "Parties to the Basel Convention on the Control of Trans- |
|---------------------|--|
| | boundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal" (n.di) |
| | http://www.basel.int/?tabid=4499#enote1 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| UNEP (n.dj) | UNEP. «Status of ratification» (n.d.) http://chm.pops.int/Countries/Sta- |
| | tusofRatifications/PartiesandSignatoires/tabid/4500/Default.aspx ac- |
| | cessed 23.05.2023. |
| UNEP (n.dk) | UNEP. "Adopted Technical Guidelines" (n.d.) http://www.ba- |
| | sel.int/Implementation/TechnicalMatters/DevelopmentofTechnical- |
| | Guidelines/TechnicalGuidelines/tabid/8025/Default.aspx accessed |
| | 23.05.2023. |
| UNEP et al. (1990) | UNEP et al. "The state of the marine environment." Reports and Stud- |
| | ies GESAMP, No. 39, (1990), http://www.gesamp.org/site/as- |
| | sets/files/1216/the-state-of-the-marine-environment-en.pdf accessed |
| | 09.05.2023. |
| Voigt and Ferreiera | Voigt, Christina and Felipe Ferreira. "Differentiation in the Paris |
| (2016) | Agreement", Climate Law, Vol. 6 (1-2), (2016), pp. 58 -74, |
| | https://doi.org/10.1163/18786561-00601004 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Werkgroep Noordzee | , Stoop, Marie-Jose. "Olieverontreiniging door schepen op de Noordzee |
| (1989) | over de periode 1982-1987: opsporing en vervolging." Werkgroep |
| | Noordzee, Amsterdam: 1989. |
| WHO (2017) | WHO. "Mercury and health: key facts" (31 March 2017) |
| | https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mercury-and-health |
| | accessed 26.04.2023. |
| Winkler (2019) | Winkler, Brayden J. "The Framework Approach to Treaty Design: Is It |
| | Useful in Combating the Challenges of International Environmental |
| | Law?" (19.11.2019) |
| | https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/framework-approach-treaty-design- |
| | useful-combating-law-winkler/ accessed 24.01.2023. |
| Worm et al. (2017) | Worm, Boris et al. (2017) "Plastic as a Persistent Marine Pollutant." |
| | Annual Review of Environment and Resources, Vol. 42, (2017), pp. 1- |
| | 26, https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/10.1146/annurev-environ- |
| | <u>102016-060700</u> accessed 23.05.2023. |
| WWF (2021) | WWF by DeWit, Wijnand et al. Plastics: the Costs to Society, the En- |
| | vironment and the Economy, WWF, Gland: 2021, https://me- |
| | dia.wwf.no/assets/attachments/Plastics-the-cost-to-society-the-environ- |
| | ment-and-the-economy-WWF-report.pdf accessed 23.05.2023. |
| 1 | |

| Xu et al. (2002) | Xu, J. Zhang et al. "Endocrine effects of sublethal exposure to persis- |
|-----------------------|---|
| | tent organic pollutants (POPs) on silver carp (Hypophthalmichthys |
| | molitrix)." Environmental Pollution, Vol. 120 (3), (2002), pp. 683-690, |
| | https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(02)00182-3 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Yoshida et al. (2016) | Yoshida, Shosuke et al. "A bacterium that degrades and assimilates |
| | poly(ethylene terephthalate). Science. Vol. 351 (6278), (2016), pp. |
| | 1196-1199, DOI:10.1126/science.aad6359 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| Young (1999) | Young, Oran R. (ed.). The Effectiveness of International Environmen- |
| | tal Agreements: Causal Connections and Behavioural Mechanisms. |
| | London: MIT Press, 1999. |
| Young (2002) | Young, Oran R. The Institutional Dimensions of Environmental |
| | Change: Fit, Interplay, and Scale. London: The MIT Press, 2002. |
| Yuan et al. (2022) | Yuan, Zhihao, Rajat Nag and Enda Cummins."Human health concerns |
| | regarding microplastics in the aquatic environment - From marine to |
| | food systems." Science of The Total Environment, Vol. 823, (2022), |
| | https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.153730 accessed 23.05.2023. |
| | |